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ABOUT THE PROGRAM

This seminar on Workers’ Compensation issues will focus on the following issues/presentations:
Address from the Industrial Accident Board; Self-limited injuries; Workers’ Compensation Fund
Reimbursement Issues; Do’s and Don’ts in the Practice of Workers’ Compensation; Keynote
Address: The Art of Professionalism and Civility; Case Law Update; Surgical Issues; Head Cases:
The Role of Psychological and Psychiatric Experts in Workers’ Compensation Claims; Ethics and

the Practice of Workers’ Compensation.

Visit https://www.dsba.org/event/william-d-rimmer-workers-compensation-seminar-2022/
for all the DSBA CLE seminar policies.

Please note that the attached materials are supplied by the speakers and presenters
and are current as of the date of this posting.



DELAWARE STATE BAR ASSOCIATION

CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION

WILLIAM D. RIMMER

- WORKERS' COMPENSATION SEMINAR 2022

8:30 a.m. - 8:45 a.m.
Opening Remarks

John J. Ellis, Esquire

Section Chair of the Workers’

Compensation Section
Heckler & Frabizzio, PA.

8:45 a.m. - 9:15 a.m.
Address from the Industrial
Accident Board

The Honorable Mark Murowany
Chairman, Industrial Accident Board

Christopher F. Baum, Esquire
Delaware Department of Labor

9:15 a.m. - 9:45 a.m.
Self-Limited Injuries

Maria Paris Newill, Esquire
Heckler & Frabizzio, PA.

Walt F. Schmittinger, Esquire
Schmittinger & Rodriguez, PA.

Michael I. Silverman, Esquire
Silverman McDonald & Friedman

9:45 a.m. -10:15 a.m.
Workers’ Compensation Fund
Reimbursement Issues

Lynn A. Kelly, Esquire
Delaware Department of Justice

Nicholas M. Krayer, Esquire
Pratcher Krayer LLC

Scott A. Simpson, Esquire
Elzufon Austin & Mondell, P. A.

10:15 a.m. - 10:30 a.m. | Break

CLE SCHEDULE

10:30 a.m. — 11:15 a.m.

Do’s and Don’ts in the Practice
of Workers’ Compensation
Benjamin K. Durstein, Esquire
Marshall Dennehey Warner Coleman
& Goggin

Matthew R. Fogg, Esquire

Morris James LLP

Meghan Butters Houser, Esquire
Weiss, Saville & Houser, PA.

Danielle K. Yearick, Esquire
Tybout, Redfearn & Pell

11:15 a.m. — 12:00 p.m.

Keynote Address - A
Roundtable

The Art of Professionalism

and Civility

The Honorable. Collins J. Seitz, Jr.
Chief Justice

Supreme Court of Delaware

H. Garrett Baker, Esquire
Elzufon Austin & Mondell, PA.

12:00 p.m. - 1:00 p.m. | Lunch
(provided)

1:00 p.m. — 1:30 p.m.
Case Law Update

John J. Ellis, Esquire

Heckler & Frabizzio, PA

Caroline A. Kaminski, Esquire
Doroshow, Pasquale, Krawitz & Bhaya

SPONSORED BY THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION SECTION
OF THE DELAWARE STATE BAR ASSOCIATION

1:30 p.m. - 2:15 p.m.

Surgical Issues

Nancy Chrissinger Cobb, Esquire
Chrissinger & Baumberger

Jessica L. Julian, Esquire

Marshall Dennehey Warner Coleman
& Goggin

Stephen T. Morrow, Esquire
Rhoades & Morrow LLC

Jessica L. Welch, Esquire
Doroshow Pasquale Krawitz & Bhaya

2:15 p.m. - 2:30 p.m. | Break

2:30 p.m. — 3:30 p.m.

Head Cases: The Role of
Psychological and Psychiatric
Experts in Workers’
Compensation Claims

John W. Dettwyler, Ph.D.

Neil S. Kaye, MD

Board Certified Forensic Psychiatrist
James S. Langan, Psy. D.

Cassandra F. Roberts, Esquire
Elzufon Austin & Mondell, PA.

3:30 p.m. — 4:30 p.m.

Ethics and the Practice of
Workers' Compensation

Wade A. Adams, lll, Esquire

The Law Offices Of Wade A. Adams, Il
Donald E. Marston, Esquire

Doroshow Pasquale Krawitz & Bhaya

Keri L. Morris-Johnston, Esquire
Marshall Dennehey Warner Coleman
& Goggin

Jonathan B. O’Neill, Esquire
Kimmel, Carter, Roman, Peltz &
O’Neill, PA.

4:30 p.m. Adjournment

Visit www.dsba.org/event/27th-annual-rubenstein-walsh-seminar-on-ethics-and-

professionalism-2022-2/ for all the DSBA CLE seminar policies.

Please note that the attached materials are supplied by the speakers and presenters

and are current as of the date of this posting.
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Address from the
Industrial Accident Board

The Honorable Mark Murowany
Chairman, Industrial Accident Board

Christopher F. Baum, Esquire
Delaware Department of Labor



Mark Murowany

Onginally from South Jersey and a product of public schooling, Mark has graduated
from the University of Delaware (History and Economics), Masters in Public
Administration -Rutgers University. He has also attended Georgetown School of
International Affairs and Delaware Law School.

Mark has a work history both in the private and public sectors. He has worked in the
construction field and financial services. He has held licensing as an msurance
broker for more than 25 years. Mark served as Deputy Auditor of Accounts and
Deputy for Captive Insurance (DOI). Mark also has served as a Tramning Director
with NCCVTSD.

During his lifetime, Mark has served over one dozen community organizations. He
presently sits on the Delaware Humanities and Maplewood Senior Housing boards.

He 1s a resident of Wilmington and was appointed to the Industrial Accident
Board in June of 2017 and became the Board’s Chair 1n July of 2018.



Christopher F. Baum has been the Chief Hearing Officer for the Industrial Accident
Board of the State of Delaware since October of 2005. He was educated at Fordham
University (B.A. 1982; J.D. 1985). Formerly, he was a law clerk in Superior Court
assigned to asbestos litigation. He then went into private practice as an associate
attorney with Tunnell & Raysor in 1987 before becoming an Assistant County
Attorney with New Castle County m 1989. Mr. Baum first became a Workers’
Compensation Hearing Officer in December of 1997 before being promoted to Chief
Hearing Ofticer in October of 2005.




State of Delaware

Department of Labor

24th Annual Report
on the
Status of Workers’ Compensation

Case Management

January, 2022




2021 Highlights

The Department of Labor is proud of the continuing progress in the processing of
workers’ compensation cases. The Department wants to thank the members of the
Industrial Accident Board for their hard work in adjudicating cases, the Workers’
Compensation Oversight Panel for their substantial efforts in fine-tuning the
Health Care Payment System, and the members of the Delaware General Assembly
for their ongoing support.

Reflecting on the work accomplished in 2021, three issues stand out as having
tremendous and far-reaching effects on Workers’ Compensation in Delaware:

1. OWC continues to work to address the problem of employers operating in
Delaware without workers’ compensation insurance coverage with the hiring
of 3 (one for each county) Labor Law Enforcement Officers in Spring of
2021. Our efforts began and continue with steps to educate employers about
workers’ compensation and what is required of them. The efforts of this unit
secured over 215 Workers Compensation policies that covered previously
uninsured employees working in the State of Delaware.

2. From an operational standpoint, the Office of Workers’ Compensation has
continued its modernization efforts. The Office of Workers’ Compensation
has finished the process of digitizing all purged files. In 2019, the launch of
accepting Petitions electronically was introduced through the on-line portal
system. The submission of First Report of Injuries and requests for public
documents capabilities is available in the portal, as well. The online portal is
used by insurance carriers to submit direct paid loss information and the
statement of premiums. The self-insured businesses use the online portal to
submit payroll classifications. This electronic submission is in lieu of paper
document submission which then required staff to input the data. The Office
is in the process of exploring the acceptance of Pre-Trial Memos
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electronically from stakeholders as well as the file exchange of First Report
of Injury with the State of Delaware’s third-party administrator, PMA.

The Office of Workers’ Compensation introduced a new email box for the
acceptance of Agreements & Receipts and First Report of Injuries. This new
process has proven effective as the turnaround time from mail submission to
completion is cut in half. The processing of agreement and receipt
documents was transferred from the fiscal unit to the Workers’ Compensation
unit in the Fall of 2021.

3. The Workers” Compensation Fund (Second Injury Fund) is a fund that the
Department of Labor, Office of Workers’ Compensation oversees. The
Workers” Compensation Fund provides lost wage payments to Claimants either
while litigation is pending or when Claimant has incurred a second injury.
Within the last year, the Office of Workers’ Compensation has obtained
dedicated legal resources for the Workers’” Compensation Fund. From June
2021 to December 2021, the Workers’” Compensation Fund has been able to
recoup more wage payments than ever in its history and has been able to reduce
the bi-monthly wage payments in half the amount as compared to a year ago.

OWTC is continuing to look at additional ways of streamlining processes for
the benefit of members of the public as well as staff.

The Office of Workers Compensation takes pride in its updated website full of
valuable information and links, including a list of available services, the ability to
search for employer insurance coverage, access to the Workers’ Compensation
Act, frequently asked questions, and forms:

[ http://dia.delawareworks.com/workers-comp/ ]
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Health Care Payment System - Year in Review 2021

The Delaware Workers” Compensation Health Care Payment System (HCPS)
marked its twelfth anniversary on May 23, 2021. The 6 major components of the
HCPS, which fall under the purview of the Workers’ Compensation Oversight
Panel and its subcommittees, are:

|

. A Fee Schedule

Health Care Practice Guidelines

A Utilization Review program

A Certification process for health care providers

Forms for employers and health care providers

o g H w D

Data Collection

The 24 member WCOP contains representatives from the medical, legal, labor,
business, and insurance communities, including the Secretary of Labor and
Insurance Commissioner.  Since its expansion in July 2014, the Panel has
convened without one of the “insurance carrier” representatives. Currently, the
Panel has one Insurance Carrier vacancy and one Medical Society — At Large
vacancy.

In 2021, the WCOP did not meet. Its subcommittees met 3 times.

The OWC medical component supports the operations of the HCPS. In 2021, the
medical component fielded a significant number of telephone calls, letters, and
electronic mail regarding the HCPS. These contacts primarily came from the
“providers,” “carriers,” “other states/entities,” and “general” categories. Provider
certification represented the largest number of contacts.

29 ¢¢

The Department of Labor’s website contains comprehensive information on all
five components of the HCPS, as well as links to send e-mail questions,
subscribe/unsubscribe to the ListServ, download the current certified health care
provider list, view frequently asked questions, download the fee schedule data,
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download forms, access the Administrative Code (“the regulations”), access to the
Workers’ Compensation Act and complete the required continuing education
course for certified health care providers.

Utilization review (UR) provides prompt resolution of compliance issues related
to proposed or provided health care services within the practice guidelines for
those claims acknowledged as compensable. Parties may appeal UR
determinations to challenge the assumption that treatment specified within a
practice guideline is the only reasonable and necessary course for a specific
worker’s injury. OWC deems a UR request “ineligible” when the request falls
outside the specified purview of UR or does not comply with the “required content,
presentation and binding method” for materials submitted for review. The like-
specialist reviewer deems a UR request “non-applicable” when the appropriate
practice guideline does not address the treatment under review.

In 2020, OWC received 225 requests for utilization review. In 2021 YTD, OWC
received 249 requests for utilization review, which constituted an 9.64% increase.
In 2020, OWC received 140 Petitions to Appeal a Utilization Review. These
appeals were filed in approximately 62% of the cases where utilization review had
been requested. The vast majority of these appeals were later withdrawn prior to
being heard by the Industrial Accident Board. In 2021, OWC received 158
Petitions to Appeal a Utilization Review. The percentage rate of appeal for 2021
was approximately 63.45%. Also similar to the prior year, the great majority of
appeals filed were later withdrawn before going to a hearing with the Industrial
Accident Board.

Chronic pain treatment, particularly pain medication, continued in 2021 to
represent the treatment most challenged through utilization review. OWC
participates on the Prescription Drug Action Committee (PDAC), which continued
moving forward its recommendations to reduce prescription drug abuse in
Delaware.
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OWC Health Care Payment System (HCPS)
2021 UR Practice Guidelines
through 12/31/21

UR statistics are compiled on a one-month lag based on date of receipt.
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*|ndividual UR requests may involve multiple Practice Guidelines.

5|Page



OWC Health Care Payment System (HCPS)
2021 Utilization Review Program*

UR statistics are compiled on a one-month lag based on date of receipt.
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The OWC Utilization Review program continues to expand electronic processing
of the requests for utilization review. The review requests continue to be sent to all
of our UR contractors via secure email instead of certified mail. All of these
processes allow the contractor to receive the UR request in a shorter period of time
and OWC has been able to realize a large cost savings by no longer sending the
large number of documents included in a UR request through certified mail. In
addition to sending UR requests via secure email, additional savings have been
attained by scanning and storing all UR files on a shared network drive eliminating
the need for storage of paper files.
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The number of certified health care providers has increased within the last year. In
2020 there were 2,822 certified providers and that number has increased by 19% to
3,364 in 2021. There are 39 areas of practice represented among the certified
providers. Biennial compliance with the statutorily mandated continuing education
course was the most common reason providers lost their certification. The anchor
date for completion of the course will remain the provider’s professional license
renewal date. 2021 marked the eighth year of this change, which helps providers’
better track the recertification deadline, also the Workers Compensation Provider
Certification Course was revamped to reflect any Workers Compensation
regulation that may have occurred during the previous and current year.

Certified Healthcare Providers
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In 2021, approximately 3,576 stakeholders participated in OWC’s ListServ, which
represents a increase over the 3,142 subscribers at the end of 2020, partly due to
the COVID -19 pandemic. The OWC ListServ provides a no-cost, quick, and
effective tool to broadcast important changes and information via email.

Office of Workers®’ Compensation

The Workers’ Compensation Specialists continued to assist callers, even if the
Specialist was working remotely. Other than injured workers, the additional
contacts included attorneys, insurance carriers and employers. The Office of
Workers” Compensation processed 2452 requests for copies of public documents.
OWC processed 12,988 First Report of Injury. Only 3% were filed elctronically.
OWC is exploring ways to allow the interfacing of the FRI to our current system.
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Petitions Filed Annually

During 2021, a total of 5960 petitions were filed. This is a very slight decrease
compared to 2020 (8%) but is an anomaly statistically due to the unusual
circumstances that continued in 2021.
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Petitions Heard by the Board/Hearing Officers

As seen in the chart on page 9, the number of petitions filed annually decreased 8%
in calendar year 2021, as compared to 2020; while there was a decrease of 9% in
Petitions heard in FY21. This statistic is for all petitions regardless of hearing type.
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252 Merit hearings were conducted in 2021, at which 65 were conducted by solo
Hearing Officers. There were 795 commutations reviewed by a solo Hearing
Officer in 2021.

Total Hearings
FY2021

B Motions
B Full Board

B Hearing Officers

Currently, there are 12 decisions in the queue awaiting writing. During the year of
2021 and continuing into 2022, the OWC is “cleaning up” the entries of
consolidated hearings to reflect a more accurate chart in our SCARS system.

Decisions Awaiting Writing
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Continuances

In 2021, a total of 1,066 continuances were granted, which represents a 20%
decrease from the 1,342 continuances granted in 2020. The mass majority of
continuances continue to be caused by the unavailability of a medical witness and
due to the pandemic.
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Grounds for Continuances

Number of Occurrences

The unavailability of a party, attorney, material witness or 897
medical witness for reasons beyond their control (illness,
conflicting court appearance, emergency)
A justifiable substitution of counsel for a party 6
Any unforeseen circumstance beyond the control of the parties:
e Employee missed employer-scheduled medical exam 21
e Records unavailable for review by parties prior to
hearing 25
e Unforeseen circumstances 64
e Inadequate notice 2
51

e Case bumped

= Party Unavailability = Substitution of Counsel = Missed Medical Exam

Records Unavailable for Review = Unforeseen Circumstances = [nadequate Notice

= Case Bumped
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Board Member Activities

The following table shows the number of days individual board members were
scheduled to conduct hearings, as well as the number of days they actually
conducted hearings in 2021. Scheduled days versus actual days differ due to case
settlements and continuances. The Board Members sat 40% of the scheduled time;

a 2% increase over last year.

Number of Days Number of Days
Board Member Scheduled to Conduct Actually Conducted
Hearings Hearings
Dantzler 128 66
D’Anna 154 48
Freel 59 22
Fuller, Sr.* 96 50
Hare 129 56
Hartranft 160 60
Maull 130 50
Mitchell 177 62
Murowany 165 61
Rodriguez* 77 33
Wilson 167 56
Total: 1442 564

e A. Rodriguez resigned effective June 30, 2021

e G. Fuller resigned effective October 8, 2021

e B. Freel was hired effective July 1, 2021
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The following table shows the number of Hearings on the Merits conducted by
each Board Member where a decision has been rendered. This chart does not
include Legal Hearings; and multiple petitions heard within the same hearing.

Two members of the Board sit for each Hearing.

Board Member Number of Hearings
on the Merits
Dantzler 32
D’Anna 29
Freel 14
Fuller 20
Hare 30
Hartranft 43
Maull 32
Mitchell 43
Murowany 41
Rodriguez 18
Wilson 34
Total 336
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Completed Caseload of Individual Hearing Officers

Hearing Officer Number of Decisions, Orders
and Rearguments Written
E. Boyle 30
J. Bucklin 42
A. Fowler 44
S. Mack 32
J. Pezzner 30
J. Schneikart 31
H. Williams 59
K. Wilson 39
C. Baum, Chief 48
Total 355

In 2021, hearing officers conducted no workers’ compensation
mediations pursuant to DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2348A.
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Compliance with Hearing & Decisional Deadlines

In 2021, 252 cases were heard which required a written decision within 14 days
from the IAB or hearing officers. The number of appeals continued to remain low,
with only 35 appeals in 2021.
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Analysis of Dispositional Speed

In 2021, the average dispositional speed for processing all petitions (from the filing
of the petition to the issuance of the decision) was 151 days, compared to 170 in
2020. An 11% improvement. The agency is continuing its efforts to find innovative
ways to reduce this number by processing cases more quickly and efficiently and
increasing the speed of decisions.
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Summary of Appeals

(Status of appeals taken as of December 31, 2021)

In the last five years, the Board (or Hearing Officers) have rendered 1,594 decisions on the
merits. Of those decisions, 202 (approximately 12.67%) were appealed (an average of 40.4 per
year). 177 of those appeals have been resolved. Only 26 decisions have been reversed and/or
remanded, in whole or in part. This represents a “reversal rate” of only about 1.63% of all
decisions rendered in those five years.

Year Appeal Taken In: 2017 2018 | 2019 2020 | 2021
Total Number of Decisions: 375 338 358 254 269
Total Number of Appeals: 29 46 47 45 35
Affirmed: 7 15 14 22 6
Reversed and/or Remanded: 4 10 9 3 0
Dismissed/Withdrawn: 18 21 23 16 9
Pending:! 0 0 1 4 20

Five-Year Cumulative
Total Number of Decisions: 1594
Total Number of Appeals: 202
Affirmed: 64
Reversed and/or Remanded 26
Dismissed/Withdrawn 87
Pending: 25

! For purposes of these statistics, an appeal is no longer considered “Pending” once a Superior Court decision has
been issued. Some Superior Court decisions have been appealed to the Delaware Supreme Court. If a Supreme
Court decision is different from that given by the Superior Court, the statistics will be updated to reflect the final
holding. Therefore, for example, while no cases are “Pending” from 2018, some of those appeal results may change
in the future because of decisions by the Supreme Court.

19| Page



Departmental Recommendations

Outreach

OWC continues to work to address the problem of employers operating in
Delaware without workers’ compensation insurance coverage. Our efforts began
and continue with steps to educate employers about workers’ compensation and
what is required of them. New pamplets and videos are planned for 2022 to give
employers an understanding of the requirements of the State of Delaware. This
educational tool will address requirements for both in-state employers and
employers out of state that are conducting business within Delaware. OWC is also
reviewing current workers’ compensation statutes to ensure that they contain the
tools necessary to pursue non-compliant companies.

Self-Insurance

The Office of Workers’ Compensation is continuing its review of the workers’
compensation self-insurance program in its entirety. When an employer is self-
insured, the employer takes on the liability of paying any costs associated with a
workers’ compensation injury suffered by one of its employees instead of those
costs being handled through an insurance carrier. OWC’s immediate concern is to
address the resulting situation for workers’ compensation claimants when a self-
insured employer files for bankruptcy. Even though self-insured employers are
required to post a surety bond, OWC is finding that the bond amount is insufficient
to cover the payment of all workers’ compensation claims remaining after the
company files for bankruptcy. This includes both payment for medical expenses as
well as any indemnity benefits payable to the injured worker.
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Another concern is how our statutes do not specify how the bond amount is to be
calculated for self-insured employers. OWC is looking at having some
consideration of the size of the company and the nature of the company’s work.

A third area to be addressed is how the current statutes do not adequately address
the manner in which claims are to be paid from the bond proceeds when a self-
insured employer does file for bankruptcy. OWC would also like to address the
lack of requirements for an employer to be granted self-insured status as well as
the lack of a periodic review of an employer’s self-insured status and whether that
status or bond amount continues to be appropriate for the employer.

Workers’ Compensation Oversight Panel (WCOP)

On November 29, 2021, the Insurance Commissioner announced that workers’
compensation rates for 2022 would decrease on average 20.01% for the residual
market and 21.02 % for the voluntary market. This is the fifth consecutive year
Workers’ Compensation insurance rates have dropped. OWC will continue to
provide the administrative support necessary for the Workers’ Compensation
Oversight Panel to further its efforts at reducing costs associated with the past
increases in workers’ compensation rates.
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Self-Limited Injuries

Maria Paris Newill, Esquire
Heckler & Frabizzio, PA.

Walt F. Schmittinger, Esquire
Schmittinger & Rodriguez, PA.

Michael I. Silverman, Esquire
Silverman McDonald & Friedman
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PARTNER
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MARIA PARIS NEWILL (Firm Tenure 1990; Position: Workers’ Compensation Team Leader; Co-Managing
Partner), born Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, September 26, 1965; admitted to bar, 1991, Delaware. Education:
University of Delaware (B.S.A.S., 1986); Oklahoma City University School of Law (J.D., 1990). Member: Delaware
State Bar Association (Past Nomination Committee Member; Past Chair and Executive Committee Member, Section
on Workers’ Compensation; & Past Chair and Executive Committee Member, Section on Women and the Law) and
American Bar Association; Defense Counsel of Delaware; & Defense Research Institute. PRACTICE AREAS: Workers’
Compensation Litigation. Practice.

Maria Paris Newill is one of two Managing Directors for the Firm of Heckler & Frabizzio where she has worked since
1990 representing Employers and Insurance Companies in Workers’ Compensation matters before the Delaware’s
Industrial Accident Board, Superior Court and/or Supreme Court.

Ms. Newill attended the University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware (December 1986, B.S.A.S.) graduating from
University of Delaware with a major in Criminal Justice and minor in Psychology (degrees completed in 3 V2 years).
Ms. Newill then attended Oklahoma City University School of Law, Oklahoma City, OK (May 1990, J.D.) while her
husband was stationed in Oklahoma, serving in the military. Ms. Newill graduated from Law School in the top 25 %
of the class in May 1990.

Ms. Newill successfully passed the Delaware Bar on her first attempt and was admitted to the Delaware Bar,
January 7, 1991. She is also admitted to U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware.

Ms. Newill’s professional activities include: Associate at the Law Firm of Heckler & Frabizzio — 8/1/1990 to 1997 and
then Director at the Law Firm of Heckler & Frabizzio 1997 to present practicing in Workers’ Compensation Litigation
- Insurance Defense where she has handled over 3000 claims within Delaware’s Industrial Accident Board, Superior
Court, and Supreme Courts on behalf of self-insured employers, employers, and/or insurance companies.

Ms. Newill’s professional memberships include, or have included: American Bar Association;

Delaware State Bar Association; Workers’ Compensation Section of the Delaware State Bar Association; Women and
the Law Section of the Delaware State Bar Association, National Association of Professional Women VIP Member,
Defense Counsel of Delaware; Defense Research Institute; and Council for Litigation Management. Additionally, Ms.
Newill was voted by her peers as one of Delaware’s Top Lawyer for Workers Compensation by Delaware Today
Magazine for 2015-2020.

Ms. Newill has held many positions within the Workers Compensation Section and Women and the Law Section of
the Delaware State Bar Association including Chairpersons of each of these Sections. Ms. Newill also served on The
Delaware State Bar Association Nomination Committee (3-year term). Ms. Newill has been a voluntary judge for the
Delaware’s High School Moot Court Competitions and has worked pro bono as a Guardian ad Litem in Delaware’s
Family Court representing children in foster care

Personally, Ms. Newill has been married to her husband, James F. Newill, since 4/28/1987. She is a mother to two
boys, Nicholas and Charles Newill. Ms. Newill’s civic participation had included: Smyrna Downtown Renaissance
Association - Former Board Member, and Chairperson; Organization Subcommittee of SDRA - Former Member; PEO
(Philanthropic Education Organization raising money for Women’s Education) - Former Member; Development
Subcommittee of Duck Creek Library Guild - Former Member; and Cotillion Subcommittee of the Smyrna Opera
House in Delaware - Former Member.

For fun, Ms. Newill enjoys being on or near the water, antiques/auctions, historic preservation, movies, music
(especially blues and country), reading, and spending time with family and friends.
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Born and raised in Delaware, Mr. Schmittinger
received his Bachelor ofArts in English from Dickinson College in Carlisle, PA. He obtained his
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STRINE, Chief Justice:



L INTRODUCTION
This appeal addresses the Superior Court’s decision to overrule a determination by
the Industrial Accident Board (the “IAB”) that the parties before it had reached a
settlement agreement, which barred a later claim for benefits due to permanent
impairment. Because it lacked a complete release that would have avoided any question
about its effect, the settlement agreement was less than ideally clear. But the IAB’s
factual determination that the parties’ settlement, which involved an express agreement
that the injury in question was resolved as an ongoing medical matter, precluded a future
claim for permanent impairment based on the same “resolved” injury was supported by
substantial evidence. Because the Superior Court was required to defer to the JIAB’s
factual determinations to the extent they were supported by substantial evidence, the
Superior Court erred by substituting its own factual findings for that of the IAB.
Moreover, there is no question that the settlement agreement was, as a legal matter, a
binding contract supported by adequate consideration. Therefore, we reverse the
Superior Court’s decision and reinstate the IAB’s determination.
II. BACKGROUND'
Kenneth Davis was employed by Christiana Care Health Services as a dishwasher
in its Nutrition Services department. On August 21, 2012, Davis was working when he

slipped and fell backwards, landing on his back. Davis filed a Petition to Determine

"' Unless otherwise noted, all facts are taken from the IAB’s order dated May 15, 2014. Davis v.
Christiana Care Health Servs., Hearing No. 1387075 (Industrial Accident Board, May 15, 2014)
[hereinafter IAB Order].



Compensation Due with the IAB on December 11, 2012, alleging total disability since
the date of his fall.

Dr. Crain® saw Davis for a defense medical examination on February 27, 2013.
Dr. Crain, wrote a report indicating “that any low back injury causally related to the work
accident was ‘resolved’ and any ongoing symptoms were non-work related.”*

On March 18, 2013, Christiana Care’s counsel sent a settlement offer to Davis’s
attorney.” The letter provided that Christiana Care would “acknowledge the 8/21/12
work accident and a lumbar spine contusion — resolved” and specified certain discrete
medical bills that it would cover.® In other words, Christiana Care’s extremely modest
settlement offer was an attempt to agree that any work-related injury Davis suffered was
“resolved” and to prevent Davis from seeking benefits for an ongoing injury and
treatment. Although it extended this settlement offer, Christiana Care’s position was that
Davis’s back injury was due to a pre-existing gunshot injury that was unrelated to Davis’s
employment. To the extent that any injury during his work contributed to Davis’s back
troubles, Christiana Care maintained that this was resolved as of February 27, 2013 when

Dr. Crain examined him.

? There is no indication in the record of Dr. Crain’s first name.

> The record does not include a copy of Dr. Crain’s report.

*1AB Order at 2 (emphasis in original).

> App. to Opening Br. at 2122 (Letter from Maria Paris Newill, Esquire to Gary S. Nitsche,
Esquire, Mar. 18, 2013).

SId at21.



On May 13, 2013, Davis’s attorney accepted Christiana Care’s settlement offer in
an email, noting that he had “authority to accept the employer’s settlement offer.”’
Davis’s counsel explained that “[m]y understanding is that this will resolve all issues
presently pending before the board” and asked Christiana Care’s attorney to “forward the
appropriate agreements & receipts to my office along with confirmations that the
aforementioned bills have been paid.”® As noted, Davis had put before the IAB the
argument that he was rendered totally disabled by his fall and that Christiana Care had to
pay him a further stream of benefits as compensation for that loss.’

Christiana Care’s attorney replied to Davis by letter on May 16, 2013, confirming
the settlement and that Christiana Care agreed to “acknowledge the 8/21/12 work
accident and a lumbar spine contusion — resolved.”'® This letter further provided that it
“constitute[d] the complete settlement.”'! The parties jointly submitted the Department
of Labor’s “Agreement as to Compensation” form on May 21, 2013, which was approved
on July 6,2013."

On May 23, 2013, Christiana Care’s attorney sent Davis’s attorney the “‘Medical

Only’ Agreements and Final Receipts” and requested that Davis’s attorney have Davis

" Id. at 23 (Email from Michael B. Galbraith, Esquire to Maria Paris Newill, Esquire, May 13,
2013).
s Id (emphasis added).

? Industrial Accident Board Pre—Trlal Memorandum, No. 1387075, at 2 (Feb. 19, 2013)
(claufymg that Davis sought “total disability benefits™).

01d at25 (Letter from Maria Paris Newill, Esquire to Gary S. Nitsche, Esquire, May 16, 2013)
(emphasxs added).

' Id. at 26.
2 1d at 32 (Office of Workers” Compensation Agreement as to Compensation, May 21, 2013).

3



sign these settlement documents so that they could be filed with the IAB.!"* The
documents were returned to Christiana Care’s attorney on June 20, 2013 and soon
thereafter filed with the IAB.

Eight months later, on February 17, 2014, Davis filed another petition with the
IAB, alleging that he was 8% permanently impaired as a result of his August 2012 fall."
Christiana Care responded by filing a motion to dismiss the petition because it was
inconsistent with the parties’ settlement agreement. Christiana Care’s counsel also sent
the IAB a request for a hearing on this issue on April 16, 2014.

After briefing by the parties, the IAB granted Christiana Care’s motion and
dismissed Davis’s petition with prejudice. It concluded that “the objective evidence
presented clearly indicates that the Employer has met its burden of proof to establish that
the parties agreed that the injury that was acknowledged was ‘lumbar spine contusion —
resolved’, and that only a limited period of treatment would be paid.”’* The IAB noted
that the attorneys’ exchange of correspondence created a valid settlement agreement and
that “[nJo objection was raised to the language of the settlement agreement until close to
one year post-settlement when the instant Petition alleging permanent impairment was
filed.”'¢

Davis appealed the JAB’s determination to the Superior Court. The Superior

Court overturned the IAB’s decision, concluding that it was “unsupported by the

P 1d at 28 (Letter from Maria Paris Newill, Esquire to Gary S. Nitsche, Esquire, May 23, 2013).
1 App. to Answering Br. at 27 (Petition to Determine Additional Compensation Due to Injured
Employee, Feb. 12, 2014). This petition was filed pursuant to 19 Del. C. § 2326.

> JAB Order at 4.

16 77



evidence.”'” The Superior Court reasoned that Christiana Care agreed in the settlement to
pay medical expenses through the date of Dr. Crain’s examination but that the purpose of
the settlement agreement “was not to resolve claims related to permanent impairment.”'®
Rather, the Superior Court concluded that “the ‘resolve’ language in the settlement
discussions did not free [Christiana Care] of responsibility for the injury indefinitely” but
only indicated the parties’ agreement that Davis “suffered a compensable, work-related
injury” and that “his medical bills were reasonable and causally related to the work
accident.”"” This appeal followed.
III. ANALYSIS

On an appeal from the IAB, “the Superior Court does not sit as a trier of fact with
authority to weigh the evidence, determine questions of credibility, and make its own
factual findings and conclusions.”® Thus, “the sole function of the Superior Court, as is
the function of this Court on appeal, is to determine whether or not there was substantial
evidence to support the finding of the [IAB].”*' “Substantial evidence means such
relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a

9922

conclusion. It 1s “more than a scintilla but less than a preponderance of the

1; Davis v. Christiana Care Health Servs., 2015 WL 899599, at *3 (Del. Super. Feb. 27, 2015).
1d.

¥ Id at *5; see also id. at *3 (“[M]erely because an injury is described as resolved does not

mean that a claimant’s case is fully ‘resolved’ to the extent it precludes him from raising

additional claims that he might be entitled to receive for his work-related injury.”).

20 Johnson v. Chrysler Corp., 213 A.2d 64, 66 (Del. 1965).

' 1d. at 64.

* Histed v. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co., 621 A.2d 340, 342 (Del. 1993) (internal quotation

marks omitted).



evidence.”” Thus, we give considerable deference to the IAB’s decision and uphold the
Superior Court’s reversal of it “[o]nly when there is no satisfactory proof in support of a
factual finding of the Board.” Although our review of the IAB’s legal determinations is

de novo,”

we give heavy weight to the IAB’s application of legal principles in the
specialized context of our state’s workers’ compensation scheme, because the IAB has
the occasion to give life to that scheme on a weekly basis in the many cases that come
before it.?

We find that the IAB’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and thus
that the Superior Court was required to defer to it. The ability of parties to settle a
workers’ compensation claim is undisputed, and Delaware law favors such agreements.?’

The Superior Court, however, found that the exchange of correspondence between the

parties’ attorneys did not amount to a settlement agreement as to all future claims arising

23 Bl eeding v. Contractors-One-Inc., 549 A.2d 1102, 1104 (Del. 1988).

Johnson 213 A.2d at 67 (empha51s added).

> Person-Gaines v. Pepco Holdings, Inc., 981 A.2d 1159, 1161 (Del. 2009); Anchor Motor
Freight v. Ciabattoni, 716 A.2d 154, 156 (Del. 1998); Chavez v. David’s Bridal, 979 A.2d 1129,
1133 (Del. Super. 2008).

6 See Histed, 621 A.2d at 342 (“When factual determinations are at issue, we must take due
account of the experience and specialized competence of the Board and of the purposes of our
workers’ compensation law.”); Spring Constr. Co. v. Mendez, 1992 WL 302072, at *2 (Del.
Super. Sept. 15, 1992) (“Since one of the most compelling reasons for creating administrative
agencies is to allow the judicial system to make use of the knowledge and experience of
specialists, this Court would be wasting this resource if it lightly dismissed the fruits of such
expertise. It may not do so when the decision is based on substantial evidence and the product of
an orderly deductive process.”).

*7 See Crescent/Mach I Partners, L.P. v. Dr Pepper Bottling Co. of Tex., 962 A.2d 205, 208 (Del.
2008) (“Delaware law favors settlements and treats them as binding contracts.”); Chavez, 979
A.2d at 1134 (“[I]n a settlement agreement, a party may effectively waive his or her right to
petition the [IAB] for additional compensation by agreeing to free an employer for responsibility
of the injury.”).



out of Davis’s fall.?®

Admittedly, the parties here could have been more clear about
creating such an agreement, simply by using a general release and adding an exception
for the one category of claims that could still be made, which was for any unpaid bills for
treatment during the period before Dr. Crain’s evaluation. But, in contrast to the Superior
Court, we cannot conclude that the IAB was without substantial evidence to rule as it did
when the course of the uncontradicted negotiating process, and particularly the final
settlement agreement, so clearly manifested that the parties were agreeing that the injury
was “resolved.”™ That agreement is inconsistent with Davis’s later contention that the

injury was not in fact resolved and that he suffered a permanent impairment for which

Christiana Care would be responsible in further payments.®

2 See Davis, 2015 WL 899599, at *3 (“This Court finds that the Board’s interpretation of the
parties’ agreement was evidenced by its May 15, 2014 Order is unsupported by the evidence
presented at the Legal Hearing.”).

29 App. to Opening Br. at 32 (Office of Workers’ Compensation Agreement as to Compensation,
May 21, 2013).

30 Under Davis’s understanding of this agreement, he got payments for medical expenses from
Christiana Care and an acknowledgement by Christiana Care that Davis had suffered an injury in
the fall that caused him harm. In exchange, though, Davis contends that Christiana Care got
nothing, other than a de facto continuance of the case to a later date at which Davis could revive
his claim that the fall caused him serious injury, against a backdrop where Christiana Care would
have acknowledged that the fall caused him injury. The “resolved” nature of the injury and the
dispute would therefore have been no resolution at all. The IAB was well within its discretion to
conclude that Davis’s written acceptance broadly indicating that the settlement would resolve all
claims pending before the Board, and the signed agreement clearly noting that Davis’s contusion
was “resolved,” meant that Davis could not bring future claims contending that any injury from
the fall was causing him further compensable costs of any kind.

At oral argument, counsel for Davis could not remember exactly what claims Davis was
making as of the time of settlement. The record reveals that they were broad and included both
“total disability benefits” and “partial disability benefits.” Industrial Accident Board Pre-Trial
Memorandum, No. 1387075, at 2 (Feb. 19, 2013). This context supports the JAB’s conclusion
that Christiana Care was willing to provide Davis with limited relief it did not believe he
deserved (payment of medical costs that Christiana Care actually contended were attributable to
both pre-existing and subsequent non-work injuries to Davis’s lower back) in order “to avoid the

7



Furthermore, Davis’s argument that an acceptance email that did not match
Christiana Care’s settlement offer word-for-word was a counteroffer is without merit.’'
The IAB was within its discretion to reject that argument because the final settlement
agreement signed by Davis contained the precise term he claims to have desired to
exclude. Specifically, the compensation agreement provided, “Nature/Part of Body:
lumbar spine contusion, resolved.”** Thus, the parties created a valid and enforceable
settlement agreement, which provided that Davis’s back injuries were “resolved” as of
February 27, 2013. That agreement was neither an admission of liability on Christiana
Care’s part nor a commutation of benefits.”® Rather, the settlement agreement that
Davis’s counsel negotiated and he signed was an acknowledgement that any back injury
Davis suffered as a result of his fall was resolved and that his claims against Christiana
Care were limited to those for outstanding medical treatment incurred before February
27, 2013.

Therefore, the judgment of the Superior Court of February 27, 2015 is reversed,

and the Industrial Accident Board’s order of May 15, 2014 is reinstated.

need for a Hearing on the Petition and incurring the associated litigation costs/expenses.” IAB
Order at 4.

3! Davis argues “that the parties did not have a meeting of the minds on all material terms of the
settlement agreement because the acceptance was not on identical terms to the offer” and thus
that Davis’s “settlement email constituted a counteroffer.” Answering Br. at 16.

32 App. to Opening Br. at 32 (Office of Workers’ Compensation Agreement as to Compensation,
May 21, 2013).

3 The Superior Court noted that Delaware’s workers’ compensation statute permits an employer
and employee to settle their case through commutation. See 19 Del. C. § 2358. This statute
permits, with IAB approval, the employer to pay the employee “one large lump sum payment
instead of many small monthly payments that may extend for years.” Ciabattoni, 716 A.2d at
157. We agree with Christiana Care that the settlement did not involve a commutation of
benefits because Christiana Care never agreed that the benefits were due and was not seeking to
commute in the sense that the statute means.
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VALIHURA, Justice:

This is an appeal of a July 22, 2019 decision by the Superior Court affirming the
November 28, 2018 Order (the “Order”) of the Industrial Accident Board (the “IAB” or
“Board”) granting Delaware Transit Corporation’s (“DTC”) motion to dismiss Claimant
LeShawn Washington’s (“Claimant™) Petition seeking benefits for Permanent Impairment
(the “PI Petition™).

Claimant suffered an injury to his left shoulder in a work-related incident that
occurred on August 4, 2016 and was placed on disability. Upon returning to work, he
claimed that his shoulder symptoms had worsened. Claimant then filed a Petition seeking
compensation for a recurrence of temporary total disability (the “TTD Petition”),! which
the IAB denied (the “TTD Opinion”). Claimant then filed his PI Petition.

In preparing for the hearing on the PI Petition, both parties obtained medical expert
opinions regarding the degree of Claimant’s permanent impairment. Both parties’ experts
- agreed that there was some degree of permanent impairment. Nevertheless, DTC moved
to dismiss the PI Petition at the commencement of the hearing. DTC argued that the IAB
had previously ruled on the matter during Claimant’s TTD Petition hearing when it stated
that Claimant had “fully recovered” from his work injury. The IAB agreed, and dismissed

the PI Petition on that basis, before considering the permanent impairment testimony.?

" Washington v. Del. Transit Corp., No. 1445577 (Del. 1.LA.B. Aug. 7, 2017), App. to Opening Br.
at A20 [hereinafter Washington I].

2 Washington v. Del. Transit Corp., No. 1445577 (Del. .A.B. Nov. 28, 2018), App. to Opening
Br. at A18 [hereinafter Washington II).



Claimant appealed the IAB’s decision to the Superior Court, arguing that the IAB
never concluded that the Claimant had “fully recovered.” In affirming the IAB’s Order,?
the Superior Court recognized that the IAB’s “Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law”
section did not contain the words “fully recovered.”® However, the court acknowledged
that the phrase “fully recovered” was in the “Summary of Evidence” section.> The court
highlighted the IAB’s references to Dr. Gregory Tadduni’s testimony that Claimant’s
shoulder examination was “normal,” and that Claimant had “returned to normal.”® The
Superior Court then held that the Board had reasonably interpreted the TTD Opinion, and
that the Board’s decision to dismiss was supported by substantial evidence.

Claimant raises two issues on appeal. First, he asserts that the Superior Court erred
in concluding that the Board had reasonably interpreted the TTD Opinion. He argues that
the Board never considered the testimony regarding his permanent impairment because the
issue considered by the experts in the temporary total disability context, although related,
is different from the issue addressed by the experts in the permanent impairment context.
Therefore, it was error for both the Board, and the Superior Court, to dismiss the PI Petition
based solely on the testimony given in the total temporary disability context. Second,

Claimant asserts that the Superior Court erred as a matter of law in holding that the Board’s

3 Washington v. Del. Transit Corp., C.A. No. N18A-12-007 (Del. Super. July 22, 2019), App. to
Opening Br. at AS [hereinafter the “Opinion™].

*Id. at 10 n.24, App. to Opening Br. at A15 (“[T]he ‘Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law’
section of the Board’s TD Decision did not specifically state that the Board found that [Claimant]
had “fully recovered’ . ...”).

> Id. (“[TThe fact section states that Dr. Tadduni concluded that [Claimant] had fully recovered.”).
8 Id at 9-11, App. to Opening Br. at A14-A16.



dismissal of his PI Petition was supported by substantial evidence. Claimant argues that
the Board did not have any evidence regarding his impairment because the Board dismissed
the PI Petition without considering the testimony related to the PI Petition. |

As explained below, we hold that the Superior Court erred in affirming the Board’s
decision to deny Claimant’s PI Petition. Although the Board is permitted to interpret its
own orders and rulings, the Board erred when it dismissed Claimant’s PI Petition based
solely on the expert testimony presented in connection with his TTD Petition. The TTD
Petition addressed the question of whether Claimant had suffered a recurrence of a total
disability, and whether Claimant could return to work. The TTD Petition did not address
Claimant’s degree of impairment. In this close case, we conclude that the Claimant should
have the opportunity to present his evidence in a permanent impairment hearing.
Accordingly, we REVERSE and REMAND this matter to the Superior Court.

L Relevant Facts and Procedural Background

Claimant worked for DTC as a bus driver.” On August 4, 2016, Claimant injured
his left shoulder while driving on the job.?

On September 8, 2016, Claimant underwent surgery on his shoulder, which required

him to be out of work for a period of time.® DTC agreed that Claimant was injured in the

" Washington I, No. 1445577, at 2, App. to Opening Br. at A21.

¥ Id The Superior Court incorrectly lists the date of injury as April 4, 2016. See Opinion, C.A.
No. N18A-12-007, at 2, App. to Opening Br. at A7.

? Washington I, No. 1445577, at 2, App. to Opening Br. at A21.



course and scope of his employment and provided workers compensation disability
benefits pursuant to 19 Del. C. § 2324 (“Section 23247,

On December 5, 2016, Dr. Shaun Rinow released Claimant to light duty as a bus
checker.!’® Upon returning to work, Claimant alleged that his shoulder began to hurt from
riding the bus. Due to the Claimant’s alleged discomfort, Dr. Rinow placed Claimant back
on disability on December 7, 2016. DTC refused to pay for a recurrence of total disability
at this time, and as a result, Claimant filed his TTD Petition.

A. The Temporary Total Disability Proceedings

On January 17, 2017, Claimant filed his TTD Petition to determine Additional
Compensation Due. On July 24, 2017, a hearing was held to decide whether he had
suffered a recurrence of his shoulder disability from December 7, 2016 to June 23, 2017.
During the hearing, the Board considered live testimony from the Claimant and deposition
testimony from both parties’ experts, Dr. Rinow and Dr. Tadduni.

Claimant testified that, on December 5, 2016, he was released by Dr. Rinow for
light duty, which limited him to lifting no more than 10 pounds and working four hours per
day. Upon returning to work as a bus checker, Claimant alleged that his shoulder began
hurting from riding on the bus.!! Claimant returned to Dr. Rinow for treatment, who, again,

placed him on disability until June 23, 2017.12

10 Id

' Id Claimant described the difference in his shoulder as “more soreness and tenderness and less
movement.” Id.

12 Id



Dr. Rinow, a licensed and board certified chiropractor,'? testified by deposition on
Claimant’s behalf. In August of 2016, Dr. Rinow began treating Claimant for shoulder
symptoms related to his work incident.!* Dr. Rinow referred Claimant to Dr. Palma for
surgery in order to repair a broken screw in Claimant’s left shoulder.!> After surgery, Dr.
Rinow testified that Claimant had an increase in symptoms upon returning to work in
December of 2016, precluding him from returning to work before June 2017.1% Dr. Rinow
testified that Claimant was out of work for such a lengthy time because “[t]he shoulder is
a complex joint. It takes a long time to rehab[ilitate].”!’

Dr. Tadduni, a board certified orthopedic surgeon,'?® testified by deposition on
DTC’s behalf. Dr. Tadduni evaluated the Claimant on two occasions: first on October 13,
2016, approximately five weeks after his surgery; and again on June 22, 2017.1° As part
of these evaluaﬁons, Dr. Tadduni reviewed Claimant’s medical records, diagnostic testing
results, and a DART bus video depicting what had occurred on August 4, 2016.2° Dr.

Tadduni testified that at the time of the first evaluation, he was unsure of the exact

13 App. to Opening Br. at A41 (Rinow Dep. at 4:5-9).
' Washington I, No. 1445577, at 5, App. to Opening Br. at A24.

1> Washington I, No. 1445577, at 2, App. to Opening Br. at A21; see App. to Opening Br. at A113
(Tadduni Dep. at 7:7-9). The record does not provide Dr. Palma’s full name.

16 App. to Opening Br. at A46-A47 (Rinow Dep. at 9:11-10:17).
17 1d. at A45-A46 (Rinow Dep. at 8:24-9:1).

18 Id at A109-A110 (Tadduni Dep. at 3:21—4:1). Although Dr. Tadduni is a board certified
orthopedic surgeon, he is not certified under the Delaware workers’ compensation guidelines. Id.
(Tadduni Dep. at 4:13-16).

9 Id at A111, A113 (Tadduni Dep. at 5:12, 7:12—13).
20 Id. at A111-A112 (Tadduni Dep. at 5:12—6:18).



procedure Claimant had undergone.?! However, Dr. Tadduni testified that, had he known
that Claimant’s surgery repaired a broken screw, he “would have said that [Claimant] was
not going to need prolonged restriction and probably by the six-week point post surgery
[Claimant would] be able to return to normal activity.”?* Thus, Dr. Tadduni concluded
Claimant could return to work as he was “fully recovered and [did] not need ongoing
treatment at this point.”?® Dr. Tadduni testified that Claimant was “capable of returning to
work as early as December of 2016,”2* and at the very latest, Dr. Tadduni opined that
Claimant could fully return to work on June 22, 2017.2°

The IAB denied Claimant’s TTD Petition in its TTD Opinion dated August 7,
2017.%* The Board held that Claimant had failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that he had suffered a recurrence of total disability effective December 7, 2016

through June 23, 2017.7 1In denying Claimant’s TTD Petition, the Board explicitly

2 I1d. at A119 (Tadduni Dep. at 13:8-18). See also id. (Tadduni Dep. at 13:1-18) (“[I]n retrospect
probably if [Claimant] didn’t have the broken screw he might not have had the procedure to begin
with . .. . T didn’t know that when I saw him, so T assumed that he needed ongoing restrictions
regarding the shoulder because I didn’t know exactly what had taken place and I saw him exactly
five weeks I believe after the shoulder procedure.”).

22 Id. at A119 (Tadduni Dep. at 13:22-24).
3 Id. at A129 (Tadduni Dep. at 23:3-4).

** Washington I, No. 1445577, at 10, App. to Opening Br. at A29; see also App. to Opening Br. at
A129 (Tadduni Dep. at 23:5-23).

2 See Washington I, No. 1445577, at 15, App. to Opening Br. at A34; App. to Opening Br. at
A129-A130 (Tadduni Dep. at 23:24-24:3).

%6 Washington I, No. 1445577, at 17, App. to Opening Br. at A36.

2T Id at 12—13, App. to Opening Br. at A31-A32. The IAB found that, “[t]here is no evidence that
Claimant’s physical condition with respect to his work injury has changed for the worse at any
time since December 7, 2016.” Id.



accepted Dr. Tadduni’s testimony over that of Dr. Rinow’s, and concluded that “Claimant
was no longer totally disabled after December 5, 2016.”28

The ten-page “Summary of the Evidence” section of the TTD Opinion contained
the testimony and opinion of both experts.”® This included Dr. Rinow’s opinion that
Claimant initially had an increase in symptoms upon his return to work in December of
2016, and his belief that Claimant was “fully recovered” as of June 2017.3° This also
included Dr. Tadduni’s review of Claimant’s history,*! his disagreement with Claimant’s
prolonged restriction, and his opinion that “Claimant had fully recovered from the August
2016 work accident . .. .32 The Board reiterated Dr. Tadduni’s opinions in the “Findings
of Fact and Conclusions of Law” portion that Claimant had returned to “normal,” but not

the statements that Claimant had fully recovered.??

8 Jd. at 15, App. to Opening Br. at A34; see id. (stating that, “[t]he Board accepts the opinion of
Dr. Tadduni over that of Dr. Rinow).

2 Id. at 2-11, App. to Opening Br. at A21-A30.
0 Id. at 5-6, App. to Opening Br. at A24—A25.
31 Id. at 811, App. to Opening Br. at A27—A30.
32 Id. at 11, App. to Opening Br. at A30.

3 Id at 13-15, App. to Opening Br. at A32—-A34 (“The medical testimony further supports a
finding that no recurrence occurred. . . . Dr. Tadduni testified that Claimant could have returned to
work full-time after December 5, 2016 . . .. Dr. Tadduni [also] pointed out that Claimant’s records
from December 5, 2016 and December 7, 2016 . . . indicated Claimant was improving, . . . [and]
[bly the time of Claimant’s June 2017 visit[] [with] Dr. Tadduni [he] concluded that Claimant’s
shoulder examination was normal.”).



B. The Permanent Impairment Proceedings

On February 21, 2018, Claimant filed his PI Petition pursuant to 19 Del .C. § 2326
(“Section 2326”).>* Both parties retained experts in preparation for the hearing.3® Claimant
retained Dr. Peter Bandera, and DTC retained Dr. Andrew Gelman. Both experts offered
deposition testimony for use at the permanency hearing.’® Although Dr. Bandera and Dr.
Gelman agreed that Claimant had some permanent impairment, they disagreed as to the
extent of it.

Dr. Bandera evaluated Claimant on January 31, 2018, and found that “[h]e had pain
on abduction and forward flexion at 110 degrees on the left side, which is restricted range
of motion, the normal motion being approximately 180 degrees.”” Using the Fifth Edition
of the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment
(the “AMA Guides”),® Dr. Bandera assigned Claimant a 16% partial permanent

impairment rating.>

3*Opinion, C.A. No. N18A-12-007, at 4, App. to Opening Br. at A9.

35 App. to Opening Br. at 3.

36 Id at A147 (Bandera Dep. at 3:9-13); id. at A197 (Gelman Dep. at 3:9-19).
37 1d. at A147, A153 (Bandera Dep. at 3:22, 9:1-5).

3% Dr. Bandera criticized Dr. Gelman’s use of the Sixth Edition, as opposed to the Fifth Edition,
which he referred to as “the more used edition.” Id. at A177.

* Id. at A155 (Bandera Dep. at 11:20-23); see also id. at A156~-A158 (Bandera Dep. at 12:10—
14:4):

Q. Did you arrive at a number for permanency? And how did you get to that
number?

A. I assigned him a 16 percent partial permanent impairment relative to the left
upper extremity based on the surgical model as reviewed in Chapter 16, specifically
citing, there is a page 506, Table 16-27 . . . . From the Table 16-27 he at least
qualifies for, in the shoulder region, there is a breakdown of a wide total shoulder



Dr. Gelman evaluated Claimant on DTC’s behalf on June 6, 2018.4° As to
Claimant’s left shoulder motion, Dr. Gelman found that Claimant’s “[f]orward flexion
measured 90 degrees; abduction, 70 degrees; external rotation, 30 degrees; internal
rotation, 35 degrees; extension, 30 degrees; and adduction, 30 degrees,”*! and that, “[t]hese
were all restricted relative to his right shoulder.”*? Using the Sixth Edition of the AMA

Guides, Dr. Gelman assigned Claimant a 3% partial permanent impairment rating.*?

procedure versus isolated surgery to the clavicle region, so he clearly qualifies for
a more comprehensive shoulder operation within a range of 24 to 30 percent. |
gave him a lower level which is 24 percent. And I believe there is some discrepancy
and actually has a typo in the Table 16-27. But I believe he qualifies for the lower
end of that range, 24 percent. And then we add the restriction, range of motion,
and he has pain and dysfunction on abduction, forward flexion at 110 degrees. The
deficit in abduction would qualify him for 3 percent impairment, and the deficit in
flexion, which is moving the arm forward, qualifies him for 5 degrees based on the
pie charts of the upper extremity on page 476 and 477. So in summary, he received
24 percent impairment for this very extensive surgery to his left shoulder, and he
received an 8 percent total impairment with restriction to range of motion. That
combination would essentially be 32 percent. And I downgraded him to a 16
percent based on my clinical experience.

%0 1d. at A198 (Gelman Dep. at 4:6-18).

4 Id at A201 (Gelman Dep. at 7:11-14).

#2 Id. at A201 (Gelman Dep. at 7:15).

# Jd at A208-A209 (Gelman Dep. at 14:7-15:2).

Q. Doctor, you evaluated the Claimant using the Fifth Edition and the Sixth Edition
of the AMA Guidelines. Can you discuss your findings on permanent impairment
with regard to the Claimant’s left shoulder under the Fifth Edition?

A. So to answer that question I did look at the Fifth Edition and I felt that that would
be applicable with regards to the records that I had reviewed dating back to the
summer of 2017 at which time Mr. Washington was released. 1 specifically
outlined the methodology that I applied with regards to the Sixth Edition, feeling
that a more precise diagnosis is referenced and applicable towards [Claimant] . . ..
And with that said, and citing the Sixth Edition, that is specifically addressed in the
Sixth Edition in Tables 15-5, Page 404. So I took that where [Claimant] falls into
a Class 1 category which identifies, quote, “Residual symptoms consistent with
objective findings and/or functional loss with normal motion,” unquote. That’s his
residual. That’s with what others recorded as the motion measurements back in the

10



On November 27, 2018, the Board held Claimant’s PI hearing. At the beginning of
the hearing, DTC moved for dismissal, arguing that the Board had already concluded in its
TTD Opinion that Claimant’s shoulder had returned to normal and that he had “fully
recovered.” Without considering the deposition testimony from either Dr. Bandera or Dr.
Gelman, the Board granted DTC’s motion to dismiss.** On November 28, 2018, the Board
issued the Order dismissing Claimant’s PI Petition.*> The Order stated that the Board had
previously accepted Dr. Tadduni’s testimony over that of Dr. Rinow, and that it had found
previously that Claimant had “fully recovered.” 46

C. The Superior Court Appeal

On December 19, 2018, Claimant appealed the Board’s Order to the Superior Court,
arguing that his PI Petition had been dismissed improperly. He argued that the Board
lacked substantial evidence to dismiss his PI Petition because the Board failed to examine
any evidence relating to his left shoulder permanency. DTC countered that the Board did
not commit an error when it had determined Claimant’s injury was fully resolved because

the Board was free to reasonably interpret its prior ruling.

summer of 2017, and that default equates to a 3 percent rating. Applying the
Adjustment Grid Parameters as I appreciated them and as others recorded [for
Claimant] back in the Summer of 2017, there would be no net adjustment and thus
I concluded a 3 percent left shoulder rating attributable to that which occurred in
2016.

Id. at A207-A209 (Gelman Dep. at 13:14-15:2).

* The deposition testimony of Dr. Bandera and Dr. Gelman was not admitted into evidence;
however, it was submitted as part of the record in this appeal.

¥ Washington II, No. 1445577, App. to Opening Br. at A18.
46 Id

11



The Superior Court affirmed the Board’s decision, finding that the Board’s
interpretation of its previous decision was reasonable and supported by substantial
evidence.*’ The court focused on Dr. Tadduni’s “fully recovered” statement, as well as his
testimony that Claimant’s shoulder had “returned to normal.” In addition, the court
recognized that the “fully recovered” language was not in the “Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law” section of the TTD Opinion. Nevertheless, it concluded that the
Board had the authority to interpret the findings and conclusions in the TTD Opinion so
long as the interpretation was reasonable.*®* The court then reasoned that substantial
evidence supported affirming the Order because the Board could deduce from those
statements that there was no loss of use in his shoulder, and, thus, there was no permanent
impairment.*” It also noted Claimant’s expert’s testimony that Claimant was “*100%’ by
June 23[,] 2017” supported its holding.*°

This appeal followed. The question Claimant presents is whether the IAB properly
relied upon the expert medical testimony, presented in the context of a TTD Petition, as a
basis to dismiss Claimant’s PI Petition. DTC argues that the Superior Court did not err in
affirming the Order, and further contends that the decision should be affirmed based upon
“law of the case” and res judicata grounds. Although this is a close case because of the

deferential standard of review, we conclude that the Board erred in dismissing the PI

*10Opinion, C.A. No. N18A-12-007, at 11-12, App. to Opening Br. at A16—A17.
8 Id. at 8, App. to Opening Br. at A13; see also id. at 10 n.24, App. to Opening Br. at A15.
¥ Id. at 10-11, App. to Opening Br. at A15-A16.

O 1d at 11, App. to Opening Br. at A16 (quoting App. to Opening Br. at A47 (Rinow Dep. at 10:1—
3).

12



Petition solely on the basis of the testimony provided for the TTD Petition. We believe
that Claimant should have had an opportunity to present his evidence in the PI Petition
hearing. Accordingly, we reverse and remand for further proceedings.

11 Standard Of Review -

“The review of an Industrial Accident Board’s decision is limited to an examination
of the record for errors of law and a determination of whether substantial evidence exists
to support the Board’s findings of fact and conclusions of law.”?! “Substantial evidence is
‘such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a

conclusion.’”>2

“It is ‘more than a scintilla but less than a preponderance of the
evidence.””> “On appeal, this Court will not weigh the evidence, determine questions of
credibility, or make its own factual findings.”>*
I Analysis
A. The Board Erred in Dismissing the Claimant’s PI Petition.
We agree with Claimant that the Superior Court erred in affirming the Order because

there was no permanent impairment evidence presented to the Board prior to the dismissal

of his P1 Petition, and thus, the Board’s decision to deny that petition was unsupported. As

>! Powell v. OTAC, Inc., 2019 WL 6521980, at *4 (Del. Dec. 4, 2019) (quoting Roos Foods v.
Guardado, 152 A.3d 114, 118 (Del. 2016)).

52 Id
33 Id. (quoting Noel-Liszkiewicz v. La-Z-Boy, 68 A.3d 188, 191 (Del. 2013)).

> Id. (quoting Person-Gaines v. Pepco Hidgs., Inc., 981 A.2d 1159, 1161 (Del. 2009)) (internal
quotation marks omitted).

13



the TTD Petition and PI Petition address different issues, the Board erred in relying on
testimony from the TTD Petition as the sole basis for dismissing the PI Petition.
In its Order dismissing the PI Petition, the Board stated in the recitals:
WHEREAS, after a prior Hearing in this case on July 24, 2017, the Board
issued a decision dated August 7, 2017 in which it accepted Dr. Tadduni’s
testimony that the claimant had a normal left shoulder on examination and
that the claimant had “fully recovered” from the August 4, 2016 work
accident . . . .»
The Superior Court affirmed the Board’s decision, finding that the Board had reasonably
interpreted the TTD Opinion. The court found that substantial evidence supported
affirming the Order, because the Board could deduce from those statements that there was
no loss of use in his shoulder, and thus there was no permanent impairment. To support its
conclusion, the court also referred to Dr. Rinow’s statement that Claimant “was ‘100%’ by
June 23[,] 2017.7%¢
As an initial matter, we are not troubled that Dr. Tadduni’s testimony that Claimant
“fully recovered” is not contained in the “Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law” section
of the TTD Opinion.>” Tt is within the Board’s discretion to interpret its own rules and

orders so long as the interpretation is reasonable.’® “[A]lthough the reasoning of the Board

must be apparent, ‘where the testimony has been explained as part of the preface to the

55 Washington II, No. 1445577, App. to Opening Br. at A18.

8 Opinion, C.A. No. N18A-12-007, at 11, App. to Opening Br. at A16 (quoting App. to Opening
Br. at A47 (Rinow Dep. 10:1-3)).

37 The Board used similar terminology and found that Claimant’s shoulder was “normal” and
“returned to normal” based on Dr. Tadduni’s testimony. Washington I, No. 1445577, at 15, App.
to Opening Br. at A34.

58 Goldsborough v. New Castle Cnty., 2011 WL 51736, at *6 (Del. Super. Jan. 5, 2011).

14



findings of fact and law and where the Board’s decision contains the appropriate details
which led to its reasoning, this Court will not reverse simply because the Board did not
repeat those facts in its “Findings.”””>° Thus, the Board could look to the “fully recovered”
language and any other language in the decision to support its reasoning that Claimant did
not suffer from a permanent impairment.

However, we hold that it was error for the Board and the Superior Court to rule that
Claimant did not suffer from a permanent impairment based on the “fully recovered”
language in the TTD Opinion. Claims for compensation asserted in a TTD Petition and a
PI Petition differ in an important way. We have previously observed that, “[w]hether an
industrial accident caused temporary total disability or permanent partial disability are two
totally distinct questions.”® When a claimant petitions the Board for permanent
impairment compensation under Section 2326, “he or she has the burden of proving the

percentage of permanent impairment.”®! On the other hand, when a claimant petitions for

* Johnson v. E.I. Dupont de Nemours & Co., 2000 WL 33115805, at *3 (Del. Super. Oct. 4,
2000), aff'd, 768 A.2d 469 (Del. 2001) (quoting Justison v. Home Health Corp., 1999 WL 463702,
at *4 (Del. Super. May 19, 1999)).

® Betts v. Townsends, Inc., 765 A.2d 531, 535 (Del. 2000). Compensation for permanent injuries
under Section 2326 pertains to the compensation paid to a claimant for permanent physical
impairment, “regardless of earning power after the injury.” 19 Del. C. § 2326(a).

! Griffithv. Wachovia Corp., 2006 WL 1149162, at *3 (Del. Super. Mar. 9, 2006), aff’d, 907 A.2d
145 (Del. 2006); see also Jennings v. Avon Prods., 2013 WL 183738, at *2 (Del. Super. Jan. 4,
2013) (“When determining whether an employee has been permanently impaired, the JAB must
decide whether the employee suffered a permanent loss of use of a member or part of his body and
whether such loss of use was caused by a work accident.”). Further, “[tJhe IAB must determine
Joss of use based upon the employee’s ability to use that body part; loss of use represents that
degree of normal use which is beyond the employee’s ability or capability.” Id.

15



total disability compensation under Section 2324, the question is whether the claimant was
disabled from working for a period of time.

The question before the Board in the TTD Petition was whether Claimant had
suffered a recurrence of a total disability, and the experts testified in terms of whether
Claimant was able to return to work. Although there was some testimony that Claimant’s
shoulder injury was “fully recovered” and back to “normal” in the TTD hearing, that
testimony related to whether there had been a recurrence of total disability and whether
Claimant could return to work. The nature of the inquiry in the TTD hearing was not
whether, and to what degree, Claimant may have suffered from a permanent impairment.

DTC argues that the IAB is free to choose between conflicting medical opinions,
and it is the Board’s function to resolve conflicts in medical testimony. The problem with
DTC’s argument is that the Board never considered the expert testimony regarding the

degree of Claimant’s permanent impairment from the experts. Instead, it dismissed the PI

% See Griffith, 2006 WL 1149162, at *3 (“[W]here the employee claims she is entitled to benefits
Jor periods of total disability via § 2324, she is charged with proving that claim to the Board’s
satisfaction.” (emphasis added)); McMillan v. General Motors Corp., 1972 WL 122760, at *2
(Del. Super. Nov. 8, 1972) (remanding the case to determine if total disability benefits should be
awarded or denied over the period from 1966 to 1970). See also Huda v. Continental Can Co.,
265 A.2d 34, 36 (Del. 1970) (“It is now well established in this State that the degree of
compensable disability in a workmen’s compensation case depends upon the degree of impairment
of earning capacity; that an employee may be totally disabled economically, and within the
meaning of the Workmen’s Compensation Law, although only partially disabled physically.”
(citing Ham v. Chrysler Corp., 231 A.2d 258, 261 (Del. 1967))); Bigelow v. Sears, Roebuck & Co,
260 A.2d 906, 907 (Del. 1969) (holding that, total disability may be found “if the claimant’s
physical condition is such as to disqualify her from regular employment commensurate with her
qualifications and training” (citing M/4. Harmett, Inc. v. Coleman, 226 A.2d 910 (Del. 1967)));
Ernest DiSabatino & Sons, Inc. v. Apostolico, 269 A.2d 552, 553 (Del. 1970) (explaining that,
Section 2324 is “designed to reimburse an employee, at least in part, for loss of earnings,” whereas
under Section 2326, regardless of earning power, the employee is to be paid for bodily injury.).

16



Petition at the outset.%®> Thus, under these circumstances, we agree with the Claimant that
there is a lack of substantial evidence in the record to support a finding that Claimant does
not suffer from a permanent impairment.

B. Neither the Law of the Case Doctrine nor Res Judicata Bars Claimant’s
Petition for Permanent Impairment.

DTC argues both the law of the case doctrine and res judicata bar Claimant’s PI
Petition. We disagree. The law of the case “is established when a specific legal principle
is applied to an issue presented by facts which remain constant throughout the subsequent
course of the same litigation.”®* Tt is a “self-imposed restriction that prohibits courts from
revisiting issues previously decided, with the intent to promote ‘efficiency, finality,
stability and respect for the judicial system.””® The doctrine “presumes a hearing on the
merits and only applies to issues the court actually decided.”

Similarly, res judicata applies if “1) the court making the prior adjudication had
jurisdiction, 2) the parties in the present action are either the same parties or in privity with

the parties from the prior adjudication, 3) the cause of action [is] the same in both cases or

8 DTC argues that following the IAB’s dismissal of the PI Petition, the record was closed and that,
“Washington cannot rely on their testimony as a basis for his appeal.” Answering Br. at 18.
Although we quote above some of the expert testimony taken in anticipation of the permanent
impairment hearing, we give no specific weight to it as it was not considered in the proceedings
below. We merely hold here that the PI Petition was dismissed prematurely, and that Claimant
should be able to introduce his evidence of permanent impairment.

54 Kenton v. Kenton, 571 A.2d 778, 784 (Del. 1990).

8 State v. Wright, 131 A.3d 310, 321 (Del. 2016) (quoting Cede & Co. v. Technicolor, Inc., 884
A.2d 26, 39 (Del. 2005)).

% Jd. (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). See id. (noting also that “[c]ourts usually
require the issue to have been ‘fully briefed and squarely decided’ in the prior proceedings”
(quoting Hanover Ins. Co. v. Am. Eng’g Co., 105 F.3d 306, 312 (6th Cir. 1997))).
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the issues decided in the prior action [are] the same as those raised in the present case, 4)
the issues in the prior action [were] decided adversely to the plaintiff's contentions in the
instant case, and 5) the prior adjudication [was] final.”¢’

In order for either to apply, the previously resolved issue must be the same.
However, as explained above, Claimant’s claim for temporary total disability and his claim
for permanent impairment required examining different, albeit related, issues. Although
both parties retained experts in connection with the permanent impairment hearing, both
experts were deposed, and both testified that there was at least some measure of permanent
impairment, the Board never heard any evidence on the issue of permanent impairment.
Accordingly, the law of the case doctrine and res judicata do not apply here.

V. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, we REVERSE the decision below and REMAND this

matter to the Superior Court for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

87 Chavez v. David’s Bridal, 979 A.2d 1129, 1134 (Del. Super. 2008), aff’d, 950 A.2d 658 (Del.
2008); see also Betts, 765 A.2d at 535 (holding that res judicata was inapplicable to a claimant’s
permanent partial disability claim in connection with a knee injury where the IAB previously made
a determination on his temporary total disability claim for the knee injury, “[b]ecause the Board
was confronted with a different claim at each hearing.”).
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RICHARD R. COOCH, Resident Judge.
Dear Counsel:

Before this Court is an appea!l filed by Employer
Below/Appellant Nationwide Insurance Company
("Employer™) from a decision rendered by the
industrial Accident Board ("Board") on September
8, 2004, in favor of Claimant Below/Appellee
Linda Wolos ("Claimant"). That decision
dismissed Employer's Petition for Termination of
Benefits on the grounds that the petition was
precluded under an
Compensation,

Agreement as to
defined  Claimant's
compensable injury and was previously executed
by the parties. The issue is whether the Board
erred as a matter of law in deciding that
Employer's petition for termination was precluded
by the prior agreement between the parties. For
the reasons set forth below, the decision of the
Board is AFFIRMED.
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I. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL
HISTORY

During Claimant's employment as an insurance
adjuster for Employer, she developed a work-
related injury to her shoulder that required surgery
in September of 2001,' After the surgery, Claimant

was found to be suffering from an unrelated
connective tissue disorder, later determined to be
scleroderma, apparently an ultimately fatal
disease, which rendered Claimant totally disabled
and from which Claimant continues to be totally
disabled.> After the surgery on the shoulder,

Employer filed a Petition for Review on Febrnary
28, 2002,° arguing that Claimant's shoulder injury
had resolved and that Claimant was able to go
back to work. However, before the Board ruled on
the petition, the parties entered into an Agreement
as to Compensation, which was then approved by
the Board.* Essentially, the agreement was for
total disability benefits and reflected that both
parties found that, in addition to the shoulder
injury, the connective tissue disorder was a
compensable injury.

V' Bolos v Natiomwide Ins. Co., 1AB No.
1206368, at I (Sept. 8, 2004), Ex. E to
Appeltant’s Appendix.

2 id. at 1-2. There appears to be some
dispute between the parties as to when
Claimant was first diagnosed with
scerloderma. While Employer alleges that
Claimant was diagnc;sed with the disease
before the shoulder surgery, Claimant
maintains that the diagnosis occurred after
the surgery. As the Board determined that "

[s]ubsequent to the surgery, Claimant was
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determined to be suffering from a
connective tissue disorder,” this Court
holds that finding to be conclusive. /d. at 1.
However, it docs appear from the record
that Claimant may have displayed
symptoms of a connective tissue disordex
prior to the shoulder surgery. See Wolos v.
Nationwide Ins. Co., 1AB No, 1206368, at
2 (Juue 17, 2004), BEx. G to Appellee's
Appeudix ("Following [shoulder] surgery
Claimant exhibited symptoms that were
ultimately diagnosed as a connective tissue
disorder, an undetlying condition that had
been present before the surgery."). This
distinction, in the end, makes litile
difference as Employer expressly agreed
that the connective tissue disorder was
compensable in the compensation

agreement,

w

Ex. B to Appellec's Appendix.

.

The Board specifically found that the
"Agreement, signed by the parties, was
received in thc‘ Office of Workers'
Compensation on June 1, 2004, and was
approved by mid-July 2004. The actual
signatures of the parties do not bear a date,
s0 it is unknown when they were signed.”
Wolos, IAB No. 1206368, at 2 n. 4 (Sept. 8,
2004).

On Febrnary 12, 2004, Employer filed a Petition
to Review seeking to terminate Claimant's total
disability benefits on the basis that "Claimant's
pre-existing condition [i.e. the connective tissue
disorder], having been first accelerated by the
work-injury-refated surgery, has now progressed
to a level it would have achieved by this date in
the natural course of the condition despite the
acceleration.”® Claimant then filed a motion to
dismiss on the grounds that "the impetus for the
Petition to Review is a change of the defense
medical expert's opinion on causation . . . [which]
is legally insufficient to sustain a petition to
terminate.”® However, the Board denied
Claimant's motion to dismiss to allow Employer's

medical experts to testify because the Board could
not "say with certainty that there are no facts

[Employet] could introduce to merit termination.”’

3 olos v Natiomvide Ins. Co., IAB No.
1206368, at 2 (June 17, 2004) (denying
claimant's motion to dismiss employers
petition to review to give time to allow
employes's medical expert to be deposed),
Ex. G to Appellee’s Appendix.

6 jd. atl.

7 Id a7,

Employer then filed a Petition to Terminate
Benefits, which is the subject of this appeal, with
the Board on the grounds that the Employer "did
not accept responsibility for the connective tissue
disorder, but only acknowledged that the
{shoulder] surgery caused an ‘acceleration' of the
disorder."® Claimant moved to dismiss Employer's
petition on the grounds that Employer "accepted
the compensability of the entire connective
disorder and not just a transient acceleration of
that disorder." Thus, the dispute, as the Board
described it, "restfed] in the characterization of
what [Employer] acknowledged as being the
compensable injury.'® Employer argued before the
Board, in connection with Claimant's motion to
dismiss Employer’s petition to terminate benefits,
that Claimant's then-condition was the same as it
would have been had she not had the shoulder
surgery; thus, "the effects of the compensable
acceleration have ‘terminated’ even though
Claimant's medical condition itself has not
improved."'! Claimant, on the other hand, and in
support of her motion to dismiss the petition,
relied upon the agreement previously executed by
the parties, which showed that Employer had
accepted the entire connective tissue disorder as a
compensable injury, not merely an "acceleration”
of the disease.'?

8 Wolos v Natiomwvide Ins. Co., 1AB No.
1206368, at 2 (Sept. 8, 2004).

9 1d.
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10 Id
1 g,

12 1q

The Board, in rendering its decision on Claimant's
Motion to Dismiss on September 8; 2004, framed-
the issue well:

[Wihat is the "accepted disorder! in this

case? If the "accepted disorder” was only
an aggravation of Claimant's connective
tissue disorder, then [Bwployer] can
legitimately proceed on its argument that
the aggravation had ended. On the other
hand, if the "accepted disorder” is the
connective tissue disorder itself, then
{Employer's] petition must fall because it
has no evidence that that disorder has
ended or that the disability from that
disorder has ceased.™

I3 The term “accepted disorder” was initiaily
used by the Board in Wolos v Nationwide
Ins. Co., 1AB No., 1206368 (June 17,
2004), to describe the injuries that were
recognized by both parties in the
Agreement as to Compensation as causing
Claimant's total disabitity.

14 Wolos v. Nationwide Ins. Co., IAB No.
1206368, at 6 (Sept. 8, 2004),

Ultimately, the Board agreed with Claimant and
found as a matter of law that "the Agreement is
. . . [and that] [Employer]
accepted Claimant's entire connective tissue
disorder as being compensable."'* The Board
found that "the ‘accepted disorder’ mmst be that
specifically listed on the Agreement as to
Compensation . . . fwhich] lists the nature of the
injury as “connective tissue disorder,' not just an
aggravation thereof."'® The Board also found that
Employer "had the ability and opportunity on the
Agreement to limit compensability to an
aggravation of a pre-existing disorder and it did
not."'7 The Board firther recognized the "final and

plain on its face

casetext
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binding" nature of such an agreement once it is
approved by the Board and that because "both
parties are on notice as to the legal ramifications
of the documents . . . the Board does not find it
unreasonable to expect parties to complete such
documents carefully . . . fand] to hold pazties to
the expressed [sic] terms of those agreements.”'®
The Board also noted that although causation
issues had been brought im previous, unrelated
cases, in which the Board had expressed concems
as to causation, "those concerns were unavailing
because the agreement of the parties was
considered ‘final and binding.™'® Finally, as the
Board found that Claimant remained totally
disabled because of the connective tissue disorder
(2 compensable injury under the compensation
agreement), and that Employer did not dispute that
it could not prove that Claimant's entire disorder
had terminated or diminished, the Board dismissed
Employer's petition to terminate.?

15 1d at7.
16 14 até.
T
18 17
19 12

20 g

II. CONTENTIONS
PARTIES

OF THE

Employer argues that the Board erred as a matter
of law by focusing solely on the compensation
agreement instead of considering whether
Claimant’s "present day disability is related to the
pre-existing and progressive connective tissue
disorder rather than the work
acceleration."?! Essentially, Employer atgues that

related

because Claimant "had a pre-existing symptomatic
connective tigsue disorder that was not related o
her work duties|,] . . . [which] was aggravated by
the surgery performed to address her shoulder[,]"
then Employer is responsible only for the




Nationwide Insurance Co. v. Woles  C.A. No. 04A-10-001 RRC (Del. Super. Ct. Aug. 23, 2006)

acceleration of the underlying condition,”
Employer also argues that "[a]t the time the
injured worker's disability is no longer due to the
acceleration, but to the underlying condition[,}”
the liability of the Employer must cease.®

21" Employer's Op. Br. 17.
2 id at 10,

23 4,

Moreover, Bmployer contends that the
compensation agreement, which indicates that the
compensable injury includes "connective tissue
disordet,” should not have controlled the Board's
decision because the doctrine of collateral estoppel
does not apply in this situation.2* Employer asserts
that the "issues presented are not identical to those
in existence at the time the Agreement for
Compensation was executed[,]" thus precluding
the application of collateral estoppel to bar
Employer's petition.”® Employer maintains that at
the time the agreement was executed the issue was
"whether [Claimant] was then disabled due to the
effects of the work accident," whereas here, the
issue is "whether the effects of the work-related
acceleration of her condition continue to be a
factor in [Claimant's] present-day disability."?
Employer alleges that the Board abrogated its
statutory duty to modify the compensation
agreement "by forcing the Employer to accept . . .
all liability for any condition ever deemed or
found to {be] a part of the work accident."*” From
a policy standpoint, Employer contends that the
"Board essentially held that it will never consider
whether an injured worket's disability continues to
be the product of the work accident as to any
condition listed on the agreement."

24 14 at13.
ra
26y,
27 14 at 16,

28 fd at 11,
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In response, Claimant argues that the Board did
not err in dismissing Employet's petition as it was
barred by the compensation agreement that was
executed by both parties and determined an issue
already "voluntarily acknowledged by [Employer]
and judicially accepted by the Board."® Claimant
contends that "where an agreement, approved by
the Board, has accepted 'an injury as work-related,
the Board may “not revisit this causation issue on
employer's petition to terminate,”™’ Claimant also
argues that because the parties entered into an
agreement as to compensation that specifically
identified "connective tissue disorder" as a
compensable injury, which was then approved by
the Board, "the Board is precluded from

considering the issue of causation."!

2% Claimant's Ans. Br. 8.
30 14, at 9 (citations omitted).

3 gd at il

ITI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Delaware Supreme Coutt and this Court have
repeatedly emphasized the limited appellate
review of the factual findings of an administrative
agency. The function of the reviewing Court is to
determine whether the agency's decision is
supported by substantial evidence.”” Substantial
evidence means such relevant evidence as a
reasonable mind might accept as adequate to
support a conclusion.”® The appellate court does
not weigh the evidence, determine questions of
credibility, or make its own factual findings.> The
reviewing Court must view the facts in a light
most favorable to the party prevailing below;
therefore, it merely determines if the evidence is
legally adequate to support the agency's factual
findings.*® Findings of fact made by the Board
will be upheld unless the record does not contain
proof to support such factual findings.”’ Finally, as
here, where the issue involves an alleged error of
law on the part of the Board, this Court's review is

de novo. 3
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32 General Motors Corp. v. Freeman, 164
A.2d 686, 683 (Del. 1960); Johuson v.
Chrysler Corp., 213 A2d 64, 66-67
(Del.Super.Ct. 1965).

33 Oceanport Ind. v. Wilmington Stevedores,
636 A.2d 892, 899 (Del. 1994); Batrisia v.
Chiysier Corp., 517 A2d 295, 297
(DeL.Super.Ct. 1986), appeal dismissed,
515 A.2d 397 (1986).

34 Johnson, 213 A.2d at 66.

35 Chudnofsky v. Edwards, 208 A.2d 516, 518
(Del, 1965).

36 29 Del. C. § 10142(d).
37 Johusen, 213 A.2d at 67.

38 Brooks v Johmson, 560 A.2d 1001, 1002
(Del. 1989) {citing Nardo v. Nardo, 205
A.2d 905 (Del. 1965)).

IV. DISCUSSION

The instant issue is whether the Board erred as a
matter of law by dismissing Employer’s petition to
tetrninate as being precluded by the executed
compensation agreement. The answer to that
question will depend on whether the injury that
was the subject of the compensation agreement
has  "subsequently terminated, increased,
diminished or recurred . . ."*® As this is a matter of
law, the Board's application of the relevant law
will be reviewed de novo.

39 19 Del. C. § 2347(a).

Delaware law provides a mechanism for parties
engaged in workers' compensation litigation to
reach an agreement as to compensation prior to
and in lieu of an award given by the Board. 19
Del. C. § 2344(a) provides that "[i]f the employer
and the injured employee . . . reach an agreement
in regard to compensation . . . and if [it is]
approved by [the Department of Labor], [it] shall
be final and binding unless medified as provided
in § 2347 of this title.™? These agreements have

= casetext

been held to have preclusive effect by prohibiting
a party from later asking the Board to review the
correctness of the agreement as to causation.”'

40 See also 8 Arthur Larson Lex K. Larson,
Larson's Workers' Compensation Law §
132.06(2) (2004) ("If the settlement [as to
compensation) is approved, it takes on the
quality of an award, and the parties can no
inore back out of it than any other kind of

award."),

4

Whalen v. Stale, 1994 WL 636945
(Del.Supet.) (holding that the Board erred
as a matter of law by reviewing " de nova”
issues relating to an injury that had been
addressed in a prior agreement as to
compensation and approved by the board).
See ulso Elliot v. Salisbury Coca-Cola,
1996 WL 453340, * 4 (Del.Super)
{holding that a prior agrcement had res
Judicata effect on the issue of causation in
a subsequent petition as the "causation

issue. . . is separate [any] § 2347 issues”),

As noted above, such an agreement as fo
compensation may be amended, in certain limited
situations. The relevant statute for review and
modification of an agreement is 19 Del. C. §
2347(a), which provides that "[o]n the application
of any party in interest on the ground that the
incapacity of the injured employee has
subsequently terminated, increased, diminished or
recutred . . . the Board may at any time . . . review
any agreement or award."

However, a balance must be struck between the
sanctity of the agreement entered into by the
parties and the Board's potential statutory ability
to modify such an agreement. The preclusive
effect of an agreement fo compensate does not
apply "[wlhere the Board is asked to reconsider
the incapacity . . . of a claimant based on one of
these specifically delineated changes in
circumstances [found in § 2347(2).]" Thus,
where there is an alleged claim by an employer of
a change in the incapacity of the claimant, the
Board may revisit, among other potential issues,




7

&

Nationwide Insurance Co. v. Wolos

the problem of causation. However, the preclusive

effect of a compensation agreement bars a future
attack on the correctness of the prior agreement as
to compensation, unless the agreement is in some
other way void.** Thus, causation may not be

reconsidered in that situation. The sole footnote in

Beits is helpful for analysis here:

42 Betts v Townsends, ne., 165 A.2d 531, 534
(Del. 2000) (affiming Superior Court's
refusal to hold that Board's prior decision
prevented Board from revisiting issuc of
causation because the issues in the
respective board hearings were distinet).
See also Harris v. Chyysler Corp., 1588
WL 44783, * 1 {Del.Supr) (holding that
the law is clear that “the doctrine of res
Judicata is not a bar to the Board's exercise
of its authority conferred by 19 Del. C. §
2347 to review, modify or terminate
previous awards {or agreements] upon

proof of subsequent change of condition").

4

e

Beits, at 534 (citing JTaylor w Hatzel
Buehler, 258 A.2d 905, 908 (Del. 1969) ("
[Alwards of compensation boards are
generatly held to be res judicata and, thus,
immune from coliateral attack, except
where the award for some reason is
void.")). See also 82 AmJur.2d Workers'
Compensation § 512 (2003) ("A scitlement
of a compensation claim which has been
approved . . . operates as an adjudication of
the facts agreed upon in the settlement, . . .
has the same force and effect as an award
made after a full hearing, and thus the
matter may not be later reopened absent . .
. a change in the employee's physical
condition . . . and is res judicata as to the
emplayer's obligation to pay

compensation.”).

casetext

C.A. No. 04A-10-001 RRC (Del. Super. Ct. Aug. 23, 2006)

[STuppose the Board found that a claimant
was involved in an industrial accident that
disability.
Subsequéntly, the employer seeks to

caused permanent partial
terminate benefits on the basis that the
claimant is no longer permanently
disabled. In that case, res judicata would
prevent the Board from revisiting the issue
of causation. Under § 2347, however, the
Board wonld be free to reconsider whether
the claimant
partially disabled because it has statutory
authority to determine if the incapacity of

remained  permanently

the  employee  has
terminated.*

subsequently

44 14 at534n*

Such an example is closely on point with the case
at bar. Here, the patties executed a compensation
agreement that, as the Board found, specifically
included "connective tissue disorder” in the nature
of the accepted injury. Now, Employer seeks to
modify the agreement and terminate benefits on
the grounds that the "acceleration” of the disease
attributable to the shoulder surgery has ended,
even though the connective tissue disorder itself
has not terminated.

However, to invoke the modification powers of
the Board in § 2347, Employer must show, among
things, that the compensable injury
recognized in the agreement has terminated, or
otherwise changed, The Board found that
compensability of
Claimant's entire connective tissue disorder[,]"
because that disease was expressly listed in the

other

Employer “accepted the

executed compensation agreement.” The Board
also found that Employer "does not dispute that it
currently has no evidence to prove" that
Claimant's incapacity has either terminated or
decreased.*® There is no argument from either
party that these findings are incorrect or not
supported by substantial evidence. Thus, they are

binding on this Coutt.
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45 Wolos v. Nationwide Ins. Co., 1AB No.
1206368, at 7 (Sept. 8, 2004).

46 14

Employer's reliance on two cases from this Court,
Atkinson v. Delaware Curative Workshop *7 and
Floyd v. Atlantic Aviation,”® to demonsirate that
the prior agreement does not preclude Employer's
Petition to Terminate Benefits is misplaced.
Employer relies on Atkinson for the proposition
that "because the Board always has the statutory
authority to review any agreement or award, “the
doctrine of collateral estoppel does not apply."*
However, such an expansive reading of § 2347
and Atkinson is not warranted. The statute limits
the Board's ability to review and modify an
agreement to a set of "specifically delineated
changes in citcumstances" where the incapacity of
the claimant has "subsequently terminated,
increased, diminished or recurred . . ." Thus, to
say that the Board "always" has the ability, under
the statute, to review an agreement overstates the
anthority of the Board. Moreover, Atkinson
recognized that the claimant's incapacity had
“increased or recurred,” thus, giving the Board the
ability, under those specific facts, to review and
modify the prior award given by the Board.’® In
this case, unlike in Arkinson, the Board found that
there was no dispute that Claimant's condition, as
it relates to the entire connective tissue disorder,
had changed. Therefore, Atkinson is inapposite to
the case at bar.

47 2001 WL 38787 (Del.Super.) (holding that
collateral estoppel did not bar review of a
prior award of the Board where the issues
presented at each respeclive hearing were
not identical as claimant's incapacity had
increased since the time of the prior

award).

48 1999 WL 33217938 (Del.Super.) (holding
that the Board could review a prior award
where certain "intervening factors" had
caused a change in the circumstances of

claimant's incapacity).

& casetext

49 Employer's Op. Br. 12 (citing Atkinson, at
* 3.4 (citing 19 Del. C. § 2347)).

50 2001 W1 38787, at * 3.

Likewise, Floyd is distinguishable from the instant
case based on t_hé facts. Employer relies on Floyd
for the theory that the Board may review the
causation issue if the employer could show the
presence of intervening factors that were the
source of the claimant's present condition.”
However, the Floyd court only allowed such a
modification to occur if the incapacity recognized
in the prior award given by the Board had
changed. This is consistent with the plain
language of § 2347, which requires a change in the
claimant's incapacity to trigger the Board's power
to modify. The Floyd cowrt recognized such a
change in incapacity and thus, allowed the Board's
decision that modified the initial award to stand.>
Therefore, as here, unlike Floyd, there is no
evidence to indicate that Claimant's accepted
incapacity has changed. Floyd is inapplicable to
the facts before this Court.

51 Employer's Op. Br. 14-15.
52 1999 WL 33217938, at * 3.

53 14

Based on the findings of the Board, the issue is
whether the Board erred in dismissing Employer's
petition based on the preclusive effect of the
compensation agreement. The holding of Betts and
the plain language of § 2347, contrary to the
suggestion of Employer, will only allow the Board
to review a prior agreement if the incapacity is
“subsequently terminated, increased, diminished
or recurred . . . There has been no such showing
here. Although the Employer argued before the
Board that the acceleration of the disorder that
resulted from the surgery has terminated (and
Employer may be correct), "aggravation” or the
"accelerative effect”™ of the connective tissue
disorder is not recognized as the compensable
injury in the compensation agreement; instead, as
shown by the plain language of the agreement, the
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compensable injury is the eutive disorder. The
agreement has the same integrity as a decision of
the Board itself and the Employer cannot now
"back out of it,"> especially in light of the fact
that there is no dispute that the circumstances of
Claimant's incapacity have not changed. As the
Board noted, Employer had the ability and
opportunity on the [Board-approved
Compensation] Agreement to limit compensability
to an aggravation of a pre-existing disorder and it
did not."™® Thus, the Board did not etr in
dismissing Employer's petition based on the
preclusive effect of the agreement as to
compensation.

54 See Employer's Op. Br, at 10, 17,
55 $ee Larson's, at § 132.06(2).

38 Wolos v. Nationwide Ins. Co., TAB No.
1206368, at 7 (Sept. 8, 2004).

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the decision of the
Industrial Accident Board is AFFIRMED,

2
@ casetext
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Dawn Peer v. State of Delaware
C.A. No. K20A-02-001 WLW
October 29, 2020

Before the Court is an appeal of a decision from the Industrial Accident Board
(hereafter “IAB”) dated January 15, 2020, brought by the Claimant Below, Dawn
Peer (hereafter “Peer”). Peer seeks a reversal of the IAB's decision because the
decision was an error as a matter of law. The State of Delaware (hereafter “the
Employer”) responded that the January 15, 2020, decision is simply upholding what
the IAB has already determined. Both parties have filed their briefs, and, based on
the record of the case, arguments presented, and the statutory and case law of the
State of Delaware, this Court AFFIRMS the IAB decision of January 25, 2020.

Facts and Procedure of the Case

This appeal was triggered by two separate IAB decisions, one finding that Peer
did suffer a work-related injury and the other requiring Peer to sign a Receipt of
Compensation Received. On April 17, 2019, Peer suffered injuries to her head,
shoulder, neck, and lower back as a result of a rear-end collision while she operated
a bus as an employee of the State of Delaware. These injuries were found to be
compensable by the IAB on October 9, 2019. The decision granted Peer temporary
total disability benefits from April 17,2019, to June 25, 2019, and further noted that
the injuries had resolved by June 25, 2019.

Following the October hearing, the Employer sent to Peer an Agreement as to
Compensation and a Receipt of Compensation Paid. The agreement was a reflection
of the IAB's October decision, and the receipt was an acknowledgment of benefits
paid by Employer to Peer as required by 19 Del. C. § 2344. The receipt included

language that reflected the IAB's October decision, stating “per board order of
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10/9/19 the claimant's injuries 'resolved' by June 25, 2019.”' Peer signed the
Agreement and the Receipt but crossed out the additional language on the receipt
pertaining to the injuries being resolved. Employer requested another IAB hearing
as a result of this action by Peer. That hearing commenced on January 15, 2020.
During this hearing, counsel for the Employer presented to the IAB the prior decision
that stated Peer’s injuries resolved as of June 25, 2019.2 As a result of that hearing,
the IAB affirmed their initial decision's finding that Peer did suffer compensable
injuries as a result of the work related accident and that those injuries were “resolved
as of June 25, 2019.”° Peer now seeks to appeal the January 15, 2020, IAB decision.
Standard of Review

Reviews of IAB decisions by the Superior Court involve determining whether
the decisions are based on substantial evidence to support the findings and whether
the decisions are based on legal error.* Substantial evidence is that which a
“reasonable mind might accept as adequate.” Such evidence does not rise to the
level of preponderance of the evidence, but it is more than a mere scintilla of
evidence.® Conversely, the Superior Court has much more authority when measuring

the decisions of the IAB based on legal determinations, and when such decisions are

'Cl's Br. at 3.

’Peer v. State of Delaware, IAB Hearing No. 1485010, Tr. 3:11 - 25, (Jan. 15, 2020)
*Peer v. State of Delaware, IAB Hearing No. 1485010 (Jan. 15, 2020).

‘Christiana Care Health Services v. Davis, 127 A. 3d 391 at 395 (Del. 2015).

°ld.

°ld.
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made in error, the Superior Court reviews thém de novo.”
Arguments of the Parties

Peer’s argument that the IAB’s January 15, 2020, decision was an error as a
matter of law pointed to assertions that it served to nullify its own October 9, 2019,
decision; the “resolved” language on the receipt was unnecessary to comport to the
October 9, 2019, decision; it awarded the Employer a greater award than what was
granted in the October 9, 2019, decision by granting a commutation of benefits; and
that the January 15, 2020, decision was against public policy.

Peer stated that the IAB’s January 15, 2020, decision ordering Peer to sign the
receipt with the “resolved” language ultimately barred her from filing any future
claims under 19 Del. C. § 2347. Relying on a string of case law, Peer claimed that
the receipt with the “resolved” language acted to preclude future claims to benefits
in the same manner as 1) a settlement agreement that stated the claimant has “fully

298

recovered,” 2) an agreement where the claimant agrees to free the employer of any

future liability,” and 3) where a negotiated agreement set a date certain cutting off

1d.

$Washington v. Delaware Transit Corp.,226 A.3d 202 (Del. 2020). (A decision where the Claimant
was precluded from filing a Petition for Permanent Impairment based on expert testimony given
during a hearing about Claimant’s total temporary disability.)

’Chavez v. David's Bridal, 979 A. 2d 1129 (Del. Super. Jan. 10, 2008). (A decision where the
Claimant agreed to waive their right to petition for future claims to benefits under § 2347 when
Claimant freed employer from future liability.)
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future claims to benefits past that date. '

Peer then stated that inclusion of the “resolved” language on the receipt was
unnecessary because the IAB’s decision of October 9, 2019, was self-executing and
not dependent on the receipt including the “resolved” language. Peer stated that the
purpose of the receipt is merely to acknowledge that the Employer has paid benefits,
that the disability has ceased, and does not release the employer from future liability.

Peer further stated that signing the receipt with the “resolved” language would
effectively be a termination of her claim in the same manner as a commutation. Peer
claimed that the “resolved” language could be interpreted as a waiver of her right to
petition under § 2347 for future benefits and thus constitute an award to the Employer
a commutation.

Finally, Peer pointed to the public policy behind the Workers’ Compensation
Act (hereafter “the WCA™), and asserted that affirming the January 15, 2020, IAB
decision would undermine the WCA. The WCA'’s purpose is to provide protection
to injured employees, and affirming the JAB’s decision would effectively strip Peer
of those protections.

The Employer’s argument is 1) that this appeal of the January 25, 2020, IAB
decision is really an attempt to appeal the October 9, 2019, decision and the time to
do that has passed and 2) that the receipt with the “resolved” language simply reflects
what the IAB stated in its October 9, 2019, decision. The Employer stated that this

is not an attempt to garner more than what was already awarded by the IAB nor does

“Davis, 127 A. 3d 391 (Del. 2015). (A decision where the parties negotiated without any
involvement by the IAB to preclude future claims to benefits past February 27, 2013.)

5
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the receipt with the “resolved” language act in any of the ways Peer cited from case
law.
Discussion and Analysis

Peer's argument relied on three key cases pertaining to worker's compensation
statutes and when claims to future compensation can be sought. However, Peer's
interpretation of these cases is misplaced.

First, Peer relied on Washington v. Delaware Transit Corp. to draw a parallel
between that case and the present case. In Washington, an IAB decision to dismiss
a claimant's petition for permanent impairment was reversed by the Delaware
Supreme Court. Peer asserted that this reversal was due to error on the part of the
IAB “in dismissing the claimant's petition” on the basis that the prior decision by the
IAB determined that the “claimant had 'fully recovered'.”"! However, this is not what
prompted the reversal. The reversal was due to the IAB's reliance on expert
testimony in the total temporary disability (TTD) hearing to dismiss the permanent
impairment petition despite the fact that the expert testimony of the TTD hearing
could not satisfy the substantial evidence rule in dismissing the permanent
impairment petition.'” The expert testimony in the TTD hearing used to dismiss the
permanent impairment hearing was “in terms of whether Claimant was able to return

99

to work” and not “testimony regarding the degree of Claimant's permanent

""Cl.'s Opening Br. at 11.
"*Washington v. Delaware Transit Corp., 226 A. 3d 202 at 211 - 12 (Del. 2020).
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impairment.”" In short, the reversal was not caused by basing the IAB's dismissal on
the “fully recovered” language, but on the fact that the dismissal was based on expert
testimony that was inapposite to the question of whether there was a permanent
impairment.

Second, Peer looked to Chavez v. David's Bridal to conclude that resolution
language of a settlement agreement in a worker's compensation case can serve as a
waiver to any future claims to compensation. Again, Peer misconstrued this case by
asserting that it stands for res judicata applying to petitions for future compensation
when settlement agreements include “fully recovered” and “resolved” language. In
Chavez, the determination that the settlement agreement served as a waiver was based
on the fact that the settlement agreement contained language that freed the employer
from any future claims to compensation. The right to petition for adjustments to
compensation is statutorily enshrined in 19 Del. C. § 2347; however, “[w]here a
settlement agreement frees an employer of responsibility for an injury...the Court
holds that that provision of the settlement agreement operates as res judicata, and
precludes the Board from reviewing whether additional compensation for that injury
is necessary.”" The determinative factor is that the language explicitly frees the
employer from future liability, not that the language suggests that the injuries have
resolved.

Finally, Peer's reliance on Christiana Care Health Services v. Davis also

¥ld. at 212.
"“Chavez v. David’s Bridal, 979 A. 2d 1129 at 1135 (Del. Super. Jan. 10, 2008).
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misconstrued the holding in that case. The issue in Davis was not that the ruling
precluded claims to any future compensation, but, rather, that any future claims to
compensation would not go beyond the date determined to be the date of resolution
of the injury. “That agreement was neither an admission of liability on Christiana
Care's part nor a commutation of benefits. Rather, the settlement agreement that
Davis's counsel negotiated and he signed was an acknowledgement that any back
injury Davis suffered as a result of the fall was resolved and that his claims against
Christiana Care were limited to those of outstanding medical treatment incurred
before February 27, 2013.”"

Peer also asserted that the “purpose of a Receipt (sic) is to acknowledge that
benefits have been paid by the employer.”'® The receipt further serves as the “prima
facie evidence that the disability of the employee has ceased for any given time period
(not that the injury has completely 'resolved').!” Peer correctly argued that “the
receipt is not a release of the liability of the employer or insurance carrier.”"® This is
correct and is supported by Kenol v. Johnny Janosik, Inc., where the Superior Court
for New Castle County stated such orders to sign “simply require[] Employee to sign
a receipt for payments received pursuant to a preexisting agreement for a closed

period of disability. It does not address the merits of Employee's claim, much less

*Davis, 127 A. 3d at 396.
*Cl.'s Opening Br. at 13.
YId.

*Id.
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‘create rulings that fix the nature and scope of the [Employee's] injuries.”"

The IAB decision of October 9, 2019, determined that the work-related injury
suffered by Peer warranted an award of compensation from April 17, 2019, to June
25,2019, It stated that the injuries incurred by Peer resolved on June 25,2019, and
the IAB based this conclusion on the testimony of expert witnesses as well as
physical evidence in the form of surveillance video footage showing that Peer was not
conducting herself in a manner consistent with someone continuing to suffer from the
injuries she claimed beyond June 25, 2019. This Court finds that the IAB's October
9, 2019, decision was based on substantial evidence and supported by appropriate
application of law. Further, this Court finds that the IAB was correct in requiring
Peer sign the receipt as presented by the Employer with the included “resolved”
language.

Conclusion

Wherefore, due to the reasons stated above, this Court AFFIRMS the J anuary
15,2020, decision of the Industrial Accident Board compelling Claimant-Appellant
to sign the Receipt for Compensation Paid stating that the injuries caused by a work
related accident on April 17,2019, resolved on June 25,2019, reiterating the October
9, 2019, decision of the Industrial Accident Board.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

(s/ William L. Witham, Jr.
Resident Judge

"*Kenol v. Johnny Janosik, Inc., 2011 WL 900588 at *3 (Del. Super. Mar. 15, 2011).
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Before SEITZ, Chief Justice; TRAYNOR and MONTGOMERY-REEVES, Justices.
ORDER

In this appeal, Dawn Peer challenges the Delaware Industrial Accident
Board’s (the “IAB”) January 15, 2020 decision, which required that she sign a
receipt of compensation that included language mirroring the IAB’s finding in its
October 9, 2019 decision that her injury had resolved. She contends that signing a
receipt with the “resolved” language would preclude her from bringing future claims
under 19 Del. C. § 2347 or impose a de facto commutation agreement. We
disagree. As the Superior Court held, the receipt with the “resolved” language
simply reflects what the IAB stated in its October 9, 2019 decision. The receipt is

not a waiver of rights granted under Section 2347, and it does not hinder Peer’s



ability to bring future Section 2347 claims. Similarly, nothing in the language of the
receipt, the IAB’s decisions, or the record triggers commutation under 19 Del. C. §
2358. Thus, the judgment of the Superior Court is affirmed on the basis of and for
the reasons stated in its October 29, 2020 Order.
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED that the judgment of the Superior Court is
AFFIRMED.
BY THE COURT:

/s/ Tamika R. Montgomery-Reeves
Justice
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Lvnn A. Kelly

Lynn A. Kelly is a Deputy Attorney General in the State of Delaware Department of Justice. Lynn
has been with the Department of Justice in various roles since 2013. Prior to serving with the
Department of Justice, Lynn was an associate at a Wilmington, Delaware insurance defense firm
where she provided representation to insurance carriers in personal injury matters. Lynn has also
been an associate in a personal injury firm in Wilmington, Delaware where she represented injured
clients.

Lynn is a member of the Delaware Bar, Maryland Bar and the Federal District Court for the District
of Delaware. She is also a member of the Randy J. Holland Delaware Workers’ Compensation
American Inn of Court.



Nicholas M. Kraver

Nicholas M. Krayer is a founding partner of Pratcher Krayer LLC where he practices in the areas
of personal injury and workers’ compensation law. Nick is a Delawarean through and through.
He was born in Wilmington, Delaware and attended St. Elizabeth High School. Subsequently
Nick attended the University of Delaware then Widener University School of Law in Wilmington,
Delaware. In law school, Nick served as a law clerk for the Delaware Department of Justice and
received the pro bono distinction for his volunteer legal work.

When Nick graduated law school, he served as a Deputy Attorney General at the State of Delaware
Department of Justice where he prosecuted criminal cases and also served as a Deputy Child
Advocate for the State of Delaware Office of the Child Advocate where he provided representation
for dependent, neglected and abused children.

Nick left his position at the State of Delaware to join a Wilmington, Delaware insurance defense
firm where he provided representation to insurance carriers in personal injury and workers’
compensation matters. During this time Nick learned how insurance companies defend against
personal injury and workers’ compensation cases. Prior to founding Pratcher Krayer LLC, Nick
was a partner at another personal injury and workers’ compensation firm in Wilmington, Delaware
where he represented injured clients.

Nick is a member of the Delaware Bar and the Federal District Court for the District of Delaware.
He is also a member of the Delaware State Bar Association Workers” Compensation Section and
Torts Section, the Randy J. Holland Delaware Workers” Compensation American Inn of Court and
the American Association for Justice. Nick is a part president of the Delaware Trial Lawyers’
Association where he continues to serve on the board of directors.
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*OF COUNSEL

Scott A. Simpson is a Director in our firm and part of the Workers’ Compensation Defense
Department. He was admitted to practice in Delaware in 1997. He is a graduate of the University
of Delaware (B. A., 1989) and Widener University School of Law (J. D., 1996). Scott is a member
of the Delaware State Bar Association and the Randy J. Holland Delaware Workers’
Compensation Inn of Court.



WORKERS’ COMPENSATION FUND REIMBURSEMENT ISSUES

(By Lynn Kelly, Esq., Nicholas M. Krayer, Esq., and Scott A. Simpson, Esq.)

L.

Relevant statutory provisions:

§ 2395. Workers’ Compensation Fund: payments by insurance carriers.

(a) Every insurance carrier insuring employers who are or may be liable under this
chapter to pay for compensation for personal injuries to or death of their employees under
this chapter shall pay to the Department annually, on or before March 1 and October 1 of
each year, a sum not to exceed 1 percent at each date on all workers’ compensation or
employer liability premiums received by the carrier during the calendar year next
preceding the due date of such payment.

(b) Such sums shall be paid by the Department to the State Treasurer, to be deposited in a
special account known as “Workers’ Compensation Fund.” Such sums shall not be a part
of the General Fund of the State. Any balance remaining in such special account at the
end of any fiscal year shall not revert to the General Fund.

(c) The amounts paid under this section shall constitute an element of loss for the purpose
of establishing workers’ compensation premium rates.

(d) Should the Department subsequently determine that the amounts assessed are
insufficient to meet the Fund’s obligations during a calendar year, it may assess insurance
carriers to cover any anticipated deficiency, based upon the allocations for that calendar
year as determined pursuant to subsection (a) of this section.

(e) Should the Department subsequently determine that the amounts assessed are
sufficient to meet the Fund’s obligations during a calendar year, it shall not assess
insurance carriers until a deficiency is projected based upon the anticipated expenditures
for the next calendar year as determined pursuant to subsection (a) of this section.

§ 2396. Workers’ Compensation Fund: reimbursement of carriers.

(a) The Workers’ Compensation Fund is created for the purpose of making payments
under §2327, §2334, or §2347 of this title by any insurance carrier.

(b) The Department shall perform the administrative, ministerial, fiscal and clerical
functions of the Workers’ Compensation Fund. The Fund shall be a party to and shall be
represented by a Deputy Attorney General in any proceeding involving possible
reimbursement to or from the Fund, and if the decision is against the Fund, the Fund may
secure judicial review thereof by commencing an action in Superior Court in the county
in which the hearing was held. Any expenses incurred in defense of the Fund are payable
from said Fund.



(c) With respect to payments made subject to reimbursement under subsection (a) of this
section, insurance carriers, on or before December 15 and July 1 of each year, shall file
with the Department a report setting forth the money expended for said payments during
the previous 6 months. Reimbursement to such insurance carrier shall be made on
January 15 and August 1 each year.

§ 2347. Review by Board of agreements or awards: grounds; modification of award.

On the application of any party in interest on the ground that the incapacity of the injured
employee has subsequently terminated, increased, diminished or recurred or that the
status of the dependent has changed, the Board may at any time, but not oftener than once
in 6 months, review any agreement or award.

On such review, the Board may make an award ending, diminishing, increasing or
renewing the compensation previously agreed upon or awarded, and designating the
persons entitled thereto, subject to this chapter, and shall state its conclusions of facts and
rulings of law. The Department shall immediately send to the parties a copy of the award
by personal delivery, by secure email with electronic receipt, or by certified mail.

This section shall not apply to a commutation of payments under § 2358 of this title.

Compensation payable to an employee, under this chapter, shall not terminate until and
unless the Board enters an award ending the payment of compensation after a hearing
upon review of an agreement or award, provided that no petition for review, hearing or an
order by the Board shall be necessary to terminate compensation where the parties to an
award or an agreement consent to the termination. No petition for review shall be
accepted by the Department unless it is accompanied by proof that a copy of the petition
for review has been served by certified mail upon the other party to the agreement or
award. Within 5 days after the filing of a petition for review, the Department shall notify
each party concerned of the time, date and place scheduled for the hearing upon the
petition.

Compensation shall be paid by the Department to the employee after the filing of the
employer’s petition to review from the Workers’ Compensation Fund until the parties to
an award or agreement consent to the termination or until the Board enters an order upon
the employer’s petition to review. After the parties to an award or agreement consent to
the reinstatement of compensation or, after the employer withdraws its petition, or, if the
Industrial Accident Board orders the employer’s petition dismissed, the employer shall
repay to the Workers’ Compensation Fund the amount paid out by the Department. A
petition to review must be withdrawn whenever the parties to an agreement settle the
claim without a hearing before the Board or whenever an employee consents to a
termination after a petition to review has been filed with the Board.

The first 2 sentences of the fifth paragraph of this section shall apply only to employers
insured by insurance carriers. Nor shall they apply to self-insured employers who shall be
responsible for payment of their own claims under this section.



IL.

Upon any order imposed by the Insurance Commissioner under § 2411(e) of Title 18
requiring payment of restitution following a finding of insurance fraud, and after all
rights of appeal from said order have been waived or exhausted, the Board shall, upon
motion of the party to whom restitution was ordered and after hearing and opportunity to
be heard, allow a credit against benefits payable under §§ 2324, 2325 and/or 2326 of this
title, for any restitution ordered by the Insurance Commissioner remaining unpaid. The
Board shall also review orders establishing such credits upon motion based upon any
change in circumstances that may warrant modification or rescission of a prior order.

Impact on Petitions for Review Pursuant to 19 Del. C. §2347:

Pursuant to §2396(b), the Fund “shall be a party to and shall be represented by a Deputy
Attorney General in any proceeding involving possible reimbursement to or from the
Fund”. Prior to July 2021 the Fund’s involvement in litigation before the Board on
petitions for review (PFR’s) was extremely limited. Since July 2021 the Fund has taken
an extremely active role in protecting the Fund’s interests. The Fund has counsel who
has entered their appearance in every PFR that has been filed, actively seeking
reimbursement in appropriate cases. This has had an impact on litigation of PFR’s from
the perspective of both employers and claimants.

A. Fund entitled to reimbursement upon settlement.

- The Fund must be reimbursed in full by Employer where the parties reach
a settlement prior to the hearing.
o Robinson v. Delmarva, Hearing No. 1492125 (Sept. 16, 2021)

B. Claimant Returning to Work Full-time.

- A return to work by a claimant creates an implied agreement to
termination of an open agreement for total disability benefits.
o Fague v. Delaware Park Racing Association, Del. Super., C.A.
No. 99A-05-004, Barron, J., 2000 WL 303457 at *3 (February 24,
2000);
o Jones v. Spence Protective Agency, Del. Super., C.A. No. 89A-
MY-11, Gebelein, J., 1990 WL 177641 at *4 (October 26,1990).

C. Claimant Returning to Work Part-Time.

- When a Claimant returns to work while termination petition is pending,
the Fund must pay partial disability commensurate with the evidence
submitted by the Claimant concerning earnings earned at the new job

o Krebs v. David G. Horsey & Sons, Hearing No. 1485457 (Sept. 7,
2021)/Levis v. Harry Casell, Inc., Hearing No. 1473779 (Sept. 7,
2021)



o See Also Small v. Fieldstone Golf Club, Hearing No. 1492931,
(Sept. 15, 2021)

- Conversely when Claimant returns to a job similar to the job where she
was injured, it is encumbant on the Claimant to file a petition for partial
disability benefits. It would be unfair for the Employer to have to file and
petition and for the Fund to pay partial disability wages in such a
circumstance.

o McLeod v. Dover Donut Shops, Inc., Hearing No. 1505951, July
28,2021

D. Overpayment Made to Claimant.

- Overpayment to Claimant by Fund Ordered to be repaid by Claimant
where settlement was reached but no Order was signed by the Board such
that Fund payments continued. This case permitted Fund to cease benefits
upon notification of settlement.

o Begley v. Frank Robino Assoc., Hearing No. 1189872, (April 8,
2003)

- Claimant was determined to be a true Second Injury claimant pursuant to
19 Del. C. §2327 such that TTD payments were reimbursed by the Fund to
the carrier for over 15 years. Upon the Board finding that Claimant was
working during that time, Claimant was Ordered to reimburse the Fund.

o Beebe Hospital and WCF v. Norwood, Hearing No. 823156 (Nov.
27,2013)

E. Allegation of Fraud Committed by Claimant.

- The Fund must continue to pay while termination petition even if there is
an allegation of fraud. If fraud is proven at hearing, the appropriate action
is for the fund then to refer the case to the Fraud Prevention Bureau for
investigation and prosecution.

o Bradford v. Emco/Dernest Maier, Inc., Hearing No. 1487630 (Feb.
20, 2020)

F. Continuances:

- Continuances for unrelated medical condition is not good cause to
continue the hearing and have Fund continue to pay total disability
o Emory-Duncan v. Addus Healthcare, Hearing No. 1425491 (Dec.
6, 2018)
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MEGHAN BUTTERS HOUSER

Ms. Houser is a Director at the law firm of Weiss, Saville & Houser, P.A. She joined the
firm in 2010 and practices in the areas of plaintiff’s civil litigation, personal injury, and workers’
compensation. She was admitted to practice law before the Delaware Supreme Court in 2010,
the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware in 2011 and the United States Supreme Court
in 2017. Ms. Houser graduated summa cum laude from Canisius College in 2007 with a B.A. in
History and Political Science. She received her J.D. from Villanova University School of Law in
2010.

Ms. Houser has been a member of the Delaware Trial Lawyers Association since 2010
and is currently serving as Immediate Past President. Additionally, Ms. Houser is a member of
the Randy J. Holland Workers’ Compensation Inn of Court where she serves as Co-chair of the
Service Committee. Ms. Houser has also volunteered with the Combined Campaign for Justice
since 2011, participated in the first annual Law Day in 2012, and presented the End Distracted
Driving program at two Delaware high schools.

Since 2010, Ms. Houser has served as an active member of the Delaware State Bar
Association, and has recently served as Chair of the Workers’ Compensation Section. Ms.
Houser is also a member of the Women & the Law section and previously served as a member of
the DSBA’s Nominating Committee. Ms. Houser is also a member of the American Bar
Association and the American Association for Justice.
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BENJAMIN K. DURSTEIN
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Delaware
2013

EDUCATION

Widener University School of
Law (J.D., cum laude, 2012)

University of Delaware (B.A,,
2007)

ASSOCIATIONS &
MEMBERSHIPS

Delaware Bar Association,
Workers' Compensation
Section

Delaware Claims Association

Randy J. Holland Delaware
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American Inn of Court

AREAS OF PRACTICE CONTACT INEO

Workers' Compensation (302) 552-4341

bkdurstein@mdwcg.com

Nemours Building, 1007 N.
Orange St.

Suite 600, P.O. Box 8888
Wilmington, DE 19801

OVERVIEW

Ben is a member of the Workers' Compensation Department. He represents
employers, insurance carriers and third-party administrators in defense of workers'
compensation claims before the Industrial Accident Board and Delaware courts.

Ben earned his Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Delaware in 2007, and
went on to receive his juris doctor from Widener University School of Law in 2012,
After law school, he served as a judicial law clerk to the Honorable James T. Vaughn,
Jr., who was then President Judge of the Delaware Superior Court.

Ben is a member of Delaware Claims Association, Delaware State Bar Association
Workers’ Compensation Section and the Randy J. Holland Delaware Workers’
Compensation American Inn of Court. He is admitted to practice in the State of
Delaware.

CLASSES/SEMINARS TAUGHT

Are You Coming or Going - Do You Know Your Course and Scope?, Marshall Dennehey
webinar, October 26, 2020

RESULTS
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803 North Broom Street
Wilmington, DE 19806

Matt Fogg represents plaintiffs in the areas of personal injury and "You only get one chance to
workers' compensation. He focuses his practice on the representation seek damages against the

2 = . . e adversaries. I value my
of individuals injured due to the negligence of other individuals or clients and have dedicated

companies and to those injured at work. Matt takes great pride in my professional life helping
representing individuals to see that they are justly compensated, while them recover and prosper
always treating his clients with compassion, dignity, and respect. after being injured.”
Matt is licensed to practice before all of the state courts in Delaware, .

- Lo Practice Areas
the US District Court for the District of Delaware and the US Supreme
Court. Matt regularly handles matters through all stages of litigation Injury Law
before the Delaware state courts as well as the Industrial Accident FiberCel Bone Graft Injury
Board. Boating and Jet Ski Accidents
Prior to joining Morris James, Matt represented individuals in personal Motoreycle Accidents
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Court, Past President
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Danielle K. Yearick is a Director and has served as the managing partner of the Delaware law firm
Tybout, Redfearn & Pell.

Practice Areas: workers’ compensation and civil liability/tort litigation:
Trial practitioner in personal injury, premises liability, products liability, construction
claims, contract and insurance coverage disputes.

Admitted: all Delaware state and federal courts and U.S. Supreme Court.

Rated by Martindale-Hubbell as “AV Preeminent.”
2016-2021: Delaware Top Lawyer in personal injury defense and tort litigation, Delaware Today
2012-2021: Delaware Top Attorneys in civil litigation defense, Philadelphia Magazine.
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J.D., Villanova University School of Law (1997)
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Defense Counsel of Delaware

Delaware Claims Association

DRI

CLM Alliance
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THE DO’S OF WORKER’S
COMPENSATION

(Claimant’s Perspective)
Remember, you are a Delaware Lawyer
- WWIHD
Set your client’s expectations from the outset
- Explain the potential benefits
- This is not a lottery ticket
- No pain & suffering
- No vengeance
- Focus- get better & get back to work
Make sure your case is ready before you file your petition
Streamline your case/issues
- No Duplicative witnesses
- Detailed Stipulation of Facts (earlier the better)
- Talk to opposing counsel

- Stipulated exhibits

Think ahead

- Don’t wait until the 30% day to figure out what you’re doing!
- Expert identified & scheduling occurs quickly!!

Make sure your expert is prepared

- Clear understanding of PMH



- Has prior records and knows what’s in them
- Avoid the pitfalls of Daubert

Know the applicable law on your issues

- Whether or not it’s for or against you!
- Misrepresentations of law are bad....very bad...

Promote the truth

- DRPR 4.1
“RE.S.P.EC.T.”!

- The Board

- Opposing Counsel

- Witnesses

Know what you’ll need before you get to the hearing
- Translator

- Technology

- Witnesses/subpoenas
- Documents

- Correct # of copies

Make your point and move on




Understand the definition of “highlight”

- “pick out & emphasize”

Be flexible & accommodating

- What goes around, comes around...

- Extensions

- Scheduling of Depositions (alternative coverage)

Concede what needs to be conceded

- Makes your best arguments better!

Avoid needless legal hearings

- Some things can’t be avoided

- Reputational....RFP’s

- Before a Motion to Compel is filed in Superior Court, there is
a requirement that counsel “meet and confer”

Make sure your client is educated on options

- Pros & Cons

- Compromise when necessary

- Continue to monitor expectations

Be a zealous advocate, but don’t cross the line...



LITIGATING WORKERS’ COMPENSATION CASES
DON’T:

e Wait until the last minute to schedule your doctor’s deposition

» Wait until the last minute to find out if your scheduled expert witness will not offer
testimony that supports your case; your continuance request to find a new doctor WILL
NOT be granted (Harris v. Citigroup Global Mark)

» Wait until the last minute to send the completed pre-trial memorandum to the Board

* Wait until the last minute to finalize/identify witnesses and/or amend the pre-trial
memorandum

* Hold onto medical records — produce them to opposing counsel and your medical expert
as soon as possible

* Forget to uphold the “Delaware Way” — try to contact opposing counsel first before filing
Motions to see if the issue can be resolved; remind opposing counsel of the upcoming 30
Day Rule if you are expecting an offer, but have not yet received one; don’t try to
ambush opposing counsel or the Board at a Hearing; don’t burn bridges, you may need a
favor in return one day

* Go to mediation without first identifying outstanding medical bills; helpful to send
everything to opposing counsel in advance, including a demand with specific terms

e Mediate a third party claim without getting the carrier and/or its attorney involved;
dealing with a workers’ compensation lien before or at mediation tends to work out better
for all parties

e Waste time during a deposition or Hearing on irrelevant issues; keep it brief and succinct

 Ever be unprepared for a deposition, Motion, or Hearing

e Ever “wing it” — prepare you client, prepare your expert and fact witnesses; take the time
to do it right in advance

¢ Rely on someone else’s summary of the medical records; it’s your job to know what is in
the actual records and you will be amazed what you discover when you look at them
yourself

 Forget to proofread — double check that the Petition is completed correctly before filing;
make sure your Motion addresses your issue(s) and clearly identify what you are seeking;
make sure the pre-trial memorandum identifies your issues and witnesses (double check
this again prior to the 30 day deadline in case you need to amend)

e Come to a Hearing without adequate copies — have 3 copies and 1 original of your
expert’s deposition transcript if before a full Board; have copies of the Petition, pre-trial
memorandum, exhibits, Stipulation of Facts, Attorney’s Fee Affidavit, or cases for
opposing counsel, the Hearing Officer, and Board Members

e Come to a Hearing without testing your technology beforehand (videos, computer, virtual
witnesses, etc.)

» Forget to reserve enough time for a Hearing well in advance - note that on the pre-trial
memorandum; notify the Board’s administrative personnel at the time of scheduling and
remind them again the day or two prior to the Hearing (understand that mistakes occur
and the Board may still be surprised when you show up for a full day Hearing)




LITIGATING WORKERS’ COMPENSATION

CASES

Emplover/Carrier Don'ts

Don't:

>

>

Miss the 30-day deadline to make an offer;
Go to a hearing without knowing what benefits and claims are at issue;

Rely on a temporary job accommodation/offer by the employer as your
[only] evidence of job availability;

Rely on a “we have light duty available” from the employer as sufficient
showing of accommodations for restrictions and valid job offer;

Get caught up in arguing causation if that's a dead horse;

Deny ongoing treatment that is under the Practice Guidelines unless
you've submitted it to Utilization Review;

Stop or cut off TTD benefits without a signed Receipt, agreement by
claimant/counsel, or Board order;

Stop or cut off TPD unless 300 weeks has been exhausted (then get a
Receipt), or signed Receipt or new TPD Agreement;

Communicate directly with the claimants if they are represented by
counsel without counsel's permission (this applies to attorneys, adjusters,
nurse case managers, investigators);

Commute without first determining Medicare eligibility and considering
MSA compliance;

Accept a cookie-cutter DME opinion (e.g., treatment should have ended
after 4 weeks because most soft tissue injuries resolve by then; OR,
"complaints/surgery is due to degenerative disc disease and therefore not
related to the accident.");



Forget Employers Modified Duty Form;
Forget statute of limitations written notice;

Withhold or wait until the last minute to produce surveillance or other
evidence you may intend to present at the hearing;

Settle with a paralegal or non-attorney, but DO confirm in writing with
the attorney;

Deny benefits submitted because "claim is closed in system" unless there
was a global commutation or the SOL has expired;

Pay benefits/medicals deemed non-certified by UR;
Ignore or fail to respond to Rule 4 submissions or Huffman demands;

Withhold benefits owed, settled, or awarded pending returned Agreement
or Receipt. If it’s owed, it’s owed within 14 days- pay it;

Directly communicate with treating doctor for a represented claimant
without the consent of counsel;

Repeatedly make the same evidentiary objections if the Board has
already ruled and nothing has changed since prior ruling;

Object during opening or closing argument unless absolutely necessary;

Ask questions of a witness that you do not know the answer to or do not
strongly believe you know the answer to;

Believe you know the medical evidence better than the opposing medical
expert during cross-examination;

Produce and identify documents/witnesses/arguments at 4:58 p.m. on the
thirty-day deadline;



Do:

Understand long-term goals and claim-handling philosophy of client at
outset of litigation;

Communicate with employer witnesses early and often in addition to
adjuster;

Make record to preserve issues for appeal;

Understand and test technology before virtual hearing, presentation or
deposition;

See the forest for the trees;

Utilize colleagues and other members of the bar when you are unsure
about how best to proceed with a case;

Make use of payments without prejudice;

Obtain all relevant records;
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COLLINS J. SEITZ, JR.

The Honorable Collins J. Seitz, Jr., was sworn in as Chief Justice of the
Supreme Court of Delaware on November 8, 2019. He has served as a
Supreme Court Justice since 2015. Before his judicial appointment, Chief
Justice Seitz was a founding partner of Seitz Ross Aronstam & Moritz

LLP, a boutique corporate advisory and litigation firm in Wilmington,
Delaware representing clients in high-profile corporate and trust disputes
in the Delaware Court of Chancery. Before founding Seitz Ross, Seitz was
a partner of Connolly Bove Lodge & Hutz LLP in Wilmington, Delaware,
where he litigated corporate and intellectual property disputes. A member
of the Delaware Bar since 1983, he served as a member and chair of the
Board of Bar Examiners and a member of the Board on Professional
Responsibility. Both federal and state courts often appointed Seitz as

a Master and Trustee to oversee complex corporate, commercial, and
intellectual-property cases. He is a Fellow of the American College of Trial
Lawyers. He received his undergraduate degree from the University of
Delaware and his law degree from the Villanova University School of Law.



H. Garrett Baker is a Director in the Workers” Compensation Department. Gary was admitted to
the Pennsylvania bar in 1990, followed by the Delaware bar in 1992. His next bar admissions
were to the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware and the U.S. Court of Appeals, Third
Circuit in 1993 and in 1994 to the U.S. Supreme Court. Gary graduated from Evangel College
(B.S., summa cum laude, 1986), Southern Illinois University (J.D., cum laude, 1990) and the
University of Delaware (M.A. 1998).

He is a member of the Phi Kappa Phi fraternity. Gary also served as Judicial Intern for the
Honorable Carol Los Mansmann, Circuit Judge, U.S. Court of Appeals, Third Circuit, in 1989, and
the Honorable Joseph T. Walsh, Associate Justice, Supreme Court of Delaware in 1992.

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

e Delaware State Bar Association:

¢ Nominating Committee (2014-2017)

e Chair—Workers’ Compensation Section (2013-2014)

e Co-chair of the Continuing Legal Education Committee (2006-)

e Chair of the Continuing Legal Education Committee (2005-2006)

e Randy J. Holland Delaware Workers’ Compensation American Inn of Court:
o Founder and Vice-President (2013-2016)
o President (2017-2018)
o Judicial Liaison (2019-)

HONORS AND AWARDS

7

e Recipient Distinguished Service Award by Delaware State Bar Association Workers
Compensation Section 2013-2014

e Delaware Today — Voted one of Delaware’s Best Workers’” Compensation Defense
Attorneys 2014, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019

e Martindale-Hubble — AV rating in legal excellence and ethics

e The Best Lawyers in America©, Workers’ Compensation Law.
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PARTNER
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John is a partner in the firm’s Worker’s Compensation Defense Department. He Is licensed to practice in Delaware, New Jersey,
and Pennsylvania. John is a graduate of West Chester University and Widener University School of Law. At Widener, he served as
the Senior Staff Member for the Widener Law Review. Before joining the firm, John served as a Judicial Clerk to The Honorable
Francis P. DeStefano in the Superior Court of New Jersey. He is the current chair of the Delaware State Bar Association’s Workers’
Compensation Section, co-chair of the Case Law Update Committee, and member of the Rules Committee. Johnis also a
member of the Randy J. Holland Delaware Workers’ Compensation Inn of Court.
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Outside of private practice, John is a Volunteer Attorney Guardian Ad Litem in the Delaware Office of the Child Advocate, where
he provides representation for neglected children before the Family Court. He enjoys spending time with family and playing

tennis and golf
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CAROLINE A. KAMINSKI

Caroline A. Kaminski is an associate at Doroshow Pasquale Krawitz & Bhaya, with
a practice concentrated in workers’ compensation and personal injury law. She
received her Bachelor’s Degree from Auburn University in 2015 and her Juris
Doctor from Villanova University Charles Widger School of Law in May of 2019.
Thereafter, Caroline served as a judicial law clerk to the President Judge Jan R.

Jurden of the Superior Court of the State of Delaware.

Caroline is an active member of the Randy J. Holland Workers’ Compensation
American Inn of Court and the Richard S. Rodney American Inn of Court. In
addition, Caroline manages and co-authors The Delaware Detour & Frolic, a legal
blog analyzing and discussing the courts’ and IAB’s most recent decisions

regarding Delaware workers’ compensation and personal injury.



Appellate Update

Superior Court Decisions

Fowler v. Perdue Farms, Inc., K21A-01-002 NEP (Del. Super. Ct. Mar. 16, 2022) (Primos, J.)
The Superior Court held that the Board (1) improperly considered extrajudicial sources, (2)
rejected unrebutted testimony of both experts and the claimant when it rejected claimant’s claim
that he contracted COVID-19 at his workplace, and (3) imposed a higher burden on claimant and
essentially charged him with proving his claim beyond a reasonable doubt, rather than the
appropriate “more likely than not” standard. Accordingly, the Superior Court reversed and
remanded the Board’s decision for further proceedings instructing the Board to not speculate about
facts not in the record concerning the claimant’s contraction of COVID-19. (Schmittinger/Panico).

Foraker v. Amazon.com, Inc., N21A-07-002 JRJ (Del. Super. Ct. Feb. 9, 2022) (Jurden, P.J.)
The was a second appeal to the Superior Court and follows a remand hearing. Following both the
original and remand hearing, the Board denied the clamiant’s petition that sought benefits due to
an ongoing low back injury. The Board accepted the opinions of the defense expert that the work
injury was soft-tissue in nature and limited in duration. The Superior Court following the first
appeal remanded the case back to the Board as the court did not believe the rationale in the decision
was sufficient to support denying the petition. The Superior Court this time affimed the denial of
the petition. Although the Board reached the same conclusion it did in its original decision, there
was suffficient explanation in the remand order to explain why the Board accepted the testimony
of Employer’s medical expert and found the claimant incredible. (Eliasson/Ellis).

Gonzalez v. Perdue Farms, Inc., K21A-01-001 RLG (Del. Super. Ct. Jan. 14, 2022) (Green-
Streett, J.)

Claimant was involved in two separate work injuries, injuring her right knee. The claimant’s
medical expert testified that she sustained permanent impairment to the knee. The employer’s
medical expert testified that the claimant’s injuries had resolved. The Board found the employer’s
medical expert more credible. The claimant appealed and argued: (1) the Board mischaracterized
Dr. Crain’s previous medical examinations and misconstrued Dr. DuShuttle’s testimony; (2) the
mischaracterization of the medical evidence led the Board to conclude incorrectly that Claimant
lacked credibility; (3) the Board misconstrued Claimant’s work capabilities; and (4) the Board
ignored the possibility of a interpretation error during Dr. Crain’s final examination of Claimant.
Superior Court affirmed the IAB’s decision, finding the decision was supported by substantial
evidence because: (1) The Board’s reliance on Dr. Crain’s medical opinion was supported by
substantial evidence; (2) Given the inconsistencies between the symptoms Claimant reported to
Dr. Crain and the symptoms she testified about during the Hearing, the Board’s determination that
Claimant was not credible was supported by substantial evidence; (3)The Board determined from
a functional standpoint that Claimant was capable of returning to work, and the record indicates



that Claimant’s accidents did not impair her ability to return to work; (4) The Board considered
the potential interpretation error of the claimant, factored it into its determination of credibility,
and ultimately afforded it no weight. (Donovan/Panico).

Sheingold v. C & S Enters., N21A-08-004 DCS (Del. Super. Ct. Mar. 7, 2022) (Streett, J.)
The Superior Court affirmed a Board decision that found that there was no work accident or injury
as alleged. Although the Board found the claimant’s three medical experts credible generally, the
Board did not have to accept their opinions given that they relied on a claimant who the Board did
not find reliable. The court declined to make credibility determinations or reweigh the evidence as
those powers lie exclusively with the Board. (Long/Skolnick).

Wilson v. Gingerich Concrete & Masonry, N21A-08-004 DCS (Del. Super. Ct. Mar. 9, 2022)
(Clark, J.)

The Superior Court upheld the Board’s denial of payment to the claimant’s treating physician due
to a lapse in his workers’ compensation provider certification. The Court, relying on the plain
language of 9 Del. C. §2322D, held that the physician was required to be certified at the time of
the procedure or, in the alternative, to obtain pre-authorization for the treatment - neither of which
occurred. Accordingly, the Superior Court determined the Board did not err and its decision that
the physician’s surgery bills were not compensable was affirmed. (Schmittinger/Baker).

Supreme Court Decisions

Shipmon v. State, No. 261, 2021 (Del. 2022)

The claimant challenged a Board decision that denied his permanency petition after the opinions
of both medical experts were found unconvincing. Even though the Board felt there was likely
some level of permanent impairment attributable to the work accident, the claimant did not meet
his burden of proof to permit an award of any kind. The Court concluded that the Board is not
required to, and should not, find the existence of permanency to a specific degree when there is no
evidence in the record to support that finding. Awards based on institutional experience alone are
not permissible. The Board decision denying the petition was affirmed. (Legum/Bittner).

Zayas v. State, No. 232, 2021 (Del. 2022)

The Supreme Court held that the Board erred in accepting the employer’s medical expert testimony
after he refused to testify about the claimant’s treatment by a physician under unrelated disciplinary
investigation, and also erred in refusing to admit that provider’s medical records into evidence.
The Court held that the Board’s errors precluded the claimant from adequately presenting her case
and violated fundamental fairness. It was improper for the employer’s medical expert to
unilaterally decide that he did not have to answer any questions regarding the claimant’s physician
because it precluded the claimant from effectively cross-examining the employer's medical expert
on his expert opinion. (Nitsche&Fredericks/Klusman).
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1998
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OVERVIEW

Jessica is the supervising attorney for the firm's Workers' Compensation Department
in Delaware. She represents employers, insurance carriers and third-party
administrators in all manner of claims related to workers' compensation. Jessica has
defended cases involving car manufacturers and government agencies. She also
handles successive carrier/employer disputes.

Jessica successfully argued before the Superior and Supreme Courts that Huffman
damages do not begin to accrue until at least 44 days from the date of a settlement,
giving the employer an initial 14-day period to satisfy the settlement and 30 days to
cure any default for the failure to pay timely.

A graduate of the University of Delaware, Jessica received her degree in international
relations and economics. She later attended Widener University School of Law.

Jessica is a member of the Defense Counsel of Delaware, and previously served as the
Delaware state liaison for the Defense Research Institute. She is also the former chair
of the Workers' Compensation Section of the Delaware State Bar Association. Jessica
has presented many in-house seminars and has spoken on various workers'
compensation matters before members of the Bar.



THOUGHT LEADERSHIP
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1999 Special Alert—COVID-19 and Workers'’
Compensation Litigation Update for Delaware

Workers' Compensation

COVID-19 Task Force

June 11, 2020

On March 31, 2020, the Industrial Accident Board issued an additional order allowing
hea What's Hot in Workers' Comp

COVID-19 AND THE LAW: Workers’ Compensation
Compensability in Delaware, Florida, New Jersey
and Pennsylvania

COVID-19 Task Force

Workers' Compensation

April 1, 2020

Delaware The material in this newsletter has been prepared for our readers by
Marshall Dennehey Warner Coleman & Goggin.

What's Hot in Workers' Comp, Vol. 24, No. 4, April
2020

Workers' Compensation
April 1, 2020

How COVID-19 Is Affecting Delaware Workers'
Compensation

Workers' Compensation

COVID-19 Task Force

March 20, 2020

The Industrial Accident Board issued an order on March 16, 2020,
suspending/continuing all Board hearings until at least April 3, 2020. What's Hot in
Workers' Comp is prepared by Marshall Dennehey Warner Coleman & Goggin to
provide information on recent legal developments of interest to our readers.

Special Delaware Workers' Compensation Alert -
Limitations on Medications

Wilmington
Workers' Compensation
September 11, 2013

CLASSES/SEMINARS TAUGHT

Defining Voluntary Removal from the Workplace, Delaware State Bar Association,
January 14, 2020

How Medical Marijuana Is Impacting Workers' Compensation, Marshall Dennehey
Workers' Compensation Seminar, October 24, 2019

Bad Eggs: Defending Injuries Stemming from Violence in the Workplace, Marshall
Dennehey Workers' Compensation Seminar, October 19, 2017

Nally and Successive Carrier Liability, Workers' Compensation Section of the Delaware
State Bar Association, Wilmington, Delaware, January 18, 2017



Do's and Don'ts of Fact Witnesses, Marshall Dennehey Workers' Compensation
Seminar, October 27, 2016

Defense Counsel Wish List, Marshall Dennehey Workers' Compensation Seminar,
October 19, 2016

Double Play: What Happens When Your Claim Crosses Multiple States?, Marshall
Dennehey Workers' Compensation Seminar, October 22, 2015

Presenting the Clean Claim, Delaware State Bar Association Workers' Compensation
Conference, Wilmington, Delaware, May 6, 2015

Employment Law Update and Workers' Compensation Basics, Delaware State Dental
Society, Dover, Delaware, March 19, 2015

Checks and Balances: A Dream Team Approach, Marshall Dennehey Workers'
Compensation Seminar, October 30, 2014

Workers' Compensation Update, Office and Trial Practice, Delaware State Bar
Association, Wilmington, Delaware, November 22, 2013

Tri-State Workers' Compensation Legal Update, Roadmap to Success - Understanding
Workers' Compensation, Marshall Dennehey seminar, October 24, 2013

Workers' Compensation Update 2013, Delaware Employer Council, Dover, Delaware,
May 8, 2013

Medicare Set-Asides: When You Need Them, When You Don't, Workers' Compensation
Section of the Delaware State Bar Association and the Industrial Accident Board,
Wilmington, Delaware, May 7, 2013

Discovery Issues, Workers' Compensation Section of the Delaware State Bar
Association, Wilmington, Delaware, January 23, 2013

Heart Attacks, Strokes & Idiopathic Falls, Workers' Compensation Section of the
Delaware State Bar Association and the Industrial Accident Board, Wilmington,
Delaware, May 2, 2012

Crazy Issues of Causation, Workers' Compensation Section of the Delaware State Bar
Association and the Industrial Accident Board, Wilmington, Delaware, May 4, 2011

PUBLISHED WORKS

"Death, Be Not Proud: Benefits Continue," Defense Digest, Vol. 12, No. 4, December
2006



Stephen T. Morrow, Esq.

Personal Injury Lawyer

Stephen T. Morrow is a partner with Rhoades & Morrow LLC. His practice
areas include personal injury and workers' compensation. Steve is a graduate
of Milford High School and Dickinson College in Carlisle, Pennsylvania. Steve
earned his Juris Doctor degree, cum laude, from the New England School of
Law in Boston, Massachusetts. Steve is admitted to the bars of the State of
Delaware and Commonwealth of Massachusetts and has practiced before the
U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware. He is a member of the
Delaware State Bar Association, the American Association for Justice, the
Randy J. Holland Workers' Compensation American Inn of Court and Workers'
Injury Law & Advocacy Group. Steve is a past President of the Delaware Trial
Lawyers Association, currently co-chairs its Legislative Committee and is a
member of the Continuing Legal Education Committee. Steve is also a past
Chair of the Workers' Compensation Section of the Delaware State Bar
Association. Steve serves as a frequent presenter at seminars focused on
workers' compensation practice and procedure. Steve also performs pro bono
services by representing children in need who are placed in Delaware’s foster
care system.

Professional Associations and Memberships

Past President, Delaware Trial Lawyers Association
o Co-Chair, Legislative Committee
o Continuing Education Committee

o Delaware State Bar Association

« Past Chair of the Workers' Compensation Section of the Delaware State
Bar Association

o Past Secretary of the Workers' Compensation Section of the Delaware
State Bar Association

o American Association of Justice

« Randy J. Holland Workers’ Compensation American Inn of Court



o Workers' Injury Law & Advocacy Group

Bar Admissions

o Delaware
« Massachusetts
« U.S. District Court District of Delaware

Classes/Seminars

« Alternative Dispute Resolution Requirements & Processes (Delaware
Asbestos Litigation Conference, Feb. 26, 2010)

 Ethical issues in Trial Advocacy and Representation of Litigants before
the Industrial Accident Board (Delaware State Bar Association, May 5,
2010)

o Overview of Delaware Workers' Compensation Practice Guidelines: Low
Back, Cervical and Chronic Pain (Delaware State Bar Association, January
18, 2011)

« Ethical Considerations- Complex Issues in Complex Litigation (Delaware
Asbestos Litigation Conference, March 10, 2011)

o Heart, Attacks, Strokes & Idiopathic Falls in Workers" Compensation
Cases (Delaware State Bar Association, May 2, 2012)

« Ethical Issues in Workers’ Compensation Cases (Delaware State Bar
Association, May 7, 2013)

« Motion Practice Before the Industrial Accident Board (Delaware State Bar
Association, May 7, 2014)

o Auto Injury Litigation (National Business Institute, April 30, 2015)

« Presenting the Clean Claim in Workers' Compensation Cases (Delaware
State Bar Association, May 6, 2015)

« Causation and the Unusual Diagnosis in Workers" Compensation Cases
(Delaware State Bar Association, May 4, 2016)

o Workers’ Compensation Law (Second Annual Work Injury Prevention
and Management Symposium, September 30, 2016)

o Best Practices for Mediation (Delaware State Bar Association, Jan. 17,
2018)



o The New Face of the Displaced Worker in Delaware Workers'
Compensation (Delaware State Bar Association, May 2, 2018)

« Maximizing Damages in Personal Injury Cases (New Jersey Association
for Justice Boardwalk Seminar, May 11, 2018)

o The Interplay Between Workers' Compensation & Third-Party Claims
(Randy Holland Inn of Court, November 13, 2018)

 lIdiopathic Idiosyncrasies in Workers' Compensation Cases (Delaware
State Bar Association, May 14, 2019)

o Workers’ Compensation Practically Speaking, Hot Topics in Ethics
(Delaware State Bar Association, September 15, 2020)

« Does Liability Ever Shift Back in a Worker's Compensation Claim?
(Delaware State Bar Association, January 19, 2021)

« Idiopathic Idiosyncrasies in Workers' Compensation Cases (Delaware
State Bar Association, May 4, 2021)

o "The New Industrial Accident Board” (Randy Holland Inn of Court,
November 9, 2021)

Education

« New England School of Law, Boston, Massachusetts

o J.D.cum laude - 2002

o Honors: Moot Court and Mock Trial

o Law Journal: New England Journal, Executive Managing Editor
« Dickinson College, Carlisle, Pennsylvania
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ADJACENT SEGMENT DISEASE THEORY

ASD Identified

Matthew Heritage v. State of Delaware - IAB Hearing No.: 1476548 (Decided March 15,
2022)(Surgery awarded)

First surgery was in 2018 which was a C4-5 spinal fusion. Second surgery in 2020 extended the
fusion to C5 through C7. Claimant filed a Petition seeking compensability of a cervical fusion to
include the C3-4 level.

Dr. Yalamanchili testified that there was evidence of a worsening disc condition above the
claimant’s original fusion. He noted that this is a common phenomenon with fusion procedures
in as much as once a fusion has been performed the adjacent disc levels can be placed under
strain which he believes was a condition developing in the claimant. He noted that the adjacent
disc was deteriorating and becoming symptomatic.

ASD/Disc Replacement

Bryan Gatta v. State of Delaware [AB # 1364816 (March 12, 2015) (Surgery denied)

First surgery was to the C5-6 level in 2013. Dr. Rudin performed a disc replacement.
In 2014, he performed a fusion at C5-6 and C6-7 relating the C6-7 level deterioration to the C5-6
level.

Dr. Fedder testified that it takes years for the adjacent segment disease to develop. Further, with

a disc replacement, the development of ASD is markedly decreased and one of the reasons why a
disc replacement was done.

ASD/ Skipped level

Anthony Cicione, Jr. v. FMC Corporation - IAB Hearing No.: 1373594 (May 3, 2016) (Surgery
denied)

First surgery was L5-S1 spinal fusion and decompression of L4-5 and L5-S1 laminectomy with
decompression of bilateral L5-S1 nerve roots. In 2015, Petition filed seeking compensability of
a L3-4 lumbar laminectomy surgery. Dr. Rudin testified that prior to the first surgery he noted
claimant also had L3-4 disc protrusion with osteophyte mildly indenting the dursac at L3-4.
Claimant also had a disc protrusion at L.2-3. An updated MRI in 2015 showed a large disc
herniation L3-4 with paracentral disc protrusion and facet arthrosis causing moderate central
canal stenosis impinging on the nerve roots. Dr. Rudin testified that the mobilization at L5-S1



increased the stress put on the other discs. Therefore, he indicated that you would expect
degeneration at L4-5 and L3-4 at a faster pace. He noted that the L4-5 was not as bad because of
the prior decompressive laminectomy which gave it more room.

Dr. Townsend testified that the L.3-4 disc herniation was not related to the 2011 work accident.
He notes that the herniation was not reflected on the MRIs after the work accident or at the time
of the fusion surgery. He also notes that it is not the level adjacent to the fusion. There is no
literature supporting the theory that the entire vertebral column is affected by a fusion.

William Wroten v. Lowes — IAB Hearing No.: 1358700 (July 31, 2019)(Surgery awarded)

May 31, 2009 work injury resulted in injuries to Claimant’s shoulder and cervical spine. Dr.
Eskander performed a disc arthroplasty at C3-4 on April 19, 2013. He followed that up with a
fusion at C3-4 at the same level.

By February 2019, the claimant was seen again by Dr. Eskander who felt the MRI showed a C6-
7 disc herniation and recommended another surgery. In testifying as to the causation of the C6-7
disc herniation, Dr. Eskander noted that the C3-4 fusion caused increased pressure and required
the other disc to sustain more stress and absorb more shock. As a result, the C6-7 level was
related to the prior fusion which was caused by the accident. Dr. Eskander testified that the
adjacent segment disease can involve different levels besides the next contiguous level.

Dr. Fedder had offered testimony stating that junctional stenosis does not skip levels. The
claimant had development of a C6-7 osteophyte complex but claimant’s examination did not
show signs of a C6-7 radiculopathy.

Jamie Phipps v. Southern Wine Spirits - [AB Hearing No.: 1432098 (October 14, 2020)(Surgery
denied)

(Identical surgeries/theories in Wroten) A 2015 work accident led to a compensable fusion at
C3-4. In April of 2019, she developed symptomatology that reflected a disc problem at C6-7 and
Dr. Eskander performed surgery at that level. Dr. Eskander put forth a theory of causation called
“non -contiguous adjacent segment disease” and therefore believe that the C3-4 fusion caused
the deterioration at C6-7.

Dr. Fedder testified that the literature discusses adjacent, contiguous disc and then none of the
study support the theory that the adjacent segment disease can skip over a level to effect a disc
further along the spine



BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD
OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

PABLO ALANIS-FEDERICK,
Employee,
Hearing No. 1439328

V.

ASPLUNDH TREE EXPERT CO.,

Employer.

DECISION ON PETITION TO DETERMINE ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION DUE
Pursuant to due notice of time and place of hearing served on all parties in interest, the
above-stated cause came before a Workers’ Compensation Hearing Officer of the Industrial
Accident Board on October 1, 2020 via video conference pursuant to the Board’s COVID-19

Emergency Order dated May 11, 2020.
PRESENT:

KIMBERLY A. WILSON
Workers’ Compensation Hearing Officer, for the Board

APPEARANCES:
Brian S. Legum, Attorney for the Employee

Christopher T. Logullo, Attorney for the Employer/Carrier



NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

On February 5, 2016, Pablo Alanis-Federick (“Claimant™) suffered a compensable injury
to the lumbar spine (also “low back”) while working for Asplundh Tree Expert Co. (also
“Asplundh” or “Employer”). Employer has accepted these injuries as compensable, and Claimant
has received certain benefits as a result, including payment for his medical treatment expenses.

On March 13, 2020, Claimant filed a Petition to Determine Additional Compensation
Due, seeking a finding of compensability for lumbar stem cell injections provided by Dr. Bruce
Rudin on March 3, 2020. Dr. Rudin opines that this treatment was reasonable, necessary and
causally related to the February 2016 work accident. Asplundh, based on the opinion of Dr. Scott
Rushton, argues that the March 3, 2020 stem cell injections were not reasonable, necessary or
causally related to thg February 2016 work acgident.

A hearing was held on Claimant’s petition on October 1, 2020. This is the decision on the
merits of the petition.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

Claimant testified first. He has worked for Asplundt since 2012. Claimant injured his low
back while cutting and removing a large tree in 2016. His typical job duties involve tree and
branch removal and cleaning power lines.

Following the February 2016 work accident, Claimant’s ability to work changed. He was
in pain and could only work twenty-five to forty hours per week. He had conservative treatment
but then ultimately required surgery in 2016. He then needed another lumbar fusion surgery at
L4-5 in May 2018. It took a long time, but he began working full duty again. Unfortunately, that
only lasted a couple of months. He then required light duty work again because his pain began to

return after surgery.



About a year after the 2018 surgery, Claimant was experiencing significant low back pain
again. He had tried injections, but they only helped for, at most, a month or two. He was told his
pain was due to a pinched nerve. Dr. Rudin showed Claimant his MRI and told him that he could
either have surgery again or have a stem cell procedure. Claimant told Dr. Rudin that he did not
want to have surgery again, so he opted for the stem cell procedure. Claimant had the procedure
on March 3, 3020. Afterward, he was out of work for three weeks. He was unable to walk, move
or bend. After three weeks, he returned to work and worked a lot of hours. After the July 2020
tornadoes came through Delaware, Claimant worked about 16 hours per day. However, he was in
so much pain, he could not make it to work at times. He was working over 85 hours per week at
that point. He had additional pain, but had to work because he needs to take care of his family.

Before the stem cel‘l treatment, Claimant was working between 30. and 60 hours,
depending on weather. He performed light duty work, including flagging and traffic control. At
times, he also would help out when needed to rake and pick up leaves. He worked light or
medium duty between 25 to 30 hours per week.

After the March 2020 stem cell treatment, Claimant was able to work more. This
treatment was more helpful than the prior injections that Claimant had. It also helped more than
the 2018 surgery had. Claimant was very pleased with the outcome of the stem cell treatment.
He had already had two surgeries and thinks that his results with the stem cell procedure were
better than the surgeries.

Claimant saw Dr. Rudin on September 17, 2020 and was in a lot of pain. It was different
pain than he had prior to the stem cell treatment. Claimant’s pain was from his lower back to the
buttocks and stayed in his leg. It was very different pain. This is why he went back to Dr. Rudin

for a new MRI.



On cross examination, Claimant agreed that Dr. Rudin’s most recent September 2020
note indicates that Claimant reported that his symptoms had gotten worse. He agreed that this
was about six months after the stem cell procedure. Dr. Rudin indicated that Claimant was
pointing down his right side in terms of his pain. He has pain on both sides, but sometimes it is
more on the left side. Claimant had rated his pain at 8 out of 10 with a constant frequency. He
described his pain as severe and aching. All activities were said to be aggravating of his
condition. Dr. Rudin took Claimant out of work for one week and provided him with a Medrol
Dosepak. Claimant has since returned to work.

Claimant agreed that before he had the stem cell procedure, his pain was also rated as 8
out of 10. He explained that he had long days at work at times and his pain was bad because of
the type of .work that he does. Therg are times when they work a lot and have to do a lot of
lifting. Claimant admitted that he was released to full duty unrestricted work in May 2019. He
further agreed that he testified that he was working light duty before the stem cell procedure;
thus, he was restricted to light duty at some point after May 2019,

Claimant admitted that after the March 2020 stem cell injections he reported a pain level
of 5 out of 10. He was still in pain. Dr. Rudin documented on May 21, 2020 “symptoms
unchanged.” Claimant had described right low back pain with bilateral leg and buttock pain. The
pain was down both legs. His pain was said to be constant and aching. All activities were said to
cause him pain. Claimant recalled telling Dr. Rudin all of this. This note was recorded two
months after the stem cell injections.

Dr. Rudin told Claimant that the stem cell injections procedure itself is not FDA

approved. It is also not listed under the Delaware Health Care Practice Guidelines



(“DEHCPGs”). Claimant could not recall if Dr. Rudin told him that the treatment was
experimental in nature.

On redirect examination, Claimant agreed that he has had low back pain since his work
accident. His pain is currently more painful to a point where, at times, it cannot be tolerated. He
did not have this kind of pain before the stem cell procedure; it was not as much in his legs, but
mostly in his back. Claimant’s pain is new and different now. He has pain all of the time.

Claimant was able to work ten hours per day before the stem cell procedure; however, he
would have worked 16 hours per day if he could have. He worked less due to his physical
restrictions.

Dr. Rudin told Claimant that some people were having stem cell injections and that they
were working. Clairpant did not want surgery, so he agreed on the injections. He is happy with
this decision. Dr. Rudin told Claimant that he would not have to pay for the treatment if it was
not approved by workers’ compensation.

Claimant was questioned by the Hearing Officer as to why he is happy that he got the
stem cell injections even though he seemed to have been doing poorly about two months
afterward. He explained that he felt that he could work more after he got them. He was working
60 hours per week after the stem cell injections. However, after the tornadoes hit Delaware, he
was working between 65 and 95 hours per week and was in a lot of pain once he got home.
Claimant felt that his success from the stem cell injections lasted for about five months.

Claimant agreed that he complained of 8 out of 10 pain in May 2020. He worked long
days at the time, and it was the work causing his problems. Claimant worked as many hours as he

could work based on his pain; he worked 20 or 30 or 40 hours per week.



Claimant’s leg pain became bad after the stem cell injections. His left leg pain is now
worse and different. He had it before the stem cell injections, but it is worse now.

On further redirect examination, Claimant reiterated that he believes that the stem cell
injections helped him in terms of pain reduction for about five months. He explained that his
May 2020 pain was pain that came and went, especially when he had a long day at work with
bending and lifting. Claimant worked well for about four or five months after the March 2020
stem cell injections. There were days with little pain and other days with higher 8 out of 10 pain.

Claimant’s pain after the stem cell injections is different than it was before; sometimes he
can handle it, and other times he cannot. He went to the emergency room (“ER”) about a week
before he saw Dr. Rudin because he was in so much pain that he could not even walk. He stayed
home from work for two days. He told his boss thaﬁ he could only work light duty and was
advised that a letter was needed. Claimant then went to Dr. Rudin for the letter and told him that
he could not even walk at times due to pain. Dr. Rudin took Claimant out of work for one week
and scheduled him for a regular injection, not a stem cell injection. Claimant also asked for a new
MRI study because his pain was very high and intolerable. He has never felt this level of pain
before. Very strong pain in his left leg began about three weeks prior to the hearing.

On further recross examination, Claimant testified that he had days without pain when not
working or when flagging or doing traffic contro] work. Claimant admitted that the May 21, 2020
note reflected that he told Dr. Rudin that the frequency of his pain was constant and that all

activities were aggravating factors for his pain.



Bruce J. Rudin. M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, testified by deposition on behalf of

Claimant.! Dr. Rudin is fellowship-trained in adult, regenerative and traumatic spine surgery. He
wrote the DEHCPGs for the cervical spine and lumbar spine twelve years ago.

When Claimant first presented to Dr. Rudin in November 2016, he looked terrible on
physical examination. He had had extensive conservative care, including lumbar injections. He
had a disc herniation at 1.4-5 as well as a partial foot-drop, which is a significant neurologic
deficit. Dr. Rudin performed an L4-5 microdiskectomy on December 12, 2016. Claimant’s leg
pain was gone after the surgery. Gradually, however, once he started to get back to work at a
higher level, he began having issues again. Claimant had a lot of underlying degenerative disc
disease at L4-5 and ultimately required a spinal fusion in May 2018. A CT scan revealed that the
fusion was healed in September 201 8,‘50 Dr. Rudin released Clgimant back to work.

Claimant performs long hours of heavy physical work. His care was managed into 2019
and, as he continued to work, he started to get worse and worse. Dr. Rudin has encouraged
Claimant to try to work a different job, but he has always gone back to work for Asplundh. He
worked eight-hour-days and then reported that he was in miserable 8 out of 10 pain by the end of
the day. Claimant had a couple of nerve blocks, but they only helped him temporarily. He then
had sacroiliac injections. The sacroiliac injections made him 90 percent better for a week and
then his pain came back, and at a higher level. Toward the end of 2019, Claimant’s pain was
rated at 8 out of 10 and described as constant, severe, aching and worsened by all activities. Dr.
Rudin ordered a new MRI. It showed a new degenerative problem and tear at the level next to
his spinal fusion, at L.3-4; notably, the prior July 2017 MRI showed L.3-4 as a normal disc.

After Dr. Rudin received the MRI results showing an onset of degeneration and annular

pathology at L3-4, and had considered the fact that Claimant’s pain had been increasing over the

' Dr. Rudin’s deposition was marked into evidence as Claimant’s Exhibit #1.



past six months, he discussed treatment options with him. Claimant was unresponsive to
conservative care. His ability to work was not great. His options were either a spinal fusion
surgery or osteobiologics (also “stem cell procedure”). Dr. Rudin testified that the DEHCPGs
recognize that when there is a spinal fusion, the stress is transferred to the adjacent disc.
Claimant met every one of the requirements as a candidate for another spinal fusion, but he did
not want to have that procedure again. He instead chose the regenerative medicine option, a stem
cell injection procedure.

Regenerative medicine harnesses the body’s ability to heal biologically using substances
that are already circulating in the body, including stem cells. They are used in a patient with a
degenerative disc as an alteration in the ability of the disc to get nourished. They are injected
back into the disc to make the disc healthy.

Patients that have received this procedure are tracked in a federal registry in terms of
outcome; about 75 to 80 percent of patients that have had this procedure are better within three
months. The cost is less than a spinal fusion and the person walks out with Band-Aids in lieu of
the typical extensive post-surgical recovery. Claimant opted for the stem cell procedure because
he felt that if it did not work, he would end up with the spinal fusion operation anyway.

Claimant had the stem cell injection procedure on March 3, 2020. He followed up on May
21, 2020. At that point, he told Dr. Rudin that he was 65 percent better. He was already back to
work as a tree surgeon, working 16 hours per day. He reported that his leg pain was great. His
back pain was better. He was very happy. This was about two months after the procedure.

Dr. Rudin testified that the stem cell procedure is not experimental. It is a newer
procedure, but not new. Stem cell procedures are not included in the DEHCPGs but Dr. Rudin

noted that the guidelines have not been updated since 2008. The DEHCPGs are guidelines and
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their preamble notes that they do not define the only means of caring for patients. The guidelines
do not address every possible medical issue or treatment option.

Dr. Rudin opined that the March 3, 3020 stem cell injection procedure was reasonable,
necessary and causally related treatment for Claimant in terms of his February 2016 low back
injury. This procedure has been offered for the past 18 months at First State Orthopaedics
(“FSO”) and is an alternative to much more expensive spinal fusion procedures. FSO follows all
of the FDA-recommended guidelines for doing the procedure, such as the use of certain
equipment.

Dr. Rudin disagrees with Dr. Rushton’s opinion that Claimant was not any better.
Claimant reported two weeks before Dr. Rushton’s June 2020 defense medical examination
(“DME”) that he was 65 perc'ent better and working 1§ hours per day pcrforming heavy physical
work, six to seven days per week. Dr. Rudin rates the treatment as highly successful. Claimant is
a patient that was miserable before the treatment that was afterward able to work over a hundred
hours per week doing heavy physical work. In comparison to everything involved with a spinal
fusion, Dr. Rudin opined that the stem cell procedure is reasonable and necessary within a
reasonable degree of medical probability.

On cross examination, Dr. Rudin admitted that he does have financial interest in
SpineCare, the facility where Claimant’s stem cell procedure was performed. It is a standalone
facility that does nothing but spine procedures. There are nine partners. Dr. Rudin himself was
not involved in providing the stem cell injection treatment to Claimant. Claimant’s bill for the
stem cell injection procedure is threefold: there is a charge for the doctor that does the
procedure, a charge for the anesthesiologist that performs the sedation and a facility fee.

Medicare and Medicaid do not pay for these procedures. The FDA does not approve this specific



procedure, but it falls under an exemption. It is an off-label procedure. A lot of care is off-label.
Claimant’s procedure consisted of a bone marrow aspiration of his mesenchymal stem cells,
intradiscal injection of bone marrow and platelet rich plasma (“PRP”) therapy in addition to facet
and epidural injections. This sort of treatment has been tremendously helpful for leg pain and
sciatica.

Dr. Rudin disagreed that the two surgeries were not successful for Claimant. L4-5 was
treated successfully; what is unknown is when 13-4 was afterward injured. It is only known that
at some point after his spinal fusion Claimant’s L3-4 disc went bad and as it got worse, he got
worse.

Dr. Rudin testified that he did not want to do a spinal fusion on Claimant, he preferred to
do this procgdure. He thought it was a much better procedure ip terms of biologically helping the
disc. Forty percent of patients having this procedure show MRI-documented improvement of
what the actual disc looks like. This was preferable to putting three times the stress on the L2-3
or L5-S1 disc by performing a fusion at L.3-4.

Dr. Rudin’s September 2020 medical note was addressed. Dr. Rudin agreed that the note
states that Claimant was currently describing right low back pain, bilateral leg pain and bilateral
buttock pain. He had radiation into the bilateral buttock, bilateral post thigh, bilateral post calf,
bilateral calf and bilateral dorsum of the foot. Claimant was rating his symptoms at 8 out of 10. It
was also documented “the problem has worsened” and “the frequency is constant.” Claimant also
described the pain as “severe and aching.” Aggravating factors included “all activities.” Dr.
Rudin clarified that this is what Claimant wrote and does not reflect the totality of the medical
record. A new MRI was ordered in September 2020. Claimant was further instructed to take a

Medrol Dosepak (steroids) and Ultram (pain reliever).
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Claimant followed up on September 17, 2020. At that time, it was noted that he had a
significant increase in his problems. Dr. Rudin added that in that past week it was the first time in
six months that Claimant was bad. Claimant was also working a large number of hours per week
before that.

Dr. Rushton is incorrect that there are no studies on these procedures; there are many
studies, including in the Pain Physician, the preeminent journal in pain management. The
procedure was rated by a Level 3 study that would be considered a “Fair” study. The study said it
was safe. The results were said to be better than what is currently being done with epidurals and

nerve blocks.

Scott Rushton. M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, testified by deposition on behalf of

Asplundh.? Dr. Rushton evaluated Claimant i_n June 2020 and reviewed his pertinent medical
records. Claimant provided a history of his work accident as well as his two lumbar surgical
procedures. He stated that neither of the surgeries had provided him any benefit and that he
wished that the surgeries had never been done. As of June 2020, Claimant had been working in a
light duty status with a 25-pound lifting restriction for the past two months. He reported having
had a recent lumbar spine injection.

Claimant complained of fairly significant pain in the lower back and pain in both legs at
the DME. His leg pain was fairly diffuse and did not travel in any particular dermatome or nerve
distribution. His back and leg pain were noted to be equal. Claimant’s pain was daily in a thirty
day period of time and he rated his pain at 8 to 9 out of 10 on a daily basis, on average. This can
be considered to be fairly significant symptomatology.

On physical examination, Claimant had a very functional range of motion subjectively,

despite having had a fusion procedure. He had no evidence of neurologic weakness. His

2 Dr. Rushton’s deposition was marked into evidence as Employer’s Exhibit #1.
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functional testing ability to recruit various muscles was normal and there was no sign of nerve
root compression. Objectively, it was a normal exam of the lumbar spine.

Dr. Rushton reviewed an April 2019 MRI of the lumbar spine. It showed the L4-5 fusion.
Notably, there was a complete absence of any significant stenosis. There was a minimal
retrolisthesis of 1.3-4 with a mild disc bulge, new since the June 2017 MRI. There was really no
significance to this, however; these are more incidental findings following a fusion. Dr. Rudin
had confirmed that the fusion had taken and was solid in August 2019. There was no evidence of
nerve root compression or clinically relevant structural pathology via MRI.

Dr. Rushton testified that stem cell injection treatment has recently been used by select
practices around the country. However, stem cells are not really being used as there is no
sigpiﬁcant statistical data to support its application in tbe spine, There has been no FDA approval
status on any of this regarding the spine. There is really no approved technique or valid research
or science to support application in a person such as Claimant--a 27-year-old male with a failed
fusion. It is experimental treatment. Dr. Rushton has not ever referred any patients for lumbar
spine stem cell injections in his practice as a spine surgeon.

This is not reasonable treatment based on a number of factors. First, there is a lack of data
and lack of statistically significant studies to validate the use in individuals. The lack of FDA
approval and experimental nature of this procedure warrants further research and analysis before
it is applied routinely. Secondly, Claimant has had no subjective benefit from any of the
modalities provided to him. He has remained symptomatic with substantial pain levels, making
this treatment all the more questionable.

Dr. Rushton agrees that Dr. Rudin’s May 21, 2020 record indicates that Claimant was 65

percent improved with continued daily pain rated at 5 out of 10. He was working full time and
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full duty without medications. However, none of this was consistent with Dr. Rushton’s DME
about two weeks later. Claimant provided a history that he wished he never had the surgery and
had remained painful on an everyday basis, with an average pain level of 8 to 9 out of 10.
Importantly, what is done in terms of treatment is not based or validated by subjective measures.

There is a dramatic difference between a peer-reviewed level 3 type of study with
statistical significance compared to a simple white paper that is presented by a number of
surgeons writing about two or three cases; these are typically prompted by the industry to be
written. Dr. Rushton has not seen or is not aware of peer-reviewed scientific studies to support
the use of stem cell injections in the lumbar spine. Stem cell therapy is used for other parts of the
body such as the joints, elbows, shoulders and knees—soft tissue structures—mostly for
tendinopathi'es. However, the same iss'ue with not having a scien_tiﬁc basis still exists. The‘lumbar
spine, however, does not have soft tissue elements. If one injects this material into the sacroiliac
joint, there are really no soft tissue components within that joint to benefit from a regenerative-
type of approach. The biomechanical loads and stress and strain on the lumbar spine makes the
role of these technologies extraordinarily limited because they are not designed to restore
biomechanics. Spines fail because of biomechanical forces and degenerative forces over time; a
regenerative technology is not really going to apply any improvement to this type of architecture.

Additionally, there are complications and risks with any injection procedure, to include
infection and disease transmission. Anything that is injected poses risks, to include disc space
infections, epidural abscesses, spinal osteomyelitis and viral transmissions from autologous
sources.

In Dr. Rushton’s opinion, for these reasons, the stem cell injection procedure would not

be medically reasonable or necessary for Claimant. Claimant essentially has failed back surgery
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syndrome. No modalities that have been performed to date have improved him. Unfortunately, he
has failed to have a sustained pain-free interval after any invasive treatment, and in such a case,
the chances of any further improvement with further invasive modalities is horrifically low.

On cross examination, Dr. Rushton agreed that after the 2018 surgery, Claimant
continued to rate his pain complaints between 8 and 9 out of 10. He was then referred for
injections; he did receive some relief from the injections.

Dr. Rushton agreed that it is reasonable to try to avoid operating on patients when
possible. He agreed that a surgery, like any invasive procedure, also provides risks, including
infection. However, Dr. Rushton added that these are surgeries that have stood the test of time.
Dr. Rushton agreed that there are treatments and procedures available today that were not
available five, ten or Aﬁﬁcen years ago.

Dr. Rushton further agreed that just because a treatment is not mentioned in the
DEHCPGs this does not mean that it is not reasonable; however, he clarified that, to be
reasonable, there also needs to be scientific support from peer-review analyses, a level of
significance required to mandate the treatment as well as FDA-approval status.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

When an employee has suffered a compensable injury, the employer is required to pay for
reasonable and necessary medical “services, medicine and supplies” causally connected with that
injury.? “Whether medical services are necessary and reasonable or whether the expenses are

incurred to treat a condition causally related to an industrial accident are purely factual issues

3 DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2322,
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within the purview of the Board.” Because Claimant has filed the current petition, he has the
burden of proof.’

In this case, the dispute centers on the March 3, 2020 stem cell injection procedure
recommended by Dr. Rudin, and whether that treatment was reasonable and necessary in relation
to Claimant’s compensable lumbar spine injury. After a thorough review of the evidence, I
conclude that Claimant has not met his burden to show that the March 3, 2020 stem cell injection
procedure represents reasonable and necessary treatment.

Here, I was not convinced by Dr. Rudin that the lumbar spine stem cell injection
treatment was reasonable or necessary. Dr. Rudin testified that Claimant’s lumbar spine
condition in early 2020 called for either a spinal fusion surgery (Claimant’s third lumbar surgery)
or l}llnbar stem cell injectiong; and, given a choice, C}aimant had opted for thg injections over
surgery. Claimant wanted to avoid another surgery, which is not surprising as he told Dr.
Rushton that neither of his lumbar surgeries had been helpful.® Dr. Rudin admitted later in his
testimony that he also preferred that Claimant have the lumbar stem cell injections in lieu of a
third spinal surgery. Dr. Rudin further testified that Claimant had in mind that if the lumbar stem
cell injections failed, he would just have the fusion surgery anyway, so he elected to try the
injections first. While I accept the reasons why a third lumbar surgery might want to be avoided,

I was not convinced that trying lumbar stem cell injections was a reasonable alternative treatment

option.

4 Bullock v. K-Mart Corporation, No. 94A-02-002, 1995 WL 339025 at *3 (Del. Super. Ct., May 5, 1995).

3 DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 29, § 10125(c).
6 While it is understandable that Claimant wished to avoid a third lumbar surgery, Dr. Rushton was persuasive that
the proposed fusion surgery represented a tried and true treatment whereas a stem cell injection treatment for the

lumbar spine does not.
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Here, 1 found Dr. Rushton convincing that there are a number of reasons why stem cell
treatment, particularly when administered to address the lumbar spine, is not reasonable. There
has been no FDA approval regarding the application of this treatment to the spine. Dr. Rushton
added that there is no approved technique, valid statistical research or science to support this sort
of application. Thus, it does represent experimental treatment. Dr. Rushton testified that he has
treated thousands of spinal patients over the years, and has never referred a single patient for
lumbar stem cell injections in his practice. He further noted that while the problem of a lack of
scientific basis for the treatment still exists, stem cell treatment has been used for tendinopathies
in soft tissue structures such as the joints, elbows, shoulders and knees. Dr. Rushton was
convincing that there is no significant statistical data to support the use of stem cell injections in
the lumbar spine. Importantly, the lurpbar spine does not have ’these soft tissue element; within
the joint to benefit from a regenerative-type of approach. Dr. Rushton testified that
biomechanical loading and the normal stress and strain on the Jumbar spine limits the role of this
treatment because the treatment is not designed to restore biomechanics. He added that spines
will fail because of biomechanical and degenerative forces over time, and such a regenerative
technology will not apply any improvement to the spine’s actual architecture.

Additionally, Dr. Rushton was persuasive that Claimant’s failed treatment thus far also
makes this treatment approach unreasonable and unnecessary. Claimant has had no significant
subjective benefit from any of the modalities provided to him. He has remained highly
symptomatic with substantial pain levels, making the recommendation for this treatment all the
more questionable. Further, while not entirely definitive in terms of reasonableness and necessity
of treatment, it is still notable that the stem cell treatment itself did not appear to have been

successful here, as Dr. Rushton opined. I was not convinced that these treatments were
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significantly helpful. Claimant testified that he was unable to do anything for approximately three
weeks after the March 3, 2020 stem cell treatment; less than two months later, when he followed
up with Dr. Rudin on May 21, 2020, he reported that his symptoms were unchanged, and that he
had constant lumbar pain that was aggravated by all of his activities. While Dr. Rudin noted that
there had been 65 percent improvement with the treatment, I was not convinced that Claimant
was not suffering from essentially the same lumbar condition that he reported prior to this stem
cell injection treatment. Claimant did repeatedly testify that he was happy that he had this
treatment because he felt that he could work longer hours after the procedure. However, it
appeared that before this treatment, Claimant’s regular lumbar condition allowed him to at times
work very long hours and a shorter number of hours other times. It also appeared that this was
again the case after.the stem cell injection tFeatment. In any case, I.was not convinced that
Claimant’s condition improved after the stem cell injection treatment. In fact, Claimant reported
that he was in essentially terrible condition as of Dr. Rudin’s September 2020 visit with new
significant symptoms and an inability to even walk at times due to pain. Claimant required a new
MRI study, due to new and significant subjective complaints. Notably, however, instead of
following up with lumbar stem cell injections, Claimant was provided with another type of
lumbar injection to quiet his condition. It seems that if the March 2020 lumbar stem cell
injections were very successful, the treatment perhaps would have been repeated in September
2020. For all of these reasons, I was not convinced that the treatment itself was significantly
successful.

Finally, I note that Dr. Rushton’s testimony also reflected that the risks associated with
receiving injections in general was not worth it here, particularly given all of these factors that

pointed against providing stem cell injections to the lumbar spine in the first instance.
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In sum, I found Dr. Rushton’s opinion more persuasive than Dr. Rudin’s regarding the
compensability of the March 3, 2020 lumbar spine stem cell injections. Thus, I conclude that
Claimant has failed to meet his burden to prove that the treattnent was reasonable or necessary.

Therefore, Claimant’s petition for DACD is DENIED.

STATEMENT OF THE DETERMINATION
Accordingly, for the reasons stated above, Claimant’s petition for DACD regarding the

March 3, 2020 stem cell injection procedure is DENIED.
IT 1S SO ORDERED thisL\_ DAY OF DECEMBER, 2020.

INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD

MA_~_

KIMBERLY A. WILSON
Workers’ Compensation Hearing Officer

Mailed Date: |3~ | 7-2020 _ R

OWC Staff
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Baynard v. Quesenberry (Industrial Accident Board of the State of Delaware, 2020)

JULIUS BAYNARD, Employee,
V.
AE QUESENBERRY, Employer.

INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD OF THE
STATE OF DELAWARE

Hearing No. 1483348

Mailed Date: March 18, 2020
March 17, 2020

DECISION ON PETITION TO DETERMINE
COMPENSATION DUE

Pursuant to due notice of time and place of
hearing served on all parties in interest, the
above-stated cause came before the Industrial
Accident Board on December 19, 2019, in the
Hearing Room of the Board, in New Castle
County, Delaware.

PRESENT:
ANGELIQUE RODRIGUEZ
VINCENT D'ANNA

Susan D. Mack, Workers' Compensation Hearing
Officer, for the Board

APPEARANCES:
Natalie Wolf, Esquire, Attorney for the Employee

Christopher T. Logullo, Esquire, Attorney for the
Employer

Page 2

NATURE AND STAGE OF THE
PROCEEDINGS

Julius Baynard ("Claimant") filed a Petition
to Determine Compensation Due ("DACD") on
May 21, 2019 seeking a finding that he suffered a
disc injury to his lumbar spine in a work-related
accident on February 13, 2019. Claimant seeks
compensation for medical treatment for the
lumbar disc injury, including a stem cell

replacement procedure with Dr. Rudin. Claimant
also seeks total disability benefits from May 6,
2019 and ongoing. The Employer, AE
Quesenberry Carpentry, has acknowledged a
sprain/strain injury to the low back in a work-
related accident on February 13, 2019, but it
argues that the diagnosis and treatment with Dr.
Rudin for a lumbar disc injury was not
reasonable, necessary, or causally related to the
work accident.

A hearing was held on Claimant's petition on
December 19, 2019. This is the Board's decision
on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The parties stipulated to the following facts:
Claimant Julius Baynard was involved in a work
accident on February 13, 2019 while ripping up
floor boards during the course of his employment.
The Employer through its carrier Liberty Mutual
acknowledged a low back strain and sprain and
paid without prejudice for medical treatment for a
brief period following the injury. The Employer
also paid for total disability benefits from
February 19, 2019 through May 5, 2019. The total
disability payments were made without prejudice
based on an average weekly wage of $462.84 and
a compensation rate of $308.56 per week.
Claimant filed a DCD petition seeking an
agreement for the February 13, 2019 work injury;
recognition of compensable injuries consisting of
an annular tear at L5-S1, disc displacement, and
radiculopathy; continued medical treatment,
including stem cell injection and platelet lysate
epidural injection therapy performed November
11, 2019; and total disability benefits from May 6,
2019 and ongoing. The issues presented for
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decision at the hearing are: (1) the nature and
extent of Claimant's injury; (2) whether the
continued medical treatment delineated in the
Medical Bill Exhibit (Claimant's Exhibit 1),
including stem cell treatment, is reasonable,
necessary, and causally related to the work
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accident; and (3) whether Claimant is entitled to
total disability benefits from May 6, 2019 forward.

Bruce J. Rudin, M.D., a board-certified
orthopedic spine surgeon, testified on behalf of
Claimant Julius Baynard. Dr. Rudin began
treating Claimant on April 10, 2019 upon referral
from WorkPro. Claimant provided a history of
being 30 years old and injuring his low back
during demolition work on February 13, 2019.
Claimant had undergone multiple imaging tests,
including an MRI, and received six weeks of
physical therapy and medications. Claimant
described being in constant back pain with a pain
level of nine out of ten. He denied any prior low
back pain during the previous year. He had
injured himself in a 2008 motor vehicle accident,
but that injury had resolved. Claimant also
acknowledged a 2017 work incident in which a
box fell on him. He did not receive any treatment
related to the 2017 event. Dr. Rudin observed that
Claimant was in terrible condition at the first
visit. He was crying. He was unable to pick up his
daughter or put on his shoes. He could not work.
Dr. Rudin provided Claimant with a total
disability note. Dr. Rudin suspected a stress
fracture in the spine at L3-4 and focused on this
at first. He noted that this would be a typical
source of pain for a young person. An MRI was
unimpressive but showed a hint of fracture,
leading Dr. Rudin to order a CT scan. The stress
fracture was confirmed by CT scan. However, a
nerve block to L3-4 performed to confirmed the
area as a source of pain was only thirty percent
helpful. This led Dr. Rudin to question the stress
fracture as the source of Claimant's severe pain. A
high dose prednisone and deep tissue massage
also failed to help. Dr. Rudin testified that the
stress fracture seen on diagnostic testing was old,
so he began to suspect the L3-4 disc as the
problem instead. He felt that Claimant was
eligible for a discogram according to the Delaware
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practice guidelines. He described Claimant as a
"poster child" for ordering the test. Another
injection was tried at L3-4 to see if that would
help, but after it proved ineffective, Dr. Ginsberg

proceeded to perform a provocative discogram.
The discogram produced no pain or positive
findings at L3-4 and some indication of
degeneration but no pain at L4-5. However,
Claimant screamed with ten out of ten concordant
pain when the L5-S1 disc was put under low
pressure. A post-discogram CT scan showed
degenerative disc changes at L5-S1. At a follow up
visit on August 6, 2019, Dr. Rudin diagnosed
Claimant with a suspected circumferential
annular tear at L5-S1 based on the positive
discogram. Dr. Rudin explained that the most
common type of annular tear is radial, going from
the center out, but a circumferential tear goes
around the outside of the annulus. According to
Dr. Rudin, Claimant was eligible for surgery
under the practice guidelines, based on his severe
symptoms six months after the injury and his lack
of response to conservative care.

To avoid surgery, Dr. Rudin recommended
Claimant undergo a regenerative medicine "stem
cell" protocol. Claimant underwent the procedure
two months before the hearing. Dr. Rudin
asserted that Claimant is feeling much better now
in comparison to before the regenerative therapy.
The protocol used involves removing stem cells,
concentrating them, and re-injecting them into
the spine. Dr. Rudin described this process as the
first truly new, promising type of care for the
spine since he was in medical school. Dr. Rudin
partners with another physician to perform the
procedure. The consulting physician is an expert
in regenerative medicine and has been
performing the procedure for twelve years. Dr.
Rudin asserted that 65 to 70 percent of patients
who are otherwise candidates for spine surgery
show improvement with regenerative medicine
and avoid surgery. Dr. Rudin differentiated the
process he does from the "stem cell” procedures
performed by several chiropractors and primary
care physicians in Delaware who are not spine
experts. He
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described himself as "offended” by them calling
themselves experts in this procedure after a week
of training. Dr. Rudin also insisted that Dr.
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Brokaw was incorrect in stating that no studies
have been done on the use of regenerative
medicine in the spine. He testified that a paper in
the journal of the American Society of
Interventional Pain Physicians summarizes all the
studies about regenerative medicine in the spine
conducted so far and concludes there is level III
research evidence in support of using stem cell
therapy for the spine. Dr. Rudin insisted that
there is almost no downside to trying regenerative
medicine other than some pain from
inflammation due to the needles. He again
asserted that a large percentage of patients
improve after undergoing the procedure. In
addition, the regenerative medicine process is
much less expensive than surgery at about
$10,000 and the patient walks away from the
procedure with only two band-aids. The
procedure is safe, cheap, and easy to do, and the
patient can still undergo surgery later if
necessary. Dr. Rudin compared regenerative
medicine to spine surgery, which costs $125,000
and puts the patient out of work for four months.
In addition, surgery patients have less than a fifty
percent chance of returning to their previous job
even if the surgery improves their symptoms. Dr.
Rudin testified that the outcomes for stem cell
treatment have been durable, lasting for years.
The patient gets the full benefit of the procedure
within about three months. Dr. Rudin further
testified that the current Delaware practice
guidelines are ten years old, and he believes a new
version of the guidelines will include regenerative
medicine. Dr. Rudin disagreed with Dr. Brokaw's
testimony that the use of regenerative therapy
was experimental. He acknowledged that the
procedure used on Claimant is not FDA approved,
but this is because the procedure involves
harvesting the patient's own stem cells and
reinjecting them. As a result, the procedure is
outside of the FDA's jurisdiction. The FDA only
regulates stem cell therapy where purchased stem
cells are used. Dr. Rudin testified that he has sent
patients to out-of-state clinics for years to have
regenerative therapy
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done, but the procedure is now being performed
in Delaware. Dr. Rudin emphasized that medicine
changes over time. The reputation of stem cell
treatments has been harmed by the abuse in the
use of regenerative therapy. He insisted that the
new practice guidelines will try to avoid these
abusive practices from occurring in Delaware
workers' compensation cases.

Dr. Rudin reviewed the medical bill exhibit
(Claimant's Exhibit 1). He confirmed that all the
treatment represented was reasonable, necessary,
and related to the work injury. The treatment,
including bills from First State Orthopaedics,
physical therapy, a discogram, and the
regenerative medicine therapy, all occurred after
the work injury. Dr. Rudin explained that the
diagnostic discogram performed by Dr. Ginsberg
tested three levels, whereas the discogram done to
inject the stem cells was performed at one level.
The stem cell procedure cost about $15,000
including the discogram. Dr. Rudin confirmed
that Spine Care Delaware covers the facility
charges for treatment with Dr. Ginsberg and the
stem cell procedure. Professional fees are listed in
the FSO bill. Dr. Rudin opined that, but for the
accident on February 13, 2019, Claimant would
not have needed the treatment covered by the
medical bills. He opined that the treatment was
all related to the work accident.

Dr. Rudin acknowledged that Claimant may
have had degeneration in his spine before the
work accident, but the degeneration was
asymptomatic. The work accident made the
condition symptomatic. He noted that Claimant
was performing heavy duty work prior to the work
accident. Dr. Rudin denied that Claimant had just
a sprain/strain injury from the work accident. He
noted that Claimant was in terrible clinical
condition when he first saw Dr. Rudin two
months after the accident. Dr. Rudin insisted that
something other than a sprain/strain was causing
the continuing pain. The injections provided at
L3-4 were not helpful for Claimant, because L3-4
was not the pain generator. Dr. Rudin again
pointed to the ten out of ten pain response at L5-
S1 during the
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discogram. The radiologist reading the CT scan
did not find an annular tear at L5-S1, but he
stated that the disc was abnormal. Dr. Rudin
suspects Claimant has a circumferential annular
based on the positive response to the discogram
at that level. Dr. Rudin also testified that part of
the treatment protocol was to ‘"seal" a
circumferential tear.

On cross-examination, Dr. Rudin testified
that this is the first time he has testified in person
at a hearing in 28 years of practice. He is planning
to retire from performing surgery but still sees
injured workers. Claimant told Dr. Rudin about a
2008 motor vehicle accident that resulted in a low
back injury and leg pain. Dr. Rudin confirmed a
reference in Dr. Lifrak's 2010 records to a rollover
accident. Dr. Rudin had not seen Dr. Xing's
records for treatment after the 2010 accident. He
did not believe Dr. Lifrak's 2010 report rating
permanent impairment to the low back was
relevant to the current low back injury and
symptoms. Dr. Rudin asserted that a person with
a permanent impairment rating can still be fully
functional, performing heavy duty work, and not
receiving any treatment or medications. Dr.
Rudin focuses on the treatment record from the
year preceding the work accident to assess
whether Claimant had back problems and was
missing work, taking medications, or receiving
treatment for a back injury. Claimant's current
pain is in the back, with no radiation to the legs.
Diagnostic studies showed a fracture at L3-4 but,
according to Dr. Rudin, L3-4 turned out not to be
the source of Claimant's pain. Dr. Ginsberg saw
Claimant on June 12, 2019 and did not see a lot of
pathology on the MRI. He did not believe it
showed a clear annular tear. When Dr. Rudin sent
Claimant to Dr. Ginsberg for a discogram, he
believed Claimant had discogenic pain at L3-4.
The discogram and CT scan in July 2019 were
negative for pain at L3-4. Both L4-5 and L5-S1
showed degenerative changes but no annular
tears were visible. Dr. Rudin insisted that the
absence of an annular tear finding on the CT scan
was actually consistent with a circumferential

tear. Dr. Rudin thought the pain at L5-S1 found
during the discogram could
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be coming from the degenerative disc or from an
annular tear, but he noted that degenerative discs
are not typically painful on a discogram. The
discogram/CT study must show an abnormal disc
and a positive pain response for that level of the
spine to be treatable. Dr. Rudin offered Claimant
two choices, surgery or regenerative medicine.
Claimant did not want to undergo surgery. Dr.
Rudin has seen Claimant twice since the
regenerative therapy, which took place on
November 11, 2019. On November 18, 2019,
Claimant reported seven out of ten pain and a
post-injection flareup in symptoms. On December
5, 2019, Claimant's pain level was a six out of ten.
Dr. Rudin observed that Claimant was much
improved clinically at that exam. Claimant was
able to put his clothes on and sit longer than
before. Dr. Rudin still has not released Claimant
to return to work and will not consider releasing
him until three months after the procedure.

Dr. Rudin was asked to comment on a study
published in the journal of the American Society
of Interventional Pain Medicine in 2019. The
article reviewed spinal research literature in
regard to regenerative medicine. The discussion
section of the article indicated that the studies
reviewed provided fair evidence about the efficacy
of regenerative medicine. Dr. Rudin noted that
regenerative medicine was found to be at least as
good as facet injections and epidurals for
treatment of the spine. Dr. Rudin agreed that no
high quality randomized control studies were
reviewed. The reviewers gave more weight to
better quality studies in reaching their
conclusions. Dr. Rudin insisted that this article
shows that Dr. Brokaw is wrong in stating that no
studies exist about regenerative medicine in the
treatment of the spine. Dr. Rudin testified that his
own experience is that 70 percent of his patients
that have used regenerative medicine have been
able to avoid surgery. The procedure used at FSO
is the best protocol for regenerative medicine in
the spine.
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On re-direct, Dr. Rudin testified that he will
evaluate Claimant three months post-procedure
to determine if Claimant is capable of working or
undergoing an FCE. He insisted that he must see
Claimant to determine his work capability. He
criticized Dr. Brokaw for stating that Claimant
could return to work without examining him a
second time. Dr. Rudin expressed his excitement
about regenerative medicine as something new to
offer spine patients. His hope is that this will help
a lot of patients avoid surgery and the associated
costs and impairment.

Under questioning by the Board, Dr. Rudin
acknowledged that no long-term studies are
available yet to determine the durability of the
regenerative medicine treatment. Dr. Rudin
pointed out that spine surgery usually requires
years of followup care and surgery. The most
recent documentation of back pain in Claimant's
medical records that pre-dated the work accident
was in 2017 after a box fell on Claimant. Dr.
Rudin saw no evidence of treatment for back pain
after that incident. Dr. Rudin insisted that
Claimant's treatment has complied with the
Delaware practice guidelines "by the book."
During the discogram, the patient is asked
whether the procedure reproduces the pain he has
felt since he was injured. A positive response is
considered concordant pain. If the Claimant
experiences a new type of pain during the
discogram, this is considered discordant pain. Dr.
Rudin determined whether the work accident
caused Claimant's symptoms by looking at how
normal Claimant was prior to the accident. Dr.
Rudin believes it is probable Claimant has a
circumferential annular tear but this has not been
proven by diagnostic studies. Dr. Rudin
confirmed that Medicare and BCBS do not pay for
regenerative medicine/stem cell treatment at this
time, but he believes eventually insurance
companies will pay when a history of longterm
recovery has been shown. He noted that some
insurance companies are paying for specific uses
of stem cell therapy such as for tennis elbow.
Double blind studies are unlikely to be performed

because patients do not want to agree to no
treatment.
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On additional cross-examination, Dr. Rudin
testified that no insurance companies pay for
regenerative medicine to the spine, so far as he
knows. They do pay for the treatment in other
joints. Some companies who directly pay for
medical treatment, such as Amazon, do pay for
regenerative medicine to the spine.

Claimant Julius Baynard testified that he
worked for AE Quesenberry as a carpenter's
assistant and laborer in February 2019. He had
worked for the company for a little over a month.
On February 13, 2019, Claimant was doing
demolition work on a shed. As he applied extra
force to remove a floorboard, he felt a pull in his
back. He did not seek treatment immediately,
because he thought it was just normal pain due to
the heavy work he performs. After the injury, he
did lighter work for a few days. Claimant felt bad
pain in his back on February 18, 2019 when he
bent down to spackle. A supervisor sent him to
WorkPro for evaluation. Dr. Covington at
WorkPro provided medications and physical
therapy. None of the treatment helped. Dr.
Covington also tried to place Claimant on light
duty, but the Employer did not have any light
duty work available. Claimant has not worked
since February 18, 2019. Dr. Covington eventually
sent Claimant to see Dr. Rudin. Dr. Rudin
referred Claimant for conservative care. Some
medications were helpful but Claimant
experienced constant pain and limits in his
activities. Claimant testified that he can take a lot
of pain, but this pain was constant no matter what
he did. He was in pain both sitting and standing.
Claimant did not want to undergo surgery at the
age of 31, so he chose to undergo the stem cell
treatment offered by Dr. Rudin. No
hospitalization was required after the procedure.
Since the stem cell treatment, Claimant feels
much better. His pain level is now three to four
out of ten, and he can pick up his daughter and do
activities he was unable to do before the
treatment. Claimant still has some stiffness in his
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back. Claimant hopes to return to work but does
not want
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to do a labor job anymore due to the risk of
further injury. Claimant had no physical
restrictions before the work accident.

Claimant confirmed that he was involved in a
bad motor vehicle accident in 2010 in which he
suffered multiple injuries. He had to learn to walk
again after the accident. He denied any additional
treatment after June 2010. Claimant was involved
in a motorcycle accident in 2013. He injured his
head. Claimant was released after a visit to the
emergency room. In 2017, a box fell on his head at
work. His boss made him go for treatment after
the incident. Claimant denied any treatment for
two years prior to the work accident in February
2019. Claimant did not recall any accident in
2008.

On cross-examination, Claimant confirmed
that he has been involved in three motor vehicle
accidents since he became an adult. He was a
passenger in the January 1, 2010 MVA when the
vehicle rolled over and hit a tree. Claimant treated
with Dr. Lifrak. He had head pain and pain
throughout his spine after the accident. Claimant
did not treat after June 2010 although Dr. Lifrak
noted that he still had subjective pain and muscle
spasms at that time. Dr. Lifrak rated permanency
for the spine injury. Claimant also had seen Dr.
Xing and undergone physical therapy after the
2010 accident. The motorcycle accident occurred
on March 3, 2012. Claimant was thrown from his
bike and suffered a head injury. He denied a back
injury. Claimant recalled an accident in high
school when he was "T-boned" by a taxi. Claimant
began working for QE Quesenberry in January
2019.

Dr. Rudin documented a pain level of eight to
nine out of ten leading up to the stem cell
procedure. Claimant reported a pain level of
seven shortly after the procedure and a pain level
of six on a visit to Dr. Rudin in December 2019.
Claimant's pain level is now a three. Claimant has

not returned to work yet and will not do so until
the doctor and the attorney tell him he can.
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Claimant does not want to undergo back surgery.
Dr. Rudin told Claimant the stem cell procedure
was experimental and insurance companies do
not agree to pay for the procedure.

On re-direct, Claimant testified that he had
no difficulty working for two years prior to his
employment with QE Quesenberry in January
2019.

Under questioning by the Board, Claimant
testified that he wants to return to a less physical
job. He did not want to get surgery due to the long
recovery period. He has young children at home
who want him to be active with them. He has four
children and admits to being behind in his child
support.

Jason Brokaw, M.D., a specialist in physical
medicine and pain management, testified by
deposition for the Employer, AE Quesenberry
Carpentry. (Employer's Exhibit 1) Dr. Brokaw
examined Claimant on April 23, 2019 and
reviewed medical records related to the case.
Claimant provided a history of injuring his low
back on February 13, 2019 while pulling up
floorboards as he was demolishing a shed. Prior
to the April DME, Claimant had treated at an
urgent care center and occupational medicine
clinic and seen a spine surgeon, Dr. Rudin. Dr.
Brokaw has also reviewed MRIs, CT scans, and
discography reports performed over the course of
2019. None of the diagnostic studies showed any
posttraumatic findings such as fractures,
dislocations, herniations, or tears. They showed
minimal degenerative arthritis findings. Claimant
has a congenital pars defect at L3-4, but this has
not caused any slippage or spondylolisthesis. Dr.
Brokaw described this as a coincidental finding
that did not correlate to Claimant's type of pain.
Claimant had received two diagnostic injections
from Dr. Ginsberg. The first injection at L3-4 had
a negative diagnostic and therapeutic response.
Dr. Ginsberg then performed left-sided lumbar
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facet injections at multiple levels in the lower
lumbar spine. The second injection also had a
negative diagnostic and therapeutic response. The
response to the injections indicated these areas
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were not causing Claimant's pain. At the DME in
April 2019, Claimant described ongoing pain in
the left lower lumbar region of his spine. One
episode of left leg nerve pain was brief and went
away quickly. Since then, his pain had been in one
area of the left lower lumbar region.

Claimant told Dr. Brokaw he had undergone
treatment for low back pain after a motor vehicle
accident around 2010. At that time, he was
informed that he had disc herniations and a
bulge. He attended therapy and chiropractic
treatment, learning how to walk again. His pain
resolved after about a year and he had no ongoing
pain until the new injury occurred in February
2019. Dr. Brokaw relied on the history provided
by Claimant, because he had not seen medical
records that predated the work accident. Upon
examination, Dr. Brokaw observed that Claimant
weighs 339 pounds and qualifies as morbidly
obese. Claimant exhibited mild leaning behavior,
leaning off to the right side due to pain
complaints in his left low back region. He was also
leaning slightly forward. Dr. Brokaw noted
tenderness to palpation at the left lumbosacral
junction. Claimant had increased pain with
flexion and left rotational maneuvers. Left-sided
lumbar facet maneuvers were equivocal. Claimant
had decreased range of motion in his lumbar
spine. A neurologic exam was normal other than
hypoactive ankle jerk reflexes. The examination
revealed that Claimant was hurting in the left
lower lumbar regions, worse with flexion, left
rotation, and side bending and extension. Overall,
these exam findings were most consistent with a
muscular etiology, although Dr. Brokaw
acknowledged that the lumbar facet maneuvers
were equivocal in nature. The only objective
finding was the hypoactive ankle jerk reflex, but
this was not related to the lumbar spine. Dr.
Brokaw assessed Claimant with a lumbar sprain
in relation to the work injury on February 13,

2019. Dr. Brokaw also assessed Claimant with
pre-existing disease of the lumbar spine, which
included disc bulges and herniation that required
treatment over 10 years ago due to a motor
vehicle accident. A pars intra-articular fracture in
the L3 region was a coincidental finding
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that did not correlate to Claimant/s symptoms.
Dr. Brokaw diagnosed Claimant with a lumbar
strain and sprain based on the mechanism of
injury in the February 2019 work accident, the
treatment claimant had received to date,
diagnostic studies, and clinical examination
results. Dr. Brokaw asserted that Claimant did not
have any posttraumatic findings in his lumbar
spine. Claimant did not even have significant
arthritis. Dr. Brokaw felt that the mechanism of
injury and the way claimant hurt when he moved
was consistent with a muscular strain only.

Dr. Brokaw opined that the lumbar fusion
surgery and the regenerative medicine procedure
recommended by Dr. Rudin in August 2019 were
not reasonable and necessary procedures for
Claimant's work accident and injury. Dr. Rudin
was recommending that Claimant undergo one of
these procedures. Dr. Brokaw disagreed with the
recommendation for surgery because the
diagnostic tests did not show an annular tear or
any other significant structural abnormality that
would be amenable to surgery. Dr. Brokaw
asserted that the discography was a subjective
study and was not corroborated by the follow-up
CT scan on the same day of the procedure or the
diagnostic  studies completed before the
discogram. He did not believe this subjective test
result was a good predictor of surgical success.
Dr. Brokaw confirmed that the discogram was
interpreted to be negative at L3-4 and negative at
L4-5 but positive and concordant at L5-S1. The
patient was sent for a CT scan immediately after
the discogram to look for something that
correlated with the pain at the L5-S1 level. Dye
was placed in the middle of the disc to look for
leaking out of a tear on the CT scan. No leaking
was found. Dr. Rudin suspected a circumferential
annular tear but no annular tear was ever seen on
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the diagnostic studies of Claimant. Dr. Brokaw
considered this a very equivocal clinical suspicion.
He insisted that the diagnostic tests did not reveal
any pathology amenable to a major surgery such
as a lumbar fusion. Dr. Brokaw also testified that
a main indication for surgery is the failure of
conservative care. He noted that Claimant was
only six
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months out from a soft tissue injury, and he felt
that Claimant did not have good concordance
between his objective findings and his subjective
findings. Dr. Brokaw also believed that Claimant
was a poor surgical candidate because of his
obesity, his tobacco use, and marijuana use.

Dr. Brokaw also opined that the stem cell
treatment was not reasonable for Claimant's
condition. Dr. Brokaw described stem cell
treatment as experimental in nature. Such
treatments have been shown to be effective in
certain conditions, especially around the knee and
the shoulder regions. However, Dr. Brokaw
testified that there are no good studies showing
long-term benefit of stem cells in the lumbar
spine region. He insisted that no control studies
show a benefit of stem cell treatment in the
lumbar spine for conditions such as Claimant has.
Dr. Brokaw did not believe stem cell treatment
should be performed in a workers' compensation
setting. It would only be reasonable in an
academic experimental setting with oversight
from an investigational review board. Dr. Brokaw
did not believe the stem cell treatment should be
performed, because it was experimental and
unlikely to benefit Claimant. In his opinion,
Claimant would not be a candidate for the stem
cell treatment in an academic experimental
setting, due to Claimant's co-morbidities.
Claimant's obesity and his workers' compensation
status would preclude him from the initial
investigational experiments for stem cell
treatment. If such treatments proved effective and
were published, Claimant might be a secondary
candidate. That would not occur until years from
now due to the lack of current good literature to
support stem cell treatment in the lumbar spine.

Dr. Brokaw recommended weight loss,
mobilization through aggressive activation-based
physical therapy, and medications such as anti-
inflammatories and muscle relaxers to treat
Claimant's lumbar strain and sprain. Dr. Brokaw
would not recommend chronic opioid medication,
and he would not recommend any further
aggressive procedures such as pain management
injections or any other forms of surgical
procedures. As of April 2019, Dr. Brokaw
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recommended two to three more months of light
to medium duty work restrictions. After Claimant
received appropriate treatment, he would
eventually be capable of returning to full-time,
full duty work without restrictions. Dr. Brokaw
acknowledged that Claimant may have been
disabled from work for the first couple of weeks
after an acute strain such as he suffered. After
that, he probably could have done sedentary to
light duty work as he started to heal. Dr. Brokaw
would not have totally disabled Claimant from
work beyond two weeks after the work accident.

On cross-examination, Dr. Brokaw confirmed
that Claimant was working full duty as a
carpenter before his injury. Claimant had no
restrictions on his physical capabilities to Dr.
Brokaw's knowledge. He also understood that
Claimant had not required any medical treatment
for his low back for several years prior to the work
accident.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS
OF LAW

Compensability

Claimant Julius Baynard seeks a finding that
he suffered a lumbar disc injury in a work
accident that occurred on February 13, 2019 and
that the treatment for this injury, including
regenerative medicine with Dr. Rudin, was
reasonable, necessary, and causally related to the
work accident. Claimant also seeks total disability
from May 6, 2019 onward. The Employer, AE
Quesenberry  Carpentry, acknowledged a
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sprain/strain injury to the low back in a work
accident on February 13, 2019; however, the
Employer contends that the diagnosis and
treatment for a lumbar disc injury was not
reasonable, necessary, or causally related to the
work accident. Because this is Claimant's petition,
he must prove his claims by a preponderance of
the evidence. See Lomascolo v. RAF Industries,
No. 93A-11-013, 1994 WL 380989, at *2 (Del.
Super. Ct. June 29, 1994).

Under Delaware law, an employer is
obligated to pay for reasonable and necessary
medical expenses related to a work injury. See
DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2322; Turnbull v.
Perdue Farmes,
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C.A. No. 98A-02-001, 1998 WL 281201, at *2
(Del. Super. Ct. May 18, 1998), aff'd, 723 A.2d
398 (Del. 1998). In determining causation in an
identifiable industrial accident, the "but for"
standard of causation is applied. See State v.
Steen, 719 A.2d 930, 932 (Del. 1998); Reese v.
Home Budget Center, 619 A.2d 907, 910 (Del.
1992). "The accident need not be the sole cause or
even a substantial cause of the injury. If the
accident provided the 'setting' or ‘trigger,'
causation is satisfied for purposes of
compensability." Reese, 619 A.2d at 910.

The Board first considers the nature of
Claimant's injury in the February 13, 2019 work
accident. The accident itself appears to be
uncontested. After weighing the evidence, the
Board finds that Claimant has proved by a
preponderance of the evidence that he injured his
lumbar disc in the February 13, 2019 work
accident. The Board finds Dr. Rudin's opinion
that Claimant suffered a lumbar disc injury at the
L5-S1 level in the accident to be more credible and
persuasive than that of Dr. Brokaw. See, e.g.,
Peden v. Dentsply International, C.A. No. 03A-
11-003, 2004 WL 2735461, at *5 (Del. Super. Ct.
Nov. 1, 2004) (finding the Board is free to choose
between differing medical opinions that are
supported by substantial evidence). Dr. Rudin is
an orthopedic spine surgeon with specialized

training and extensive experience in the
evaluation and treatment of spine injuries,
whereas Dr. Brokaw does not perform spine
surgery or specialize in the treatment of the spine.
The Board accordingly gives Dr. Rudin's opinion
additional weight in relation to Claimant's low
back diagnosis. In addition, the failure of
conservative care such as physical therapy and
medications to alleviate Claimant's severe low
back symptoms suggests a more significant injury
than the back strain/sprain injury diagnosed by
Dr. Brokaw. The potential for a more serious
injury was recognized by the doctor who treated
Claimant initially, because the doctor referred
Claimant to see Dr. Rudin for evaluation within
two months of the accident. Dr. Rudin then
observed at his initial evaluation on April 10, 2019
that Claimant was in terrible

Page 18

condition, with constant back pain and a pain
level of nine out of ten. Dr. Rudin initially
suspected a stress fracture at L3-4 as a source of
pain, but when an injection to this area did not
provide adequate relief, he began to consider a
disc injury. A provocative discogram was
performed to investigate further for discogenic
pain. The discogram produced no concordant
pain at L3-4 or L4-5, but produced ten out of ten
concordant pain at L5-S1 under low pressure. A
post-discogram CT scan showed degenerative disc
changes at L5-Si. Dr. Rudin explained that
concordant pain is found when pressure to a disc
during the discogram produces the same
symptoms that the patient had been complaining
about in seeking treatment. Dr. Rudin cited the
discogram findings in concluding that the source
of Claimant's pain was the L5-S1 disc. The Board
finds Dr. Rudin's assessment of the test results
and diagnosis of Claimant with a disc-related
injury, not just a sprain/strain injury, to be
persuasive.

Dr. Rudin suspects that Claimant's pain is
coming from a circumferential tear to the
annulus, given the discogram result and the
absence of a radial tear appearing on the CT scan.
He noted that a circumferential tear would not
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show up on a CT scan. Dr. Rudin also
acknowledged that the pain could be coming from
degenerative changes in the disc, although he
noted that degenerative discs typically were not
painful on a discogram. Dr. Rudin insisted that
any degenerative condition in Claimant's lumbar
spine was asymptomatic before the work accident
and the work accident made it symptomatic. Dr.
Rudin's opinion relating Claimant's current
lumbar spine pain to the work accident is
supported by the medical records. The records do
not document any low back pain or dysfunction
for several years preceding the work accident. The
most significant previous injury to the low back
occurred in a 2010 motor vehicle accident, nine
years ago. The Board further notes that, at the
time of the February 2019 injury, Claimant was
working in a very physical job with QE
Quesenberry. Also, Claimant provided unrebutted
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testimony that he did not have any physical
restrictions prior to the accident. After the
accident, Claimant was unable to do his job and
described significant symptoms and functional
problems such as difficulty sitting and standing
and an inability to pick up his daughter. These
severe symptoms continued through conservative
treatment with WorkPro and then with Dr.
Rudin's office. Based on the evidence presented,
the Board is satisfied that Claimant suffered a
lumbar disc injury at L5-S1 on February 13, 2019
that caused severe pain and dysfunction and led
to his treatment with Dr. Rudin.

The Board next considers whether the
treatment with Dr. Rudin, in particular the
regenerative medicine procedure, was reasonable
and necessary treatment for Claimant's work-
related lumbar spine injury. The Board chooses to
rely on Dr. Rudin's opinion that the treatment
provided to Claimant was reasonable and
necessary for his work-related low back injury.
Claimant was continuing to have severe
symptoms when he first saw Dr. Rudin on April
10, 2019, two months post-injury. Therefore, Dr.
Rudin was justified in ordering additional
conservative treatment such as deep tissue

massage and sending Claimant for injections with
Dr. Ginsberg in an attempt to further diagnose
and treat Claimant's symptoms. When these
treatments did not succeed, Dr. Rudin also was
reasonable to request a provocative discogram to
assess whether a lumbar disc injury was the
source of Claimant's pain and dysfunction. The
strong positive "concordant” response at L5-S1
shifted Dr. Rudin's attention from a suspected
disc problem at L3-4 to a confirmed disc problem
at L5-S1. Dr. Rudin asserted that Delaware's
treatment guidelines would allow for surgical
intervention in this case, six months post-injury.
However, the Board concurs with Dr. Rudin and
Claimant that spine surgery for a 31-year-old
individual should be avoided if at all possible. Dr.
Rudin thus offered a regenerative medicine
treatment for
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Claimant's disc injury instead of surgery, and
Claimant decided to go forward with the
treatment in November 2019.

The Employer strongly opposes the
compensability of the regenerative medicine or
"stem cell" procedure because it considers the
procedure experimental in nature. Dr. Rudin
admitted that typically insurance companies do
not pay for regenerative medicine procedures to
the spine and consider them experimental.
Nonetheless, he insisted there was support in the
medical literature for his decision to treat
Claimant with regenerative medicine. Dr. Rudin
also opined that insurance companies eventually
will pay for the procedures as a less expensive and
invasive alternative to spine surgery. He noted
that insurance companies do pay for some
regenerative medicine protocols such as for tennis
elbow. Dr. Rudin rebutted Dr. Brokaw's claim
that no studies support the use of regenerative
medicine for the spine. He reviewed in detail a
2019 journal article that summarized all the
studies performed so far on regenerative medicine
in the spine and evaluated their findings. He
insisted that the article provides support for his
decision to use a stem cell protocol for Claimant's
lumbar spine injury. Dr. Rudin differentiated the
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procedure he uses, which harvests the patient's
own stem cells and injects them into the injured
area, from the "stem cell" therapies used and
abused by some other medical providers. Dr.
Rudin further asserted that the procedure he uses
is not governed by the FDA, because it does not
introduce purchased cells from another person.
Dr. Rudin also favors the use of the regenerative
medicine protocol instead of surgery for Claimant
because of the much lower cost of the procedure
and the ease and safety of the procedure from the
patient's perspective. He works with a physician
who is expert in the field of regenerative medicine
to perform the procedure for his patients. This
consulting physician has found that 65 to 70
percent of patients who are otherwise candidates
for spine surgery show improvement with
regenerative medicine and avoid surgery.
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The Board gives extra scrutiny to treatment
that is new and not yet widely adopted by the
medical community, as appears to be the case for
the regenerative medicine protocol used by Dr.
Rudin. Furthermore, regenerative medicine to
treat spine injuries is not included in Delaware's
current practice guidelines for treating low back
injuries. Dr. Rudin also benefits financially from
performing regenerative medicine on spine
patients, which could bias his opinion on the
efficacy of the treatment. Nonetheless, the
Employer has not offered credible evidence to
rebut Dr. Rudin's testimony about the safety and
efficacy of the procedure for a spine patient such
as Claimant. Dr. Brokaw does not appear to have
any training or experience in the use of
regenerative medicine to treat the spine or in
regenerative medicine or treatment of the spine
generally, so his testimony does not carry the
same weight as that of Dr. Rudin in this instance.
In addition, Claimant underwent the regenerative
medicine treatment about a month before the
hearing and reported a significant reduction in his
pain level both to his treating doctor and at the
hearing. It is too early to tell if the treatment will
provide longterm benefit, but the improvement in
symptoms described by Claimant provides
evidence that, at least in the shortterm, the

regenerative medicine protocol has benefited
Claimant. The Board also concludes that the
severity of Claimant's pain and lack of response to
multiple attempts at conservative care prior to the
use of the regenerative medicine therapy favored
the use of the stem cell procedure in this case. The
stem cell procedure was a reasonable attempt at
alleviating  Claimant's symptoms  without
undergoing the much greater expense and
invasiveness of spine surgery. This is particularly
true where Claimant is so young and has been out
of work for so long. Thus, in consideration of the
facts and evidence presented to the Board at this
time, the Board finds that Claimant has met his
burden to prove that the treatment with Dr.
Rudin, including the regenerative medicine
protocol, has been reasonable and necessary
treatment for his work-related lumbar spine

injury.
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After weighing the evidence, the Board finds
that Claimant has proved by a preponderance of
the evidence that he injured his lumbar disc at Ls-
S1 in the February 13, 2019 work accident. The
Board also finds that the medical treatment
rendered has been reasonable, necessary, and
causally related to the work accident. The
Employer shall pay medical expenses in
accordance with the applicable fee schedule.

Total Disability

In addition to the claim for medical
treatment, Claimant seeks payment for total
disability benefits from May 6, 2019 and ongoing.
The Employer previously paid total disability
benefits without prejudice from February 19, 2019
through May 5, 2019 at the rate of $309.56 per
week. Dr. Rudin testified that he placed Claimant
on total disability when he first saw Claimant on
April 10, 2019 and he continued to maintain
Claimant on total disability as of the date of the
hearing. He planned to keep Claimant on total
disability for at least three months after the
regenerative medicine procedure performed on
November 11, 2019. On the other hand, Dr.
Brokaw testified that he did not believe total
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disability from work was required more than two
weeks after the date of injury. He recommended
two to three more months of restricted duty work
after his examination of Claimant on April 23,
2109, but after that he anticipated Claimant
would be able to return to full duty, fulltime work.

The Board finds Dr. Rudin more credible on
the issue of disability for several reasons. Dr.
Rudin and Claimant have described significant
symptoms and limitations over the course of
Claimant's treatment and a lack of improvement
until the recent stem cell treatment in November
2019. Dr. Rudin has continued to see Claimant in
person since April 2019 whereas Dr. Brokaw has
not seen Claimant since the DME on April 23,
2019. This puts Dr. Rudin in a better position to
judge work capability through to the present time.
Additionally, Claimant recently underwent
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the regenerative medicine treatment with Dr.
Rudin and the Board finds it reasonable to allow
Claimant time to respond to the treatment before
returning to work. Dr. Rudin has recommended
at least three months of total disability after the
procedure, and no one has rebutted his testimony
about the necessary recovery time.

Based on the preceding discussion, the Board
accepts Dr. Rudin's opinion that Claimant has
been total disabled from April 10, 2019 to the
present. Claimant is awarded total disability from
May 6, 2019 and ongoing at the rate of $308.56
per week. The Board expects that Claimant will be
released to some form of work as early as
possible, since Claimant has been out of work for
a year at this point. The Board has often
recognized that a return to work is helpful in the
recovery of injured workers. Claimant has
expressed interest in returning to a less physical
job than he was performing at the time of injury.

Attorney's Fee and Medical Witness Fee

A claimant who is awarded compensation is
entitled to payment of a reasonable attorney's fee
"in an amount not to exceed thirty percent of the

award or ten times the average weekly wage in
Delaware as announced by the Secretary of Labor
at the time of the award, whichever is smaller." 19
Del. C. § 2320. At the current time, the maximum
based on Delaware's average weekly wage
calculates to $10,888.40.

In setting an attorney's fee, the Board
considers the factors set forth in General Motors
Corp. v. Cox, 304 A.2d 55, 57 (Del. 1973).
Claimant, as the party seeking the award of the
fee, bears the burden of proof in providing
sufficient information to make the requisite
calculation. Claimant has been awarded workers'
compensation benefits with respect to his lumbar
spine injury. An attorney's fee award is thus
warranted in this case.
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Claimant's counsel submitted an affidavit
stating that she spent 34 hours preparing for the
hearing on the pending petition. Claimant's
counsel has been a member of the Delaware bar
since 1993 and has extensive experience in the
practice of workers' compensation law. Counsel
has represented Claimant since May 6, 2019.
Counsel does not represent Claimant in anything
other than a workers' compensation context. This
case was no more complex than the usual case.
Claimant's counsel represents that she has a
contingent fee arrangement with Claimant. A
copy of the fee agreement was provided to the
Board. Counsel's hourly rate for a non-contingent
case is $475 per hour but she recognizes that
counsel of similar experience and skill typically
have hourly rates of approximately $300 to $350
per hour. Counsel represents that no fees have
been or will be received from any other source.
There is no evidence that Employer is unable to
pay an attorney's fee.

Taking into consideration the factors set forth
above and the fees customarily charged in this
locality for similar services, the Board finds that
an attorney's fee of the maximum statutory fee or
thirty percent of the award, whichever is less, is
reasonable and within statutory limits in this
case.



Baynard v. Quesenberry (Industrial Accident Board of the State of Delaware, 2020)

A medical witness fee for medical testimony
on behalf of Claimant is awarded to Claimant, in
accordance with title 19, section 2322(e) of the
Delaware Code.

STATEMENT OF THE DETERMINATION

For the reasons set forth above, the Board
GRANTS the Claimant's Petition to Determine
Additional Compensation Due. The Board finds
that Claimant has injured his L5-S1 lumbar disc in
the February 13, 2019 work accident. The Board
also finds that the medical treatment rendered
under the direction of Dr. Rudin has been
reasonable, necessary, and causally related to the
work accident. The Employer shall pay medical
expenses in accordance with the applicable fee
schedule.

Page 25

The Board further awards total disability from
May 6, 2019 and ongoing at the rate of $308.56
per week. An attorney's fee of the maximum
statutory fee or thirty percent of the award,
whichever is less, and a medical witness fee are
also awarded.

IT IS SO ORDERED THIS 17" DAY OF
MARCH, 2020.

INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD

[S/
ANGELIQUE RODRIGUEZ

/s/
VINCENT D'ANNA

I, Susan D. Mack, Hearing Officer, hereby
certify that the foregoing is a true and correct
decision of the Industrial Accident Board.

/S/

Mailed Date: 3-18-20

/s/
OWC Staff
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ANTHONY J. CICIONE, JR., Employee,
V.
FMC CORPORATION, Employer.

INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
Hearing No. 1373594

Mailed Date: May 6, 2016
May 3, 2016

DECISION ON PETITION TO DETERMINE ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION DUE

Pursuant to due notice of time and place of hearing served on all parties in interest, the
above-stated cause by stipulation of the parties came before a Hearing Officer of the
Industrial Accident Board on January 13, 2016, in the Hearing Room of the Board, in New
Castle County, Delaware.

PRESENT:

CHRISTOPHER F. BAUM
Workers' Compensation Hearing Officer

APPEARANCES:
Frederick S. Freibott, Attorney for the Employee
H. Garrett Baker, Attorney for the Employer
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NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Anthony J. Cicione, Jr. ("Claimant") was injured in a compensable work accident on
June 17, 2011, while he was working for FMC Corporation ("Employer"). Employer has
acknowledged a compensable low back injury. In September of 2012, Claimant underwent an
L5-S1 spinal fusion with pedicle screw instrumentation, posterior lateral bone graft with local
allograft added to lateral recesses of decompression of an L.4-5 and L5-S1 laminectomy with
decompression of bilateral L5-S1 nerve roots.

On September 9, 2015, Claimant filed a Petition to Determine Additional Compensation
Due seeking a finding that an L3-4 lumbar laminectomy surgery that he underwent on
September 8, 2015 is causally related to the work accident. Employer argues that the 2015
surgery is unrelated to the work accident.

The parties stipulated that this case could be heard and decided by a Workers'
Compensation Hearing Officer, in accordance with title 19, section 2301B(a)(4) of the
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Delaware Code. When hearing a case by stipulation, the Hearing Officer stands in the
position of the Industrial Accident Board. See DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2301B(a)(6). A
hearing was held on Claimant's petition on January 13, 2016. This is the decision on the
merits of the petition.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

Claimant testified that he is sixty-three years old. He worked for Employer for forty-
three years. He had had two prior back surgeries before June of 2011, but after those
surgeries he was fine and had no back problems. He was able to do his work with no
problem. In June of 2011, he was a maintenance specialist for Employer. On June 17, 2011,
he was standing in a tube on pipes shoving filter pads out to other workers. The pads
weighed about fifty-five pounds. He hurt his back doing this. He underwent fusion surgery in
2012. After that surgery,
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he still had pain. He tried to return to work, but his back hurt so much that he needed
another surgery.

Claimant agreed that he has a vascular issue. The doctors have tried twice to put new
veins in, but failed. He has undergone about five vascular procedures in total. He has
ambulation problems. Following the 2015 surgery, he was still hurting but it feels like the
blood flow is going through. He feels better, but he still has some trouble with walking. He
uses a cane almost every day.

Deborah A. Cicione testified that she has been married to Claimant for over forty-two
years. His first back surgery was in 1987 and the second one nine years after that. After those
surgeries he felt much better. He could do things at home and in the yard without complaint.
He had no restrictions. He had no problems walking prior to June of 2011.

Ms. Cicione explained that, after the June 2011 injury, Claimant was in extreme pain,
although surgery was delayed until 2012. After the surgery, Claimant still had a lot of pain.
He tried physical therapy, but that was too intense for him and they had to dial it back.
Claimant was having trouble with his legs during that time.

Ms. Cicione stated that, since the September 2015 surgery, Claimant's condition has
improved to "fair." At times, he walks better and his pain complaints have improved. He is
still on pain medication.

Dr. Bruce J. Rudin testified by deposition on behalf of Claimant. He began to provide
medical treatment to Claimant on July 27, 2011. In his opinion, Claimant's 2015 surgery was
causally related to the 2011 work accident.
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Dr. Rudin explained that Claimant was injured in a workplace incident on June 17, 2011.1
Claimant complained of both back and left leg pain. He had disk pathology localized
predominantly to the L4-5 and L5-S1 level, although there was a little bit of pathology at L3-
4. The L5-S1 level was severely degenerative and the L4-5 level severely stenotic. At L3-4,
there was a disk protrusion with osteophytes (bone spurs) mildly indenting the dural sac at
L3-4. There was also a disk protrusion at L2-3. Conservative care was tried for a time, but
Claimant's condition did not improve. Finally, in September of 2012, he had surgery in the
form of a laminectomy and fusion. The nerves were decompressed at both L4-5 and L5-S1
and the severely degenerative level at L5-S1 was stabilized with bone graft and pedicle
screws. Only the L5-S1 level was fused.

Dr. Rudin stated that, post-surgery, Claimant had a decrease in his back pain and leg
pain, but he never got complete relief of his symptoms. He was better than he was prior to
the surgery, but not as good as he was prior to the work injury. After a functional capacity
evaluation, Dr. Rudin released Claimant to return to medium-duty work in May of 2013.2 An
August 2013 EMG identified evidence of peripheral neuropathy in the lower extremities (not
a pinched nerve).

Dr. Rudin saw Claimant in December of 2013. Claimant was complaining of bilateral leg
pain rated as an eight on a ten-point scale. At the time, the doctor did not think that this was
coming from the spinal condition. Claimant complained of persistent back and leg pain with
a progressive worsening ability to walk distances. This could have been spinal-related
(neurogenic claudication) or vascular-related (vascular claudication). Claimant, however,
had fairly severe
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vascular disease, with calcification and blockage of blood vessels.? Therefore, Dr. Rudin
referred Claimant to a vascular surgeon (Dr. William Schickler), believing it to be the more
likely source of the leg problems. After some vascular problems were dealt with by a stenting
procedure, Claimant reported a lower pain level (six out of ten) and he was able to walk
longer distances. However, he continued to have bad vascular studies. Dr. Schickler
eventually did a vascular bypass and after that Dr. Schickler tested Claimant's blood flow in
the legs and deemed it adequate. However, after vascular stents and bypasses and surgeries
and rehabilitation, Claimant was still having difficulty walking without severe pain and
numbness.

Dr. Rudin testified that Claimant came back to see him on July 15, 2015. Claimant
continued to have low back and bilateral leg pain. Claimant rated his pain as a nine on a ten-
point scale and reported that he was could walk less than a block. Because of Claimant's
difficulty walking distances even after the vascular treatment, the doctor then believed that
the etiology was more spinal in nature. He also had a positive straight leg raise test,
indicating a pinched nerve. An MRI was done on July 23, 2015. This revealed a large disk
herniation at L3-4 with paracentral disk protrusion and facet arthrosis causing moderate
central canal stenosis impinging on the nerve roots. The disk itself was extruded and
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migrated proximally. L4-5 showed a disk bulge and bone spurring resulting in mild stenosis
and foraminal narrowing. L5-S1 was, of course, fused.

Dr. Rudin recommended further surgery, which was performed on September 8, 2015. It
was a decompressive laminectomy. Because of Claimant's other medical comorbidities, the
doctor opted against more extensive surgery.
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Dr. Rudin stated that, by immobilizing L5-S1, increased stress is put on the other spinal
disks, which can result in adjacent segment degeneration. One would therefore expect the
L4-5 and L3-4 level to degenerate at a faster pace than would have occurred if L5-S1 had not
been fused. In the doctor's opinion, over the three years from the 2012 surgery, the L3-4 disk
worsened until the point that he had a disk herniation at that level with obvious spinal
stenosis. L4-5 was not as badly affected because it already had a decompressive laminectomy
to give it more room. It would require a lot more pathology to make L4-5 bad compared to
L3-4 which was not normal to start with and had not been operated on.

Accordingly, in Dr. Rudin's opinion, the surgery at L3-4 is causally related to the work
injury by way of adjacent segment degeneration caused by the fusion done at L5-S1. The
doctor noted that, since the 2015 surgery, Claimant is 70% better. He is walking better, his
pain has improved and his leg numbness has lessened. This indicates that those problems
that Claimant has been complaining about for years were, in fact, related to the spinal
condition and not to vascular pathology.

Dr. John B. Townsend, a neurologist, testified by deposition on behalf of Employer. He
has evaluated Claimant on four occasions.4 He has also reviewed pertinent medical records.
In his opinion, Claimant's L3-4 disk herniation is unrelated to the 2011 work accident.

Dr. Townsend was aware that Claimant had discectomy at L5-S1 in 1979. A second
surgery at the same level was done about nine years after that. No fusion had been done prior
to the 2011 work accident. The doctor understood that, in June of 2011, Claimant lifted
something awkwardly and felt back pain. A July 2011 MRI showed disk material herniated at
L5-S1. Spondylosis, facet arthropathy and retrolisthesis were all noted. Degenerative changes
were
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predominantly at L4-5 and L5-S1, but there was no substantial abnormality at L3-4 at that
time. Dr. Townsend confirmed that a follow-up MRI was taken in June of 2012. It showed a
mild broad-based protrusion at L2-3 and, to a lesser extent, at L.3-4, which is consistent with
degenerative changes.

Dr. Townsend stated that Claimant had a lumbar interbody fusion at L5-S1 level,
performed by Dr. Rudin on September 18, 2012. Dr. Rudin did a bone graft fusion with
pedicle screws, and he also decompressed the L.4-5 and L5-S1 disk spaces. A laminectomy
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was done at L4-5. Following the surgery, Claimant had some leg difficulty. He had a variety
of vascular issues and eventually had stents placed to open the blood flow. There was some
improvement noted by Dr. Schickler following the stent procedure. An August 2013 EMG
was read as showing that Claimant had a peripheral neuropathy with no evidence of
radiculopathy. When Dr. Townsend saw Claimant in September of 2013, Claimant reported
that his back was still aching and he had leg pain. The pain was rated as a six on a ten-point
scale, and the leg pain reportedly could go up to ten. On examination, straight leg raising was
negative for radicular complaints, and Claimant had normal strength and reflexes. Dr.
Schickler did further surgery in October of 2014 to help Claimant's vascular issues. Dr.
Townsend saw Claimant again in November of 2014. Claimant complained that he had pain
in both legs and had some numbness in the bottom of his feet. In Dr. Townsend's opinion,
that was from a neuropathy, a problem with the nerves in the feet themselves rather than
stemming from the back. The examination uncovered no objective findings consistent with
pressure on the nerve roots.

Dr. Townsend saw Claimant again on June 30, 2015. Claimant complained of back pain
rated between a five and eight on a ten-point scale. He noted that the pain would still go into
his legs and he still had tingling in the legs. His legs would throb after walking for about a
block.

Page 8

On examination, Claimant continued to have restricted motion of the low back. Straight leg
raising was negative for radicular symptoms. The legs continued to have normal strength,
reflexes and sensation. Another MRI was taken on July 23, 2015. It showed a disk herniation
at L3-4, which had not been seen on prior studies. Such a herniation could cause back and
leg pain, and was consistent with some (but not all) of Claimant's complaints.

In Dr. Townsend's opinion, the herniation at L3-4 is unrelated to the 2011 work
accident. It was not shown on the MRIs taken after the work accident and was not present at
the time of the fusion surgery. Dr. Townsend also did not think the L3-4 condition was
related to the fusion surgery. It is not the level adjacent to the fusion and, as such, the
abnormal forces related to the fusion at L5-S1 would not be expected to produce a disk
herniation at L3-4. There is no literature supporting the theory that the entire vertebral
column is affected by a fusion. Only the adjacent levels immediately above and below the
fusion are affected ("adjacent segment syndrome"). The fact that L4-5 was decompressed
does not change this because the effect of the fusion mechanically is still on the L4-5 disk. A
decompression would not stop disk material at L4-5 herniating if it were being affected by
the extra stress from the fusion at the level below. Adjacent segment syndrome would not
skip the L4-5 level and then affect the L3-4 level.

In addition, Dr. Townsend observed that aging itself produces problems in disks.
Claimant had mild degenerative changes at L3-4 on earlier studies and those continued to be
present and progressed over time. That is what one would expect as part of the natural
process of aging.
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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Causation

Claimant seeks a finding that his September 2015 surgery at L3-4 is causally related to
his 2011 work accident. Because this is his petition, Claimant has the burden of proof. DEL.
CODE ANN. tit. 29, § 10125(c). "The claimant has the burden of proving causation not to a
certainty but only by a preponderance of the evidence." Goicuria v. Kauffman's Furniture,
Del. Super., C.A. No. 97 A-03-005, Terry, J., 1997 WL 817889 at *2 (October 30, 1997), affd,
706 A.2d 26 (Del. 1998).

There is no dispute that Claimant injured his low back in 2011, and that that injury
eventually led to fusion surgery at L5-S1 and decompression and laminectomy surgery at L4-
5. The question is whether that work injury can be said to have caused the L3-4 herniation
seen on MRI in 2015.

When, as here, there is a distinct and identifiable work accident, the "but for" standard
of causation must be applied. Reese v. Home Budget Center, 619 A.2d 907, 910 (Del. 1992).
See also State v. Steen, 719 A.2d 930, 932 (Del. 1998)("[W]hen there is an identifiable
industrial accident, the compensability of any resultant injury must be determined
exclusively by an application of the 'but for' standard of proximate cause.")(emphasis in
original). The "but for" standard does not require "sole" or even "substantial" causation. "If
the accident provides the 'setting' or 'trigger,’ causation is satisfied for purposes of
compensability." Reese, 619 A.2d at 910.

Nobody suggests that Claimant's L3-4 disk was herniated directly in the work accident.
The 2012 MRI showed only minor degenerative findings at L3-4. In 2013, an EMG was
negative for spinal radiculopathy, demonstrating that the L3-4 disk was not impinging
neural
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elements at that time. Instead, Claimant had a peripheral neuropathy, which explained some
of his leg complaints. He also had serious vascular issues, which also explained some of his
leg complaints. However, Dr. Rudin argues that, but for the fusion at L5-S1, Claimant would
not have had the subsequent L3-4 herniation. He argues that the fusion caused increased
pressure on the other spinal levels and that this extra pressure caused the L3-4 herniation.

Dr. Townsend acknowledges that adjacent segment syndrome is a medically recognized
condition, but he testified that the medical literature only supports a fusion affecting the
immediately adjacent disk (hence the name). He states that there is no medical support that
the detrimental effect can continue to a higher level. Dr. Townsend observes that disks can
degenerate simply as the natural result of aging. Claimant's L3-4 disk had shown the early
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stages of such degeneration in 2012, and it is reasonable to think that, as Claimant continued
to age, the degeneration progressed until it became the herniation seen on MRI in 2015.

I find Dr. Townsend's opinion more credible than that of Dr. Rudin. While it is agreed
hat a fusion can detrimentally affect an adjacent level, in the present case L4-5 has not
herniated. I agree with Dr. Townsend that the fact that L4-5 had a laminectomy and
decompression in 2012 does not change the issue. There is no substantial deterioration of the
L4-5 disk (and certainly no herniation) since the fusion surgery, while the L3-4 disk
deteriorated substantially to being a herniated disk with impingement on nerve roots. I do
not accept the idea that adjacent segment syndrome can "skip a level" to affect a higher level
without affecting the intermediate level and, according to Dr. Townsend, medical literature
does not support such a finding. By contrast, it is true that simple aging can cause a disk to
degenerate. The objective diagnostic studies show that L.3-4 had mild degeneration in 2012.
It seems probable that that
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degeneration simply progressed naturally over time to become a herniation, without regard
to or connection with the 2011 work accident.

This is Claimant's petition and Claimant bears the burden of proof of establishing that,
more likely than not, the L3-4 herniation and the subsequent surgery at that level was
causally related to the 2011 work accident. For the reasons given, I find that Claimant has not
met his burden.

STATEMENT OF THE DETERMINATION
For the reasons set forth above, Claimant's petition is denied.
IT IS SO ORDERED THIS 3" DAY OF MAY, 2016.
INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD

/s/
CHRISTOPHER F. BAUM
Workers' Compensation Hearing Officer

Mailed Date: 5-6-16

/[s/
OWC Staff
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L Dr. Rudin knew that Claimant had had two prior lumbar laminectomies in the remote
past. He was certain that L5-S1 had been one of the levels done, but was not sure what the
other one was. His guess was that it was L4-5.

2. Claimant had been in a motor vehicle accident in April of 2013, which led to a transient
aggravation of his back condition.

3: This vascular problem is separate from the peripheral neuropathy identified in 2013.

4- Specifically, on May 2 and September 5, 2013; November 13, 2014; and June 30, 2015.




BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD
OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

BRIAN COADY,
Claimant,

V. Hearing No. 1504569

BAYHEALTH MEDICAL CENTER,

Employer.

DECISION ON PETITION TO DETERMINE COMPENSATION DUE
&
DECISION ON UTILIZATION REVIEW APPEAL
Pursuant to due notice of time and place of hearing served on all parties in interest, the

above-stated causes came before the Industrial Accident Board on February 18, 2022, in the

Hearing Room of the Board, in Dover, Delaware.

PRESENT:
WILLIAM HARE

-~ PATRICIA MAULL

Heather Williams, Workers’ Compensation Hearing Officer, for the Board

APPEARANCES:
Christian Heesters, Esq., Attorney for the Claimant

Keri Morris-Johnston, Esq., Attorney for the Employer



NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

On October 15, 2021, Brian Coady (“Claimant™) filed a Petition to Determine
Compensation Due, alleging that he aggravated a prior October 9, 2020 right knee injury, while
he was working for Bayhealth Medical Center (Employer”) on August 6, 2021. Claimant alleges
a right knee aggravation on August 6, 2021 and seeks acknowledgement of that injury and
compensability of a recommended third surgery. Employer disputes Claimant’s Petition.

As a result of his right knee injury, Claimant has been recommended for a third right knee
surgery, which was submitted to Utilization Review (“UR”) pursuant to 19 Del. C. § 2322F(h).
On October 15,2021, a UR decision was issued, finding Claimant’s proposed right knee surgical
treatment to be compliant with the Healthcare Practice Guidelines. On November 19, 2021,
Employer filed a UR Appeal of that UR determination. Employer disputes that Claimant’s
proposed surgical treatment is reasonable, necessary, and causally related to Claimant’s work
injury. Claimant contends that the proposed surgical treatment is reasonable, necessary, and
causally related to his work injury.

A hearing on the merits of both petitions was held on February 18, 2022. These are the
Board’s decisions on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

Dr. John Burger, board certified in orthopedic surgery, testified by deposition for Claimant.
After reviewing Claimant’s pertinent medical records, Dr. Burger began treating Claimant on
August 31.2021. The doctor explained that there are three compartments of the knee, and three
knee bones. \;vhich are covered by cartilage, which can break down and cause pain, crunching. and
grinding. He confirmed that Claimant has chondromalacia and osteoarthritis in his right knee, but

he did not have any right knee problems prior to his October 9, 2020 work injury.



Dr. Burger testified that Claimant experienced a twisting right knee injury while he was
pulling a pallet at work on October 9, 2020, which was his first knee injury. On August 6, 2021,
Claimant sustained a second knee injury while getting out of a truck at work. Claimant also
experienced a knee injury during physical therapy.

Dr. Burger confirmed that Claimant sought treatment for his initial knee injury on October
15, 2020, and his x-rays at that time showed no significant, but some minimal degenerative
findings. Claimant’s October 20, 2020 right knee MRI results showed a medial meniscal tear,
patella femoral fissuring, and medial tibial femoral compartment chondrosis. On December 4,
2020, Claimant had a right knee arthroscopy and partial meniscectomy, as well as loose cartilage
removal and shaving. Claimant’s post-operative report showed Grade 2 and Grade 3 patellar and
trochlea changes, and Grade 2 medial compartment changes. Following this surgery, Claimant
sustained another knee injury while carrying a dumbbell during physical therapy.

Claimant’s February 26, 2021 MRI results showed no significant changes from his prior
MRI, but a questionable medial meniscal tear, likely caused by ultra weightbearing, and some
stable chondral loss on the lateral femoral condyle and small knee swelling.

On April 8, 2021, Claimant underwent a second surgery involving a partial meniscectomy,
which showed worsening of the medial compartment chondromalacia since the prior surgery.
Claimant’s August 19, 2021 MRI results showed progress posterior medial meniscus tear, tibial
plateau full thickness cartilage loss, subchondral cystic changes, moderate lateral patella femoral
compartment chondrosis, and some indeterminant signal along the TCL. Dr. Burger explained
that Grade 4 classification means bone on bone, and reported that Claimant’s full thickness
cartilage loss at the medial tibial plateau finding is likely a Grade 4, which indicates a worsening

since Claimant’s April 8, 2021 surgery. He confirmed that Claimant’s August 19, 2021 MRI



followed his August 6, 2021 work accident, during which Claimant injured his knee while stepping
out of a truck. The doctor confirmed that Claimant’s August 19, 2021 MRI results were the first
indication that Claimant had a subchondral cyst. Dr. Burger confirmed that Claimant’s December
4,2021 surgical results showed a Grade 2 chondromalacia with no cyst, but his August 19, 2021
MRI showed full thickness, Grade 4, with a cyst in the same knee compartment, but on the opposite
side of the shin bone. He confirmed that Claimant’s August 2021 MRI results showed the first
indication of a full thickness fissure in the patella and a subchondral cyst in the patella.

Dr. Burger testified that Claimant’s findings showed cartilage damage and a meniscus tear
that further degenerated his now, pain and degenerative disease findings, and a failure of
conservative care. He confirmed that Dr. Piccioni recommended that Claimant undergo further
injections and physical therapy prior to a total knee replacement procedure and noted that Claimant
had undergone those treatments. The doctor explained that the knee replacement procedure
involves cutting and resurfacing the shin bone and placing a piece of plastic in between as a spacer
to tension the soft tissue structures around the knee. e reported that eighty to ninety percent of
patients who undergo the surgery arc satisfied with the results.  Dr. Burger confirmed that
Claimant’s younger age could cause him to be Jess happy with the results of the replacement
because Claimant will be able to remember what his normal knee felt like. He noted that
Claimant’s prior procedure history puts him at a slightly higher risk of complications, as does he
immunocompromised condition.

When Dr. Burger saw Claimant on August 31. 2021, he interpreted Claimant’s right knee
x-rays to show severe degencrative changes with near complete loss of joint space in the medial
compartment, and small osteophytes on the patella femoral view of the lateral compartment. He

interpreted Claimant’s MRI results as demonstrating complex tearing with near complete loss of



joint space and tibial plateau, with some fissuring of the patella femoral cartilage from the joint
and lateral joint changes. In October of 2021, Claimant had a corticosteroid injection, which he
reported worsened his knee condition. Claimant reported experiencing crunching, grinding, and
buckling in his knee while performing physical therapy.

Claimant’s October 14, 2021 physical therapy records indicate he reported decreased
strength, decreased joint mobility, flexibility, and increased pain. At that physical therapy visit,
Claimant’s primary complaint was constant right knee pain, caused by hyperextending his knee
while stepping out of a truck in August 2021. Claimant’s November 26, 2021 physical therapy
record indicates Claimant reported slipping on pallets at work, causing a sore knee and rib injury.
Claimant’s December 23, 2021 therapy record indicates Claimant fell at work after his right knee
hyperextended. Claimant’s December 24, 2021 therapy records indicates Claimant denied any
knee improvement. Claimant’s December 20, 2021 treatment record indicates Claimant reported
continued knee pain and hyperextending, which causes him to fall. Claimant’s January 12, 2022
treatment record indicates Claimant reported worsening knee pain even while performing desk
work. Claimant’s January 19, 2022, January 26, 2022 and February 4, 2022 treatment records
indicate Claimant continued to report worsening knee pain, gait deviation and back and hip pain.

Dr. Burger testified that Claimant’s knee pain is not improving despite his engaging in
physical therapy for six weeks. He agreed with the UR decision that the recommended knee
surgery is compliant with the Healthcare Guidelines. The doctor concluded that Claimant is an
appropriate candidate for knee replacement surgery because he has advanced degenerative
changes, has failed conservative care, and has pain impacting his activities of daily living. Dr.

Burger disagreed with Dr. Piccioni’s conclusion that a knee replacements is appropriate only when



there is bonc on bone degeneration. He reported that Claimant’s knee is currently worn down
about eighty percent, but is not bone on bone.

On cross examination, Dr. Burger confirmed that Claimant is fifty-one years old and that
is young for a total knee replacement recipient. He was unaware of Claimant sustaining an injury
at physical therapy until he reviewed Claimant’s treatment record from Dr. Piccioni. He had not
reviewed Claimant’s physical therapy records until he received records prior to his deposition.

Dr. Burger acknowledged that he does not normally perform a total knee replacement for
a Grade 2 to 3 chondromalacia diagnosis. He confirmed that a subchondral cyst is a hallmark of
osteoarthritis, but that patients with such a diagnosis do not always require a total knee replacement
if they are not experiencing symptoms severe enough to interfere with their activitics or if
conservative treatment is ineffective.

The doctor acknowledged that he recommended the total knee replacement procedure at
their initial visit on August 31, 2021. He agreed that, at the time of their initial visit, Claimant’s
prior conservative treatment included some physical therapy before his two prior surgeries. The
doctor was unaware if Claimant had received injections prior to their initial visit. He confirmed
his understanding that Claimant had received one injection on October 12, 2021.

Dr. Burger was aware that Claimant returned to full duty work following his April 2021
surgery. He explained that Claimant’s pre-existing liver transplant places him at greater risk of
infection following a knee replacement procedure, but not at greater risk of rejection. The doctor
agreed that Claimant’s report of worsening pain following his knee injection was an uncommon
response. He confirmed that he first saw Claimant on August 31, 2021 and had last seen Claimant
on November 9, 2021. The doctor confirmed that Claimant engaged in physical therapy from

October 14, 2021 to February 4, 2022.



The doctor denied that he saw Claimant following a November 2021 fall at work, during
which Claimant injured his ribs, and confirmed that the treatment record related to that incident
does not indicate specifically that Claimant hurt his knee during that work fall. Dr. Burger was
unaware how the physical therapist could know Claimant’s knee cartilage condition at this January
12, 2022 session.

Dr. Burger reported that Claimant’s April 2021 post-operative record indicates some
worsening in the articular surface, which he surmised could be caused by generalized wear and
tear and disease progression. The doctor agreed that Claimant’s August 10, 2021 treatment record
indicates no further surgery is warranted and explained that no surgery would be warranted if
Claimant was not experiencing pain or continued symptoms. Dr. Burger confirmed that Dr.
Gambone was not recommending any surgical treatment for Claimant’s most recent knee buckling
incident on August 6, 2021. He agreed that Claimant received no conservative treatment between
August 6, 2021 and his initial visit on August 31, 2021.

Dr. Burger testified that Claimant would be out of work for approximately three months
following a total knee replacement procedure.

On redirect examination, Dr. Burger confirmed that Claimant’s diagnoses are not only
chondromalacia, but also include osteoarthritis. He agreed that it is common to perform total knee
replacement when a patient has an eighty percent articular cartridge loss, has failed conservative
care, and cannot tolerate his symptoms.

Dr. Burger confirmed that Claimant received an injection on February 17, 2021 and in
October 2021. He confirmed that Claimant’s initial visit record indicates Claimant reported
significant pain, which was interfering with his daily activities, and an inability to tolerate his

symptoms. The doctor testified that Claimant’s November 9, 2021 treatment record indicates



Claimant reported continued knee pain, which began after he stepped out of a truck at work on
October 9, 2020. Claimant’s physical therapy records indicate Claimant reported no improvement
from injections, arthroscopic procedures, activity modification or oral steroid use. Dr. Burger
confirmed that Dr. Gambone had referred Claimant to him to discuss arthroplasty.

Claimant testified that he has worked for Employer over four years, beginning as a courier
and then in the warehouse. Prior to the work accident, Claimant had no right knee symptoms and
had not treated for any right knee symptoms. He explained that he has minimal increased risk for
a right knee replacement because he has had a liver transplant.

On October 9, 2020, he was getting out of a truck and felt his right knee “pop.” He sought
treatment with occupational health. Following the injury, he continued working light duty until he
had knee surgery in December 2020. After the surgery, his knee felt better, but when he was at
physical therapy he was carrying heavy dumbbells and his knee gave out. After the injury at
therapy, his right knee symptoms rcturned and he returned to light duty. On April 8, 2021,
Claimant had a second knee surgery, which reduced his symptoms.

Claimant returned to work in July 2021 with no restrictions. On August 6, 2021, he was
climbing out of a truck and *...my knee hyperextended backwards™ causing his symptoms to
return.

On October 14, 2021, Claimant received disability benefits. He returned to work in
November 2021. He was directed to change jobs based on his symptoms, so he returned to work
in public safety.

On November 24, 2021, Claimant was wearing a knee brace and was walking backwards

with an empty pallet when his knee hyperextended, causing him to fall into a stack of pallets. He



did not report the work accident because he feared he would lose his job. One of his co-workers
reported the injury and his supervisor directed him to seek treatment.

On December 22, 2021, Claimant was working in public safety and his knee “gave out,”
causing him to fall, His co-worker saw his hands were bleeding from the fall.

Claimant reported that his knee “gives out” at home also and he has no warning before the
knee gives out. He reported that he experiences knee pain *“...all day every day.” Claimant
testified that any time he moves his knee it *...feels like there’s a dagger stuck in my knee.” He
sleeps with icepacks on his knee every night. Claimant rated his right knee pain as a 9 out of 10
every day and reported that his hips are beginning to hurt because of his knee symptoms. He wants
to have the surgery so that he can “be normal again.” He does not take pain medication for his
knee because he does not “...agree with it” and he does not have any more pain medication
following his second surgery. He testified that he “just blocks [out]™ the pain and does not take
any pain medication.

He testified that his supervisor has asked him to return to work on occasion because he
knows the building so well. He has gone back to work a few times to help.

Since August 6, 2021, Claimant’s knee symptoms have not improved and have
progressively worsened. Dr. Gambone has recommended a total knee replacement.

On cross examination, Claimant confirmed that his warehouse job was a heavy duty job.
In December 2020, he had surgery, which was accepted by Employer. IHe engaged in physical
therapy immediately after the first surgery and re-injured his knee while carrying dumbbells.
Claimant testified that he reported the injury to his physical therapist (“Doug™) immediately and

continued engaging in physical therapy. He does not recall when he returned to Dr. Gambone to



report the second injury. Following the first surgery, in January 2021, Claimant returned to his
prior position with no restrictions.

In mid -February 2021, he returned to occupational health, where he was referred to Dr.
Gambone, who took him out of work and prescribed a loader brace. He did not reccive the brace
until the end of March 2021. By the time he received the brace, he had a sccond surgery scheduled.
Claimant was unaware why his treatment records do not contain any documentation of the physical
therapy injury.

Following his second surgery, Claimant was out from March to June 2021, and then he re-
injured his knee in August 2021. In August 2021, he was getting out of a truck and hyperextended
his knee. After the August 2021 event, Claimant returned to light duty work.

Claimant denied that he requested a total knee replacement and testified that Dr. Burger
recommended the surgery. He testified that Employer’s human resources department told him the
appointment with Dr. Piccioni was a “second opinion.” He has reviewed Dr. Piccioni’s report, in
which he recommends physical therapy, pain medication and injections. Claimant reported that
he cannot take acetaminophen, but can take ibuprofen, which he takes “every day.” He confirmed
that his knee pain is currently a 9 out of 10 and it has been that way for the last several months.
Claimant does not take any narcotic pain medication, but he requested it. He has been prescribed
non-narcotic pain medication, but he cannot recall the name of it.

When questioned by the Board, Claimant confirmed that he had re-injured his knee on
August 6, 2021, after which Dr. Gambone referred him to Dr. Burger. Claimant saw Dr. Burger
for the first time in August 2021 and Dr. Burger recommended knee replacement at that visit,
Claimant alleged that his right knee “disintegrated™ over the course of fourteen months. He

testified that Dr. Axe told him his knee would continue to worsen because of his meniscus tear.
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On recross examination, Claimant confirmed that he only saw Dr. Axe one time and it was
prior 1o his second surgery. He was unaware why there was no documentation of Dr. Axe’s
recommendation of a total knee replacement within five years.

Dr. Lawrence Piccioni, board certified in orthopedic surgery, testified by deposition for
Claimant. After reviewing Claimant’s pertinent medical records, Dr. Piccioni examined him on
September 14, 2021, when Claimant reported an October 9, 2020 work accident during which he
injured his right knee. Claimant denied any right knee problems prior to his work accident. On
October 15, 2020, Claimant sought treatment for his right knee injury and had a right knee MRI,
the results of which showed a medial meniscus tear and some edema, which Dr. Piccioni reported
is consistent with a strain or sprain injury of the medial collateral ligament.

Claimant treated with Dr. Gambone, who performed an arthroscopic procedure on
December 4, 2020, the results of which showed a medial meniscus tear and some cartilaginous
loose bodies in the knee. The diagnostic results of the arthroscopy showed Grade 2 to Grade 3
changes of the patella and trochlea, and Grade 2 changes over the medial femoral condyle and
tibial plateau. Claimant’s ACL and PCL were inspecied and found to be normal at the time of the
original arthroscopy.

Claimant reported to Dr. Piccioni that he recovered well from the initial surgery and then
re-injured his knee while carrying dumbbells in physical therapy. On April 8, 2021, Claimant had
a second arthroscopy for additional medial meniscus tearing. Dr. Piccioni noted that Claimant’s
April 8, 2021 post-surgical report shows no further loose bodies or any change in Claimant’s
articular surface of the joint, which would lead to arthritis and cause Claimant to need a total knee
replacement to fix. Claimant reported that he recovered well following his second surgery and

was released for full duty on June 23, 2021.
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On August 6, 2021, Claimant injured his right knee again while stepping out of a truck at
work. A right knee MRI showed the possibility of some injury to Claimant’s posterior cruciate
ligament (“PCL”). Dr. Piccioni had reviewed Claimant’s diagnostic studies and reported that the
edema that was present in Claimant’s initial had resolved, which indicated the ligament had
undergone resolution and healing, but there was fluid surrounding the PCL, which was not
completely torn. Following the August 6, 2021 injury, Claimant treated with Dr. Gambone, who
did not find Claimant to be a candidate for a third arthroscopy at that time, but found Claimant
might be a candidate for some type of knee replacement. Dr. Gambone referred Claimant to Dr.
Burger, who saw Claimant on August 31, 2021.

When Dr. Piccioni examined Claimant in September 2021, Claimant was not taking
medication, had not had any recent injections, and was not treating specifically for his knee. Dr.
Piccioni expressed concern that Claimant was prescribed anti-rejection drugs for an unrelated liver
transplant. At the time of their visit, Claimant reported to Dr. Piccioni that he was experiencing
severe pain globally around his knee, for which he was wearing a hinge brace. Dr. Piccioni
explained that typically a knee sprain with a partial PCL tear, as Claimant experienced on August
6. 2021, takes three to nine weeks 10 resolve, and he noted that Claimant’s injury had occurred five
weeks prior to their initial visit. The doctor pointed out that Claimant had sustained three knee
injuries within a ten month time frame, which would cause concerns that Claimant was not fully
rehabilitated at the time.

Dr. Piccioni testified that Claimant’s August 10. 2021 treatment record (with Dr.
Gambone) indicates Claimant had mild effusion, 4 out of 5 strength in both quadriceps and
hamstrings, negative McMurray’s and Thessaly’s tests. no posterior cruciate ligament laxity, and

no pain with valgus stress testing. Dr. Gambone ordered an MRI to assess Claimant’s PCL, but



did not find that surgical intervention was warranted at that time, but recommended Claimant
engage in conservative treatment.

Claimant’s August 20, 2021 MRI results showed some fluid around the PCL with no
significant tearing and a horizontal cleavage component to a tear. Dr. Piccioni noted that Claimant
had two prior meniscal surgeries relatively close in time to the MR and his medial meniscus would
never look normal on an MRI after those procedures.

When Dr. Piccioni examined Claimant on September 20, 2021, he found Claimant to have:
reported knee pain of 7 out of 10, unassisted ambulation, use of a hinge knee brace, no right knee
effusion, one centimeter of atrophy of the right quadricep compared to left, no ligament instability,
no crepitus, and no significant knee effusion. Claimant’s most recent MRI study showed
degenerative changes in the patellofemoral and medial compartments, which had been noted on
prior MRIs. Claimant’s August 10, 2021 weightbearing x-rays showed narrowing of the medial
compartment, but no area of bone on bone.

Based on Claimant’s history and examination, Dr. Piccioni concluded that Claimant
sustained a right knee sprain with a medial meniscus tear and a Grade 1 MCL sprain and chondral
fracture with a loose body noted at the time of his initial arthroscopy. The doctor noted that
Claimant has undergone a partial meniscectomy to repair his meniscus and had the loose body
removed, all of which the doctor found to be reasonable, necessary, and related treatment.
Following Claimant’s initial surgery, he sustained a second injury, which necessitated a partial
meniscectomy, but no further ligamentous injury. The doctor diagnosed Claimant’s most recent

injury as a hyperextension sprain with a Grade 1 PCL injury, with no other significant damage or

laxity.
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Dr. P:iccioni concluded that Claimant is not an appropriate candidate for a right knee
replacement procedure. He noted that Claimant had returned to work full duty after his initial
work injury and his second injury was a Grade 1 PCL sprain, the treatment for which involves
allowing the injury to heal, but not surgical intervention. The doctor denied that a total knee
replacement is appropriate treatment for a Grade 1 sprain PCL injury. Dr. Piccioni recommended
Claimant engage in additional physical therapy and cortisone injections. He explained that a total
knee replacement is to treat pain primarily related to bone on bone surfaces that cannot be treated
appropriately or sufficiently by nonoperative management. The doctor concluded that Claimant
would not be a total knee replacement candidate even if he continued to have pain, but had no
areas of bone on bone, as documented by his initial arthroscopy procedure.. He noted that
Claimant has an unrelated medical condition, which puts him at greater risk of complications from
a total knee replacement procedure. Dr. Piccioni pointed out that Claimant returned to full duty
work following his second knee surgery. and then sustained a hyperextension PCL sprain, which
did not warrant a total knee replacement procedure. He denied that a total knee replacement
procedure is recasonable and necessary treatment for Claimant’s work injury.

On cross examination, Dr. Piccioni confirmed that he performs knee replacement
procedures regularly in his practice. He agreed that the photographic exhibits are an accurate
depiction of the knee anatomy. The doctor explained that Grade 4 chondromalacia means full
thickness loss of cartridge, which creates bone on bone rubbing if there is Gradce 4 loss on both the
patella and trochlea sides of the joint.

Dr. Piccioni confirmed that Claimant’s initial injury occurred on October 9. 2020 and
involved a meniscus tear and a chondral fracture. which he agreed could cause osteoarthritis. He

agreed that Claimant’s October 15, 2020 x-ray results showed well preserved joint space



compartments. The doctor explained that a total knee replacement procedure involves resurfacing
the cartilage surfaces with metal and plastic. He agreed that Claimant’s October 20, 2020 right
knee MRI results showed Grade 2 to 3 chondral fissuring in the patellofemoral compartment and
Grade 2 to 3 chondrosis in the medial tibiofemoral compartment.

The doctor agreed that Claimant’s December 4, 2020 surgical report showed Grade 2 to 3
chondromalacia over the patella and the trochlea, Grade 2 chondromalacia over the medial femoral
condyle and tibial plateau, and Grade 1 over the lateral tibial plateau and condyle. He confirmed
that Claimant’s February 26, 2021 MRI results showed moderate to severe chondral loss over the
medial condyle, but he denied those were the findings at the second arthroscopy. The doctor
reported that arthroscopic evaluation of the joint surface is the most accurate and noted that when
Claimant underwent the second arthroscopy in April 2021, there was no significant change on the
media] side to show severe change of the medial femoral condyle as reported by the MRI study.

Dr. Piccioni agreed that Claimant’s March 31, 2021 x-ray results showed medial
compartment joint space narrowing, which is indicative of worsening since the October 15, 2020
x-1ay, but he pointed out that the first x-ray was non-weightbearing, which is not an accurate way
to measure joint space narrowing. The doctor confirmed that Claimant’s April 8, 2021 surgical
report noted Grade 2 to 3 chondromalacia over the patella and trochlea and Grade 2 to 3
chondromalacia over the medial femoral condyle and tibial plateau, which he concluded were the
same finding as the initial surgery. He acknowledged that Claimant’s first surgery findings were
Grade 2 and his second surgery findings were Grade 2 to 3.

The doctor agreed that Claimant’s August 10, 2021 x-rays showed medial joint space
narrowing, and his March 31, 2021 x-ray results found “minimal” joint space narrowing. He

confirmed that Claimant’s August 20, 2021 MRI results showed full-thickness cartilage loss at the
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medium tibial plateau and a subchondral cyst at the medial tibial plateau, which he explained can
be caused by bones rubbing together or by arthritic changes. He agreed that Claimant had no cyst
at the time of his December 4, 2020 surgery and his August 19, 2021MRI results showed additional
cartilage loss at the medial femoral condyle and a full-thickness fissure. The doctor acknowledged
that Claimant’s August 2021 MRI results showed full thickness fissuring at the patella, but his
February 2021 MRI showed shallow fissuring. He confirmed that Claimant’s chondromalacia,
fissuring, and cartilage loss worsened, according to the February 2021 and August 2021 diagnostic
study reports.

Dr. Piccioni confirmed his opinion that a total knee replacement for Claimant at this time
would be controversial and he recommended that Claimant engage in more physical therapy,
injections and medication treatment to heal his most recent hyperextension episode to determine
whether he would need a knee replacement procedure. He explained that Claimant has engaged in
physical therapy, but was found to have continued quadricep weakness, and he has not received
visco-supplementation injections. The doctor confirmed that Claimant’s recent physical therapy
records indicate Claimant’s symptoms are worsening, and he noted that Claimant’s strength had
not improved from October to February, which was a concern for him. Dr. Piccioni agreed that if
Claimant had a full thickness cartilage loss that worsened, then his pain would worsened, but he
pointed out that Claimant’s diagnostic studies did not show Grade 4 lesions or bone on bone on
either side. He confirmed that Claimant’s x-rays did not show any areas of bone on bone.

Dr. Piccioni acknowledged that Claimant’s prognosis remained guarded at the time of their
September 2021 visit. He concluded that Claimant’s prognosis is poor.

On redirect examination, Dr. Piccioni confirmed that Claimant’s report that the cortisone

injection worsened his symptoms was subjective, as are Claimant’s physical therapy reports. le
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reiterated his conclusion that there must be Grade 4 lesions on both sides of the knee for there to
be a bone on bone finding. He denied that any reliable diagnostic study showed any areas of bone
on bone or that the full thickness fissuring in one cartilage or a cyst warranted a total knee
replacement. The doctor confirmed that Claimant’s April 2021 surgery was the most accurate way
to determine scientifically the joint surfaces at the time.

Dr. Piccioni denied that Claimant’s medial joint space narrowing finding warranted a total
knee replacement. He explained that he believes Claimant’s prognosis is poor because Claimant
is not following physiologic response, and noted that Claimant returned to full duty work after two
surgical procedures, but then sustained a third injury “...which then jumped within months,
probably within weeks from that injury to needing a knee replacement. That doesn’t make
physiologic sense.” Dr. Piccioni Deposition 65:17-20 (Feb. 8, 2022). He pointed out that
Claimant’s attempts at conservative treatment for his most recent PCL sprain injury have been
unsuccessful and concluded that Claimant’s “...symptoms are out of proportion now to what
would be expected.” Id. 66:3-4. Dr. Piccioni reported that patients who have bone on bone arthritis

who have total knee replacement procedures tend to have much poorer results.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Compensability
Claimant seeks to establish the compensability of an injury alleged to have occurred on
October 9, 2020. The Delaware Workers” Compensation Act provides that employees are entitled
to compensation “for personal injury or death by accident arising out of and in the course of
employment.” 19 Del. C.§ 2304. Because Claimant has filed the current petition, he has the burden

of proof. 29 Del. C. § 10125(c). Claimant has the burden to establish that the alleged injuries
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occurred. Morris v. Gillis Gilkerson, Inc. Del. Super., C.A. No. 94A-09-006, Lee, J. (Aug. 11,
1995) at 8, citing Grays Hatchery & Poultry Farm v. Stevens, Del. Super., 81 A. 2d 322, 324
(1950). “The claimant has the burden of proving causation not to a certainty but only by a
preponderance of the evidence.” Goicuria v. Kauffman's Furniture, Del. Super., C.A. No. 97A-
03-005, Terry, J., 1997 WL 817889 at *2 (October 30, 1997), aff"d, 706 A.2d 26 (Del. 1998).
Claimant has an obligation to prove that an injury occurred, as well as when that injury occurred.
General Motors Corp. v. Ciccaglione, Del. Super., C.A. No. 91A-05-10, Toliver, J. 1991 WL
269935 (December 10, 1991). “Furthermore, the practicalities of all compensation cases require
sufficient findings of fact by the Board so that the parties can calculate what monetary benefits are
owed. /d. at *4.

Evidence that the accident in question accelerated the condition that required Claimant to
need treatment/services is sufficient for the Board to infer that the accident proximately caused the
need for treatment. Blake v. State of Del., Del. Supr., C.A. No. 01-A-01-018 (March 12, 2002).
A pre-existing condition does not, in and of itself, prevent a Claimant from being compensated if
the conditions of the employment precipitated an acceleration of that condition. General Motors
Corp., Inc. v. McNemar, 202 A.2d 803, 807 (Del. 1964). When the ordinary strain and stress of
employment is a substantial factor in proximately causing an injury. an injured claimant can
recover workers' compensation benefits when there is no specifically identifiable physical
industrial accident. State v. Cephas, 637 A.2d at 27; Reese v. Home Budget Center, Del.Supr..619
A.2d 907,911 (1992); Duvall v. Charles Connell Roofing, Del. Supr. 564 A.2d 1132, 1136 (1989).
See also Page v. Hercules, Del. Supr., 637 A.2d 29, 33 (1994). When the evidence is in conflict,
the Board is free to accept the opinion of one expert over the opinion of another.  DiSabitino

Brothers, Inc. v. Wortman, 453 A.2d 102 (Del. 1982).
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In this case, Claimant has not proven that the proposed knee replacement surgery is
reasonable and necessary treatment for his work injury. The testimony and evidence is inconsistent
and does not support a finding that Claimant sustained a right knee injury, which requires a total
knee replacement procedure at this time. Specifically, Claimant’s own testimony was inconsistent.
First, Claimant reported that he experiences constant knee pain (“all day every day”), which he
rates as a 9 out of 10: however, Claimant denied initially that he takes any pain medications. In
fact, Claimant testified that he does not take pain medication because he does not “agree with it.”
If Claimant’s pain levels were as intense as he alleges, he would not be able to function or “block
out” the pain as he described. Second, while Claimant initially denied that he takes pain
medications for his knee pain, he then reported that he takes ibuprofen “every day” and has
requested that he be prescribed narcotic pain medication, which he initially claimed he did not
want to take. As noted above, Claimant’s testimony regarding whether he takes pain medication
(prescription or otherwise) was inconsistent and detracted from his credibility. Third, despite
Claimant’s claim of constant and severe “every day™ pain, and the fact that he alleges he has
sustained at least four (three at work and one at therapy) additional knee injuries since the initial
October 2020 work injury, Claimant reported that he continues to return to work extra shifts, on
occasion, when his supervisor requests it. Given Claimant’s numerous injuries, reported severe
pain levels, and alleged worsening condition, Claimant’s returning to work extra shifts seems
imprudent, at best, and detracts from Claimant’s credibility further.

Furthermore, the Board finds Dr. Piccioni’s testimony to be persuasive. Dr. Piccioni
concluded that Claimant sustained a right knee sprain with a medial meniscus tear and a Grade |
MCL sprain and chondral fracture with a loose body, for which Claimant underwent a partial

meniscectomy (first surgery) to repair his meniscus and remove the loose body, all of which the
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doctor found to be reasonable, necessary, and related treatment. After his initial surgery, Claimant
sustained a sccond injury, which necessitated a partial meniscectomy procedure (second surgery),
but did not cause any further ligamentous injury. Dr. Piccioni diagnosed Claimant’s August 6,
2021 injury as a hyperextension sprain with a Grade 1 PCL injury, with no other significant
damage or laxity, which does not require knee replacement surgery.

Dr. Piccioni concluded that Claimant is not an appropriate candidate for a right knee
replacement procedure at this time. He noted that Claimant had returned to work full duty after
both his initial work injury and his second injury. The doctor explained that Claimant’s August 6,
2021 injury, a Grade 1 PCL sprain, requires treatment allowing the injury to heal, but does not
warrant surgical intervention. He denied that a total knee replacement is appropriate treatment for
a Grade 1 sprain PCL injury. Even Dr. Burger acknowledged that he does not normally perform
a total knee replacement for a Grade 2 to 3 chondromalacia diagnosis and he confirmed that
patients with a cyst diagnosis do not always require a total knee replacement, if their symptoms
are not severe enough to interferc with their activities or if conservative treatment is effective.
The Board notes that Dr. Burger recommended knee replacement surgery at his initial visit with
Claimant on August 31, 2021, less than four weeks after the August 6, 2021 knee injury, which
would not allow for the injury to heal as Dr. Piccioni recommended. The Board accepts Dr.
Piccioni’s findings.

In addition. Dr. Piccioni recommended Claimant engage in additional physical therapy and
cortisone injections. He explained that a total knee replacement is to treat pain primarily related
to bone on bone surfaces that cannot be treated appropriately or sufficiently by nonoperative
management and noted that Claimant’s prior surgical procedures did not show areas of bone on

bone. The doctor concluded that Claimant would not be a total knee replacement candidate even
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if he continued to have pain, if he had no areas of bone on bone. He pointed out that Claimant
has an unrelated medical condition, which puts him at greater risk of complications from a total
knee replacement procedure. Dr. Piccioni noted that Claimant returned to full duty work following
his second knee surgery, and then sustained a hyperextension PCL sprain, which the doctor
concluded did not warrant a total knee replacement procedure. He denied that a total knee
replacement procedure is reasonable and necessary treatment for Claimant’s work injury. The
Board agrees.
Medical Treatment — UR Appeal

When an employee has suffered a compensable injury, the employer is required to pay for
reasonable and necessary medical “services, medicine and supplies” causally connected with that
injury. 19 Del. C. § 2322. However, to assist in assessing what is reasonable or necessary medical
treatment for a workers’ compensation injury, Delaware adopted Health Care Practice Guidelines.'
These “guidelines shall apply to all treatments provided after the effective date of the regulation .
. . regardless of the date of injury.” 19 Del. C. § 2322C(1). To determine compliance with the
guidelines, an employer may refer treatment for consideration by UR, which then issues a
determination.

In this case, the UR determination found Claimant’s proposed surgical treatment to be
compliant with the Health Care Practice Guidelines. The focus of a UR determination is on
whether the identified treatment is within the Health Care Practice Guidelines. Unlike the UR

determinations, the primary issue before the Board is not whether treatment is within the applicable

! The Health Care Practice Guidelines currently consist of six separate “treatment guidelines” addressing carpal tunnel
syndrome, chronic pain, cumulative trauma disorder, low back, shoulder and cervical. The adopted practice guidelines
can be found at hutp://dowc.ingenix.com/DWC.asp.
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guidelines, but whether the treatment is reasonable and necessary. Meier v. Tunnell Companies
LP, Del. IAB, Hearing No. 1326876, at 3-4 (November 24, 2009)(ORDER).2

In the present case, the issue is whether Claimant’s proposed surgical treatment constitutes
reasonable and necessary medical treatment to treat Claimant’s work injury. “Whether medical
services are necessary and reasonable or whether the expenses are incurred to treat a condition
causally related to an industrial accident are purely factual issues within the purview of the Board.”
Bullock v. K-Mart Corporation, Del. Super., C.A. No. 94A-02-002, 1995 WL 339025 at *3 (May
5. 1995) “The law is clear that disputes about the reasonableness of medical expenses are factual
questions for the Board to decide.” Kovach v. Churchman’s Village/Health Care, Del. Super.,
C.A. No. 98A-02-018, Barron, J., 1998 WL 960777 at *2 (October 5, 1998).

In determining whether the proposed treatment is reasonable and necessary, Delaware’s
Supreme Court has stated that the Board must decide “whether the treatment is reasonable for that
specific claimant and not whether the treatment is reasonable generally for anyone with the
claimant’s condition.” Brittingham v. St. Michael'’s Rectory. 788 A.2d 520, 523 (Del. 2002).
When determining “reasonableness™ the Board should consider various factors, including:
claimant’s age, prior surgical experience. general physical condition. likelihood of success, risk of
worsening the condition, or risk of death from the offered treatment. Brittingham at 524-25. When
the evidence is in conflict. the Board is free to accept one expert’s opinion over another’s.

DiSabitino Brothers, Inc. v. Wortman. 453 A.2d 102 (Del. 1982).

2 This comment needs a little clarification. By statute, treatment by a certified health care provider that conforms to
the guidelines is “presumed, in the absence of contrary evidence. to be reasonable and necessary.” 19 Del. C. §
2322C(6). Thus, when treatment is outside of the guidelines, a UR determination might refer to it as not being
“reasonable and necessary,” but that conclusion is based on whether the treatment is within the guidelines. On appeal,
however, treatment that a UR determination finds to be outside the guidelines may still be found by the Board. during
de nove review. to be rcasonable and necessary if convincing evidence is submitted. Likewise, treatment that a UR
determination might declare as within the guidelines (and, thus, presumptively reasonable and necessary) might still
be found by the Board, during de novo review. not to be reasonable or necessary treatment if convincing evidence is
submitted. See Meier, at 5. The burden of proof rests with the party challenging the UR determination.
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As already outlined above, the Board does not find Claimant’s proposed total knee
replacement surgical treatment to be reasonable and necessary treatment for Claimant’s work
injury at this time. Dr. Piccioni concluded that Claimant’s August 6, 2021 PCL injury does not
warrant a knee replacement procedure and he recommended Claimant engage in further physical
therapy and injection treatment. The Board agrees. Therefore, the UR decision is reversed.
Attorney’s Fee & Medical Witness Fee

A claimant who is awarded compensation is entitled to payment of a reasonable attorney’s
fee “in an amount not to exceed thirty percent of the award or ten times the average weekly wage
in Delaware as announced by the Secretary of Labor at the time of the award, whichever is
smaller.” 19 Del. C. § 2320. At the current time, the maximum based on Delaware’s average
weekly wage calculates to $11, 969.40. The factors that must be considered in assessing a fee are
set forth in General Motors Corp. v. Cox, 304 A2d 55 (Del. 1973). The Board is permitted to
award less than the maximum fee and consideration of the Cox factors does not prevent the Board
from granting a nominal or minimal fee in an appropriate case, so long as some fee is awarded.
See Heil v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co., 371 A.2d 1077, 1078 (Del. 1977); Ohrt v. Kentmere
Home, Del. Super., C.A. No. 96A-01-005, Cooch, J., 1996 WL 527213 at *6 (August 9, 1996). A
“reasonable™ fee does not generally mean a generous fee. See Henlopen Hotel Corp. v. Aetna
Insurance Co., 251 F. Supp. 189, 192 (D. Del. 1966). Claimant, as the party seeking the award of
the fee, bears the burden of proof in providing sufficient information to make the requisite
calculation. By operation of law, the amount of attorney’s fees awarded applies as an offset to

fees that would otherwise be charged to Claimant under the fee agreement between Claimant and

Claimant’s attorney. 19 Del. C. § 2320(10)a.
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Having failed to establish that the proposed surgical treatment is reasonable and necessary

treatment for his work injury, Claimant is not entitled to an attorney’s fee award.
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STATEMENT OF THE DETERMINATION

For the reasons set forth above, the Board finds the proposed knee replacement procedure

is not reasonable and necessary treatment for Claimant’s work injury. Therefore, Claimant’s

Petition is denied. Additionally, having determined that the proposed surgery is not reasonable

and nccessary treatment, the Board concludes that the UR Appeal is reversed.

an
IT IS SO ORDERED ’I'Hlsag__ DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2022.

INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD

/s/William Hare
WILLIAM HARE

/s/Palricia Maull
PATRICIA MAULL

I, Heather Williams, Hearing Officer, hereby certify that the foregoing is a
true and correct decision of the Industrial Accident Board.

Mailed Date:
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HEATHER WILLIAMS, ESQ.
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BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD
OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE ~

JAIME G. PHIPPS, )

Employee, ;

V. g Hearing No. 1432098
SOUTHERN WINE & SPIRITS, g

Employer. g

DECISION ON PETITION TO DETERMINE ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION DUE
Pursuant io due notice of time and place of hearing served on all parties in interest, the
above-stated cause by stipulation of the parties came before a Hearing Officer of the Industrial
Accident Board on June 30, 2020, via video conference using the WebEx video platform pursuant
to the Industrial Accident Board COVID-19 Emergency Order dated May 11, 2020.
PRESENT:

CHRISTOPHER F. BAUM
Workers” Compensation Hearing Officer

APPEARANCES:
Joseph W. Weik, Attorney for the Employee

Paul V. Tatlow, Attorney for Employer



NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Jaime G. Phipps (“Claimant”) was involved in a compensable work accident on August 12,
2015, while she was working for Southern Wine & Spirits (“Employer™). Employer accepted that
she sustained a cervical sprain with right arm radicular complaints. Her average wage at the time
of injury was $1,007.71 per week, resulting in a total disability compensation rate of $679.63 per
week.

On March 20, 2018, Claimant underwent a C3-4 discectomy with fusion and it is agreed
that this surgery was compensable. On August 28, 2019, Claimant underwent a C6-7 discectomy

with fusion, and this surgery rendered Claimant temporarily totally disabled from August 28

through November 20, 2019. Employer disputes the compensability of the 2019 surgery. Claimant
filed a Petition to Determine Additional Compensation Due on December 9, 2019, seeking to have

the surgery recognized as compensable.

The parties stipulated that this case could be heard and decided by a Workers’

Compensation Hearing Officer, in accordance with title 19, scction 2301B(a)(4) of the Delawarc

- Code—When hearingacase by stipulation, the Hearing Officer stands—in the position of the
Industrial Accident Board. See DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2301B(a)(6). A hearing was held on
Claimant’s petition on June 30, 2020. Because of the ongoing State of Emergency with respect to
the COVID-19 pandemic and social distancing protocols, the hearing was conducted using the
WebEx video platform. This is the decision on the merits of the petition.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

Dr. Mark S. Eskander, an orthopedic surgeon, testified by deposition-on behalf of Claimant.-————

He began to provide medical care to Claimant on June 28, 2016. In his opinion, the 2019 fusion

surgery was reasonable, necessary and causally related to the 2015 work accident.



Dr. Eskander stated that, when he first examined Claimant in June of 2016, she reported
neck pain that radiated to the right arm since she was involved in a motor vehicle collision on
August 12, 2015. A September 2015 MRI had shown a disk protrusion (herniated disk) at C3-4
and a very small disk bulge at C6-7, which did not come into contact with the spinal cord. Another
MRI was taken in September of 2016. In Dr. Eskander’s opinion, that MRI was essentially the
same as the earlier one, although the radiologist described the C6-7 disk as being a protrusion
rather than a bulge. After a course of conservative care, Claimant had fusion surgery on the C3-4
disk on March 20, 2018.

Dr. Eskander saw Claimant again on February 27, 2019. Claimant reported pain in the
neck radiating to the shoulder. She had been finding physical therapy helpful and rated herself
about 50% better, Her pain that day was rated as a one on a ten-point scale and she was
neurologically normal on examination. There were no sensory deficits and strength was normal.
The doctor ordered another six weeks of physical therapy.

Dr. Eskander next saw Claimant on May 2, 2019. At that point, Claimant was reporting
neck pain radiating to the right posterior arm into the elbow. She had numbness into the thumb,
index and middle fingers. She stated that the pain started the previous week and worsened two
days before. She rated her pain as a three on a ten-point scale. On examination, she had a positive
Spurling’s sign, suggesting a potential neurological component. The doctor ordered an updated
MRI. That May 2019 MRI showed a disk protrusion at C6-7 with a worsened annular fissure. The
previous MRIs had just shown a small bulge that had not required any treatment. That bulge has
now progressed to a disk protrusion and annular fissure pressing on the central part of the spinal

cord (more on the right than the left). Claimant’s subjective complaints were consistent with the



MRI findings. Claimant was sent for injections and physical therapy, but that failed to solve the
problem.

Dr. Eskander performed surgery on Clatmant’s C6-7 level on August 28, 2019. Claimant
had a right-sided herniated disk fragment at that level pressing on the nerve. The disk was removed
and a fusion done at C6-7. Claimant was totally disabled following that surgery until November
20, 2019.

Dr. Eskander agreed that, in the average person, for a variety of reasons, the C6-7 disk is
the one that is most common to herniate. In fact, Claimant’s C6-7 disk was not perfect even prior

to the work accident. The first MRI showed a bulge there, but it was not anything that needed

surgery. However, in Claimant’s case, she already had a C3-4 fusion, so that there are less disks
in tbe cervical spine to do thg work of the cervical spine. As such, the chance Qf failure of the
other disks is higher and Claimant’s C6-7 disk broke down such that it needed surgery. The doctor
referred to this as “noncontiguous adjacent segment disease.” The fact that it happened so soon
after the earlier fusion surgery indicates that it is related to that earlier fusion. Dr. Eskander
——————asserted-that the-“eriginal-paper”-omadjacent segmeni-disease did not specify fevels immediately ———

above and below a fusion, and that there are many papers on the topic with “different flavors™ on
the topic. The biomcchanical principle is the same and applies throughout the entire spine, not
just the cervical spine. A fusion at one level makes all the other levels in the spine do more work.

The doctor disagreed with the suggestion that Claimant had an acute event in April of 2019
that caused the deterioration of the C6-7 disk unrelated to the work accident, even though he agreed

__that Claimant had no C6 symptomatology or significant pathology pointing to the C6-7 diskuntil ———  —

T

the end of April 2019,



Claimant testified that she is forty-three years old and she has worked for Employer for
about fifteen years. She works as an outside sales consultant. As part of her job, she lifts cases of
wine and spirits on a regular basis. She deals with restaurants, so the boxes can weight about forty
pounds. Prior to her work accident, she was in excellent health. She had been in an accident back
about twenty years ago, but she recovered from that.

In August of 20135, she was involved in a rear-end collision. Initially, she had jaw pain and
pain down her arm. She first went to her primary care doctor, and then was sent to get some
injections and physical therapy. She was still in pain and her primary care doctor eventually
referred her to Dr. Mark Eskander, who rendered a diagnosis of a C3-4 herniation.

Claimant confirmed that she underwent fusion surgery at C3-4 in March of 2018. She was
~out of work for a time after that, but then returned to work. Following the surgery, the pain
symptoms down her arm went away, but she continued to have neck pain. By February of 2019,
she was having more neck pain and stiffness. Additional physical therapy was prescribed. It
provided some benefit at first, but then it stopped helping. In April of 2019, she was making a
delivery to an account and lifted some cases, which gave her some neck pain which radiated down
to the inside of her thumb. This was documented in an April 23, 2019 physical therapy note. She
continued working, Claimant also confirmed that, in April of 2019, she was standing for a long
time at a school lacrosse tournament. Her neck pain tended to be worse when she was sitting, so
prolonged standing actually made her neck pain less intense. On April 29, 2019, she reported to
physical therapy stating that she had right-sided neck pain that had worsened after the lacrosse
game. Claimant explained, though, that her neck pain was really about the same before the game

as after. As noted, standing at the game helped to ease the pain temporarily.



Claimant stated that she saw Dr. Eskander again in May of 2019, and a new MR! was
taken. It showed a herniated disk at C6-7. She got an injection and continued with physical therapy
until the end of June. On August 28, 2019, she had surgery at C6-7. Following that, she was out
of work until November 20, 2019, and then returned to full duty work (albeit with some assistance
as work). Currently, she has no pain down her arm. There is a lot of stiffness in the neck and
shoulder. She takes ibuprofen and Cymbalta for the symptoms. She is currently furloughed from
work but that 1s because of the COVID-19 pandemic, not because of her work injury.

Dr. Stephen Fedder, a neurosurgeon, testified by deposition on behalf of Employer. He

examined Claimant on September 5, 2018, and October 18, 2019. He has also reviewed pertinent

medical records. In his opinion, Claimant’s disk problem at C6-7 is unrelated to her 2015 work
event.

Dr. Fedder was aware that Claimant was injured in a compensable accident on August 12,
2015. She underwent surgery on March 20, 2018, which Claimant reported resolved 98% of the
numbness and tingling in her right arm. The surgery was an anterior cervical disk fusion at C3-4.

-Fhig surgery was reasonable;necessary and—eausally-—related to-the-work - accident— Clamrant—-

indicated that she felt well following her 2018 surgery.

Dr. Fedder confirmed that Claimant had physical therapy in March and April of 2019. The
therapy records reflect treatment to the posterior pectoral girdle. Claimant had diffuse pain in that
area, consistent with a strain. An April 23, 2019 therapy note refers to Claimant having thumb

pain after lifting “a case of product” wrong that same day. Claimant did not describe any radicular

pain or numbness going down the arm, just thumb pain (which, in any event, would suggesta C6_

problem, while Claimant’s disk pathology affected C7).



Dr. Fedder testified that there was then a significant increase in Claimant’s pain and an
abrupt change in her status as of April 29, 2019. The physical therapist indicated that Claimant
was tearful and had an increase in neck pain while attending a child’s sporting event. On May 2,
2019, Dr. Eskander noted that, one week earlier, Claimant had an onset of neck pain radiating to
the right posterior arm and elbow. These were true right C7 radicular symptoms. On May 2, 2019,
for the first time, numbness was noted in the thumb, index and middle fingers and there was right
triceps weakness. Dr. Fedder considered this a substantial and acute change in condition compared
to Claimant’s presentation of symptoms prior to then. Dr. Eskander identified these acute issues
as being connected to the C6-7 disk. Claimant then had surgery at that level on August 28, 2019.

Dr. Fedder noted that diagnostic studies had been done in September of 2015, September
of 2016 and January of 2018. All of those studies showed a small C6-7 disk abnormality. This
was an asymptomatic degenerative change. There was no evidence of interval changes at that level
between the studies and Claimant had no symptoms in the C7 nerve root distribution. That disk
abnormality cannot be related to the 2015 work accident and 1t was clinically dormant for years
following the accident.

Another MRI was then taken on May 9, 2019. It showed a new annular fissure at C6-7 and
there was now essential abutment of the spinal cord. However, there was no signal change in the
spinal cord and, on Dr. Eskander’s clinical examination, no evidence of myelopathy or spinal cord
dysfunction.

In Dr. Fedder’s opinion, the August 2019 fusion at C6-7 was directed to address a C7
radiculopathy of a compressive nature that had an onset in April of 2019. In his opinion, it has no
connection to the 2015 work accident. There was no evidence of any C7 radiculopathy after 2015

until April of 2019. Claimant’s C7 symptomatology was associated with a new anatomic change



in April of 2019." The problem at C6-7 is two levels away from the fusion at C3-4 and no medical
literature supports the conclusion that adjacent segment disease skips multiple levels. Rather,
“adjacent segment disease” describes exactly what it states: disease developing/ in the level next to
(i.e., adjacent to) the fusion. The reasoning given by Dr. Eskander is not supported by any medical
literature. There are some cases where multiple levels may get affected (such as a C6-7 fusion
affecting the C5-6 level and then the C4-5 level), but there is no support for the idea of adjacent
disk disease completely skipping over a level, such as Claimant has in the present case.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Causation

The primary issue for the pending petition is whether Claimant’s C6-7 surgery in August
of 2019 is caugally related to her August ,2015 work accident. Becguse it is her petition, Claimant
has the burden of proof. DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 29, § 10125(c). “The claimant has the burden of
proving causation not to a certainty but only by a preponderance of the evidence.” Goicuria v.

Kauffman's Furniture, Del. Super., C.A. No. 97A-03-005, Terry, J., 1997 WL 817889 at *2

———{October 30,1997, aff d—766-A2d 26 (Del—1998)—When;as—here, there is—a distinet and ——

identifiable work accident, the “but for” standard of causation must be applied. Reese v. Home
Budget Center, 619 A.2d 907, 910 (Del. 1992). See also State v. Steen, 719 A.2d 930, 932 (Del.
1998)(“[W]hen there is an identifiable industrial accident, the compensability of any resultant
injury must be determined exc/usively by an application of the ‘but for ’standard of proximate

cause.”)(emphasis in original). The “but for” standard does not require “sole” or even “substantial”

"In saying this, Dr. Fedder clarified that he was not suggesting another traumatic accident occurred. There
was an acute increase in symptoms because of a new anatomic change, which could just be part of a natural
progression or a spontanecus onset.



causation. “If the accident provides the ‘setting’ or ‘trigger,” causation is satisfied for purposes
of compensability.” Reese, 619 A.2d at 910.

Most of the basic facts are not in dispute. Claimant had a 2015 work accident that led to
her undergoing fusion surgery at C3-4 in March of 2018. In April of 2019, she developed
symptomatology that evidenced a disk problem at C6-7, and she had fusion surgery at that level in
August of 2019. The surgery itself was reasonable and necessary to address the disk pathology at
C6-7. The issue in dispute is whether that pathology is causally related to the 2015 work accident.
The theory of causation put forth by Claimant is that the C6-7 disk was affected by the fusion at
C3-4 by means of what Dr. Eskander called “noncontiguous adjacent segment disease” and,
therefore, but for the C3-4 fusion she would not have needed her 2019 surgery.

The Board has addressed the subject of “adjacent disk disease” or “adjacent segment
disease” on multiple occasions over the years. In Cicione v. FMC Corporation, Del. IAB, Hearing
No. 1373594 (May 3, 2016), Dr. Bruce Rudin argued that a fusion at L5-S1 caused extra pressure
on the other spinal levels, resulting in a disk herniation at L.3-4. Dr. John Townsend testified that
the medical literature only supports a fusion affecting the immediately adjacent disk. Cicione, at
10. Under the facts presented, the Board did not accept “the idea that adjacent segment syndrome
can ‘skip a level’ to affect a higher level without affecting the intermediate level.” Cicione, at10.

In Kisco v. Kitchen Kapers, Del. 1AB, Hearing No. 1305756 (December 14, 2016), the
claimant’s last level fused was [.3-4 and Dr. Pawan Rastogi opined that a herniation at T10-11 was
the result of adjacent segment disease. The Board rejected that opinion, relying on the testimony
of Dr. Ali Kalamchi that there are only “limited situations in which adjacent segment disease will
affect levels other than the level right next to a fusion surgery” (such as in the case of a congenital

fusion situation). See Kisco, at 17. In Kisco, the fusion was at L3-4, and the levels of L2-3, L1-2



and T12-L1 were all unaffected, and then there was a herniation at T10-11. Dr. Kalamchi testified
that he was unaware of any medical literature supporting such a “skip phenomenon” and even Dr.
Rastogi admitted that there was “no real literature tp support his theory of adjacent segment disease
relating to levels much further away than the actual fusion.” Kisco, at 17-18.

In Plumley v. Acme Markets, Del. IAB, Hearing No. 995593 (July 25, 2017), however, the
Board accepted the opinion of Dr. P. Tim Boulos that a herniation at C3-4 was caused as a result
of a fusion at C5-6, even though the intermediate disk (C4-5) was unaffected. Dr. Boulos testified

that levels can, at times, be skipped so that a second level away from the fused level can be affected.

See Pl umley, at 8 9 Thus, the Board rejected the opinion of Dr. Andrew Gelman that if the fusion__

at C5-6 was causing problems at C3-4, then the C4-5 level would also have been affected without
skippiqg alevel. See Plumley, at 7.

In Bowers v. Morgan Properties Payroll Services, Inc., Del. IAB, Hearing No. 1408128
(December 29, 2017), the Board again rejected Dr. Rudin’s opinion concerning adjacent segment

disease. In that case, the claimant had had degeneration at L1-2 for years prior to the work

anpidant M ) I

- -acetdent—Claimant subsequently had-afustomrat£3=4; T4=5 and T.5-S1. - Eventuaily, the T1-2 disk

became a pain generator, but the intervening 1.2-3 level showed only minimal degeneration. The
Board agreed with Dr. Fedder and concluded that what occurred at L1-2 was just part of the natural
progression of an existing condition and was not related to the fusion. The Board rejected the idea
that adjacent segment disease can “hop over” an intervening segment to affect one higher up the

spine. See Bowers, at 12-13.

In Hellstern v. Culinary Services Graup, Del._Super., C.A. No. 18A-07-008,Jurden, P.J.,—-

2019 WL 460309 (January 31, 2019), Superior Court considered an appeal from a Board decision

in which the Board rejected a causal relation of adjacent segment disease even though the claimant

10



had a fusion at L3-4 and the additional level in dispute was the directly adjoining L.2-3 level. The
Board accepted the opinion of Dr. Robert Smith over that of Dr. Rudin. Dr. Smith had testified
that, under the circumstances, 1t would be vnusual for adjacent segment deterioration from an L3-
4 fusion to affect 1.2-3 rather than L5-S1 (which would have received more stress that 1.2-3) and
that adjacent segment disease was “uncormnmon”, occurring in less than 20% of fusion cases. As
such, the Board found that the claimant had not met her burden of proof. See Hellstern, 2019 WL
460309 at *10-*11. Superior Court affirmed the Board, stating that the issue was “a question of
fact” and the Board based its decision on substantial evidence because it relied on the testimony
of Dr. Smith. See Hellstern, 2019 WL 460309 at *11.

Finally, in Wroten v. Lowes, Del. IAB, Hearing No. 1358700 (July 31, 2019), the Board
considered an argument that a C3-4 fusion caused adjacent scgment disease at C6-7, similar to the
situation in the present case. Dr. Eskander testified for the claimant and Dr. Fedder for the
employer. Weighing the evidence presented, the Board accepted the opinion of Dr. Eskander that
the C3-4 fusion put more stress and shock on all the other cervical disks, eventually resulting in a
herniation at C6-7, which is the most common cervical level to herniate. See Wroten, at 16-17.
The Board noted that there was no evidence that the claimant had “any C6-7 level issues prior to
his 2009 work accident.” Wroten, at 17.

Not surprisingly, Claimant in the present case argues that the decision in Wroten, being so
similar in facts, should be followed. However, as Superior Court recognized in Hellstern and as
the above recital of other cases makes clear, this is not an issue to be decided based on legal
precedent. Rather, it is a question of fact depending on the presentation of evidence made at this
hearing, not that made at any other hearing. The burden of proof rests with Claimant and she must

establish more than a mere possibility of causation. Rather, she must show that, more likely than

11



not, the disk problem at C6-7 was caused by her C3-4 fusion. ! find that Claimant hag failed to
meet this burden.

The medical experts describe the medical literature differently. Dr. Fedder states that the
literature discusses adjacent, contiguous disks and that none of the studies support the theory that
adjacent segment disease can skip over a level to affect a disk further along the spine. Dr. Eskander
argues that “adjacent” does not mean directly adjacent and that the entire spine, from cervical to
lumbar is affect by a fusion anywhere along the spine because the fused level imparts increased
stress throughout the entire spine. He coined the term “noncontiguous adjacent segment disease”

for his causation opinion.

A closer reading of Dr. Eskander’s testimony, though, raises substantial doubts as to this
lcausative theory. First, astmployer’s counsel pointg out, the doctor is treating j:he word “adjacent”
as if it doesn’t mean adjacent (which is a synonym for “contiguous™). Dr. Eskander observed that
the “original paper” on the topic did not “talk about the level immediately above or below

specifically,” Deposition of Dr. Eskander, at 35, and that “they don’t ever specify that adjacent

1 e limny 1 1 vt At Lt 9 DN e SN T ]
segment disease is limited to-theimmediateJevel nextto-the fuston.” Depositionof DrEskander;

at 40. Dr. Fedder denies this, stating that the articles referenced by Dr. Eskander actually do
identify adjacent segment disease as being “at the level next to the index fusion.” Deposition of
Dr. Fedder, at 21.

A close review of the testimony, though, reveals that Dr. Eskander does not state that the
articles in fact find that a noncontiguous level can be affected. Rather, his statements were to the

~effect that the articles did not specify that it had to be a directly adjacent level or specifically

identify the levels directly above and below. In short, because he did not rcad the articles as

directly specifying that the effect was limited to the immediate adjacent level, the doctor is making
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an inference that that means that any level in the spine could be affected. 1 do not find that
rationalization convincing. It is difficult to believe that scientists would use the term “adjacent”
to refer to something that was not, in fact, adjacent. That is what one would have to believe to
accept Dr. Eskander’s theory. I therefore find Dr. Fedder’s reading of the articles more credible.
It is more likely than not that the scientists coined the term “adjacent segment disease” because it
affected the adjacent segment, not segments spread out elsewhere throughout the spine not
adjacent to the fusion level.

The belief that Dr. Eskander is reading too much into the scientific articles is support by
Dr. Eskander’s testimony concerning a synopsis of an article on which he relied. The synopsis,
according to him, indicated that the greatest risk for symptomatic adjacent segment disease is
greatest at the interspaces between the fifth and sixth vertebrae and the sixth and seventh vertebrae
(although, contrary to expectation, the risk of new disease at an adjacent level was lower following
a multilevel arthrodesis than a single level arthrodesis). See Deposition of Dr. Eskander, at 51-52.
The doctor presents this as evidence that the article does not look at any specific adjacent level and
that, therefore, a fusion anywhere in the cervical spine would most affect the C5-6 and C6-7 levels.
Howevgr, that is not what that summary states. What it states, by the doctor’s own testimony, is
that, if an adjacent level is going to get adjacent segment disease, it is more likely to happen at a
5-6 or 6-7 level. That does not provide any support to Dr. Eskander’s conclusion that a

noncontiguous leve] can be affected.?

% In Dr. Fedder’s deposition, his attention was drawn to a study that had two patients with a 6-7 arthrodesis
who developed new disk diseases between both 5-6 and 4-5. See Deposition of Dr. Fedder, at 44-45. Dr.
Fedder noted that that did not establish a “skip lesion” where there is an unaffected disk between the fusion
and the higher disk. Even assuming that the 4-5 level was caused by the fusion, it was only with the 5-6
level also being affected. 1n Claimant’s case, the fusion was at C3-4; she had a normal level at C4-5; a
normal level at C5-6; and then disk disease at C6-7. The referenced study does not establish a scientific
basis to conclude that a fusion at C3-4 causes degeneration at C6-7 without affecting two levels in betwecen.

13



In short, Dr. Eskander proposes a causation theory. He speaks of spinal kinetics and
biomechanics to suggest that a fusion at C3-4 can put extira stress at C6-7 to cause that disk to
deteriorate faster, but he failed to identify any specific scientific literature that directly supports
that theory. Dr. Fedder testified that, in fact, the scientific literature does not support the idea that
adjacent segment disease can skip a level (or, in the present case, skip two levels) to affect a level
further down the spine. At best, all that Dr. Eskander presented in his testimony is a colorable
argument and that is not sufficient to meet Claimant’s burden of proof. Indeed, the summary of
the article discussed by Dr. Eskander demonstrates the danger of relying on pure theory. That

article specifically noted that, contrary to the theory the authors held, a multilevel arthrodesis

(which they assumed would affect spinal motion even more than a single level) actually had lower
rates of adjacent segment disease than the single level arthrodesis. See Deposition of Dr. Eskanderf,
at 51-52. This is why one tests theories: just because a theory is colorable does not necessarily
make it true.

An argument was raised that the C6-7 level already showed some early pathology (a small

disk bulge) albeit-that-pathelogy played norele-at-all-in-Claimant’s-earhier complaintsfollowing

the work accident. Both doctors agreed that that bulge likely predated the work accident, but was
causing no trouble either before or after the accident. Claimant argues that that level was already
weakened and therefore was more prone to be affected by the alleged additional stress from a
fusion two levels away than the intervening levels would be. However, 1 find the evidence to be
clear that when Ciaimant developed C6-7 pathology, it was a sudden onset in April of 2819. The

~ therapy records show that it did not slowly increase over time since the fusion, but rather happened. ..

suddenly. I agree with Dr. Fedder that the April 29, 2019 therapy note documented an abrupt

change in Claimant’s status and that is when symptomatology properly attributable to the C6-7
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disk arose. Dr. Eskander agreed that the C6-7 disk is the most common one to herniate in a person
under any circumstance. Thus, the fact that the C6-7 disk was not pristine prior to the C3-4 fusion
does not mean that the subsequent C6-7 herniation is causally related to the fusion. C6-7 is a level
that commonly herniates under normal circumstances. There is no reason to believe that
Claimant’s C6-7 herniation was not just a natural progression of an already existing disk defect.

Accordingly, T accept the opinion of Dr. Fedder over that of Dr. Eskander, and find that
Claimant has not shown, more likely than not, the C6-7 herntation was causally related to the C3-
4 fusion or the 2015 work accident. Scientific literature does not establish that the adjacent
segment disease phenomenon can skip over intervening levels (leaving them unaffected to affect
a level even further away). What Dr. Eskander proposes 1s, at best, a mere possibility. To establish
proper legal causation, Claimant’s burden is to show more than a colorable possibility. She must
show that, more likely than not, that is what happened. For the reasons stated, I find that Claimant
has not met that burden.

STATEMENT OF THE DETERMINATION
For the reasons set forth above, Claimant’s petition is denied.

7
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IT IS SO ORDERED THIS / 7 DAY OF OCTOBER, 2020.

X7ACCIDENT BOARD
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CHRISTOPHER F. M
Workers” Compefisation Hearing Officer
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Hardware Removal Following Spine Surgery

If the Employer pays for the spine surgery, will it always have to pay for a subsequent surgery to
remove the hardware?

Davis v. RRW, Inc., IAB No. 1481986 (Dec. 27, 2021)

e (Claimant was injured on January 25, 2019, and on February 24, 2020, underwent a L5-S1
anterior, posterior fusion performed by Dr. Zaslavsky, which was acknowledged as
compensable by Employer.

e Claimant continued with low back pain following the surgery and on September 25, 2020,
Dr. Zaslavsky performed a hardware block.

e The hardware block provided Claimant with no relief.

e Dr. Zaslavsky recommended a hardware removal procedure because of her ongoing
symptoms.

e On June 18, 2021, Dr. Zaslavsky performed the hardware removal surgery.

e Employer submitted the hardware removal surgery to Utilization Review and a UR
Determination found that the hardware removal surgery was compliant with the Healthcare
Practice Guidelines.

e Employer filed a UR Appeal of that determination contending that the hardware removal
surgery was not reasonable and necessary.

e At the hearing, Claimant denied that the procedure provided relief and reported she continues
to experience spasms, tightening and left sided pain.

e The Board noted that there were insufficient findings to warrant the hardware removal
procedure and Claimant's post-accident symptoms remained the same after both her February
2020 surgery and her June 2021 hardware removal procedure.

e Specifically, the Board found inadequate documentation that the hardware was Claimant’s
pain generator.

e Even Dr. Zaslavsky acknowledged that Claimant’s back pain began to worsen following the
June 2021 hardware removal surgery and reported that “...we’re probably almost in the same
position we were before the hardware removal.”



e The Board found the hardware removal surgery was NOT reasonable and necessary
treatment for Claimant based on the medical testimony of Dr. Schwartz.

Vergara v. Washington Street Ale House, IAB No. 1451481 (Oct. 29, 2021)

e Claimant was injured on March 31, 2016, and eventually on January 14, 2019, underwent a
L5-S1 anterior, posterior fusion performed by Dr. Eskander, which was acknowledged as
compensable by Employer.

e Claimant continued with low back pain following the lumbar spine surgery and Claimant
eventually underwent a hardware block procedure, which provided 40% relief for
approximately four days.

e Asaresult, Dr. Eskander recommended a hardware removal procedure and on March 17,
2021, Dr. Eskander performed the hardware removal surgery.

e Employer submitted the surgery to Utilization Review and a UR Determination found that
the hardware removal surgery was compliant with the Healthcare Practice Guidelines.

e Employer filed a UR Appeal of that determination contending that the hardware removal
surgery was not reasonable and necessary.

e Dr. Schwartz testified for Employer. He testified that while hardware removal surgery is not
as complicated as a fusion surgery, there are still the risks of undergoing general anesthesia;
of spinal cord injury; of breaking the screw as it is being removed; of infection; and of
surgical complications. Dr. Schwartz summarized that in Claimant’s case, the surgical risks
outweigh the potential benefits.

e Furthermore, Dr. Schwartz noted that Claimant underwent the surgery on March 17, 2021,
and she had not benefitted.

e Dr. Eskander testified that Claimant reported experiencing significant improvement from the
hardware block prior to the hardware removal surgery and following the hardware removal
surgery, Claimant had improvement in her preoperative low back pain.

e The Hearing Officer noted inconsistencies with Claimant’s post hardware removal
complaints but said, “When analyzing the reasonableness and necessity of surgery, the
factors to be considered are those considered when deciding to proceed with surgery as
opposed to the postsurgical evidence of whether such surgery was a success or failure.”



Dr. Eskander’s medical opinions were accepted over the opinions of Dr. Schwartz finding
that based on the totality of the evidence, forty percent relief and sustained for 4 days was
sufficient to justify proceeding with the hardware removal surgery.

White v. Schagrin Gas, IAB No. 1430282 (May 5, 2017)

Claimant was injured on February 27, 2014, and Employer acknowledged a lumbar spine
injury.

On March 2, 2015, Claimant underwent a lumbar spine surgery performed by Dr. Eskander,
which consisted of an anterior and posterior lumbar interbody fusion at L4-5 with
instrumentation/hardware.

Following surgery, Claimant continued with low back pain and Dr. Eskander recommended
a hardware block, which was performed and showed 70% improvement. To further confirm
that the hardware was causing Claimant pain, Dr. Eskander a second hardware block, which
also showed improvement in Claimant’s symptoms.

Dr. Eskander compared the hardware in Claimant’s spine to a pebble in a shoe. For some
patients having a piece of metal can disrupt the local tissues. Every time Claimant moves,
bends or twists he can irritate the local tissues and muscles, etc. Thus, it is comparable to a
pebble in the shoe. The metal in his back is an irritant and the hope is that by removing it the
back pain will improve.

Unlike Davis and Vergara, Claimant did not have the hardware removal surgery prior to the
IAB hearing. So, the outcome of the hardware surgery was unknown during the hearing.

Board found hardware removal surgery was reasonable and necessary based on success of
pre-surgical hardware blocks and Dr. Eskander’s testimony.

WHAT IS THE TAKEAWAY?

A hardware removal block, which shows improvement in symptoms (even if temporary), will
be very helpful in arguing that hardware removal surgery was reasonable and necessary.

e.g., Davis had no improvement from block (lost) and Vergara had at least some
improvement (won)

According to Vergara, postsurgical evidence of whether the hardware surgery was a success
or failure should not be a factor when deciding whether surgery was reasonable and
necessary.



BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD
OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

SARAH JOHNSON,
Employee,
V.

Hearing No. 1467789

J&J STAFFING,

N N N N N N N N N

Employer.
DECISION ON PETITIONS TO DETERMINE ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION DUE
AND EMPLOYER’S UTILIZATION REVIEW APPEAL
Pursuant to due notice of time and place of hearing served on all parties in interest, the
above-stated cause came before the Industrial Accident Board on Friday October 29, 2021, in the

Hearing Room of the Board, in Wilmington, Delaware.

PRESENT:
ROBERT MITCHELL

VINCENT D’ANNA
Eric D. Boyle, Workers” Compensation Hearing Officer, for the Board

APPEARANCES:
Tara E. Bustard, Attorney for the Employee

Andrew J. Carmine, Attorney for the Employer



NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Sarah Johnson (“Claimant™) was injured in a work accident on August 31, 2017, while in
the course and scope of her employment with J&J Staffing. (“Employer™). Claimant sustained
compensable injuries to her lumbar spine as a result of the work accident. Claimant has received
benefits for medical expenses, including spinal fusion surgery, total disability, permanent
impairment, and disfigurement. Claimant’s Petition seeks approval for a permanent spinal cord
stimulator. Pursuant to title 19, section 2322F(h) of the Délaware Code, the Employer referred
that treatment for Utilization Review (“UR”). On April 14, 2021, the UR determination was
issued and found the spinal cord stimulator (SCS) to be compliant with the Healthcare Practice
Guidelines (HCPG).

On May 21, 2021 Employer filed a Petition to Determine Additional Compensation Due
to appeal the UR determination. On June 1, 2021 Claimant filed a Petition to Determine
Additional Compensation Due to determine compensability of the spinal cord stimulator.
Employer contends that the stimulator implant was not reasonable, or necessary. Claimant’s
average weekly wage was $345.48 resulting in a compensation rate of $230.32. A hearing was
held on October 29, 2021. This is the Board’s decision on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

Dr. Mark Eskander, a physician board certified in orthopedic spine surgery, testified by
deposition on behalf of Claimant. Dr. Eskander first started treating Claimant in ngruary 2018.
Dr. Eskander testified that they tried a few different modalities of conservative treatment
however that failed, and they ended up performing lumbar spine fusion surgery. This surgery
was quite extensive involving lumbar spine segments L3 through S1 and included a deformity

correction. The last surgery was April 29th, 2019. Claimant ended up with persistent pain and



radicular complaints despite the surgery. Claimant underwent a spinal cord stimulator trial with
an 85% improvement in her symptoms. Dr. Eskander testified that putting in a spinal cord
stimulator involves a lot of different adjustments in the programming and signals. Dr. Eskander
agreed that the conservative treatment included physical therapy, opioid pain medication,
steroids, nerve medication and injections.

In December 2020 Claimant had, prior to the implantation of the spinal cord stimulator,
complaints of back pain radiating to the right buttock, and lateral leg down to the level of the
ankle. She had numbness and titigling in that distribution and rated the pain at a 9 out of 10. She
had swelling tingling, weakness and giving away of her lower extremity. Dr. Eskander made a
recommendation for a spinal cord stimulator because some patients still have a lot of troubles
after the stabilization of the spine with the fusion surgery. The stimulator would essentially
modify the pain sensations or the signal that comes from the lower extremities up through the
back to the brain. The stimulator blocks or alters that signal so the brain does not know it is pain.
Dr. Eskander reviewed a note from Dr. Rowlands who saw Claimant on February 25th, 2021.
Her symptoms at that time were pain in the lower back and bilateral legs at 9 out of 10 severity.
Other pain management treatment had failed. At that point Dr Rowlands agreed to go forward
with a trial spinal cord stimulator. He discussed it on that visit with Claimant.

Dr. Eskander described the role of spinal cord stimulator as akin to an antenna ona TV to
get the picture sharper. It does not correct the underlying condition but changes the pain signals.
Dr. Eskander testified that there was a transmitter and implanted paddle like devices with wires
that are hooked up to a battery. The transmitter is a handheld device like a phone. The user can
adjust the different patterns, signals, and algorithms to control their pain. You also work with a

manufacturer’s representative to dial in the signals and program the device. Dr. Eskander



testified that the simulator doesn't get turned on right after the implantation, because you want to
wait until the implant incisions heal.

In accordance with the HCPG Claimant saw a psychiatrist, Dr. Detweiler. He provided a
report dated March 9, 2021. Claimant was aware of the risks and expressed no concerns relative
to that and the potential side effects. Dr. Detweiler also indicated that Claimant had done some
additional research online herself and asked appropriate questions. He expressed an opinion that
she was emotionally capable of handling and benefiting from the spinal cord simulator
procedure. Claimant then obtained a second opinion with Dr. James Zaslavsky and he concurred
that the stimulator placement would be a good recommendation. Following that Claimant had a
trial spinal cord stimulator placed. Dr. Rowlands note of March 31, 2021 detailed the results of
that trial. His note indicates Claimant had 85% relief during the trial which is a very good
response. Dr. Eskander felt that this was as good as you would get with an implant. He testified
that there is a high correlation between the results of the trial and a permanent implant. Usually,
patients get much less relief and still go with the implant however 85% is a great response. He
agreed that Dr. Rowlands note indicated that Claimant was only complaining of right leg pain
after the trial. She was also down to an eight out of 10 pain from a nine she was expressing
before the trial.

Dr. Eskander reviewed the utilization review report. He noted that the reviewer is a
neurosurgeon familiar with the implant procedure. Dr. Eskander agreed that this surgeon
determined that the permanent implantation of a spinal cord stimulator was in compliance with
the HCPG. It was Dr. Eskander’s opinion that the protocols were met and checked in multiple
different ways. Claimant had the permanent stimulator implant done on April 27, 2021. Dr.

Eskander described in detail what is involved with the implantation procedure. Following that



procedure there was a two-week post op visit. At that time, Claimant was already seeing
significant improvement in having an overall 90% relief with some symptoms in the left leg. Dr.
Eskander agreed that she had relief of her pain in the left leg on May 14, 2021. He also indicated
that initially after the procedure they don’t turn the implant on because of the fresh wound.
Claimant met with the manufacturers wrap to get the algorithms and programming right. He did
agree that the adjustments to get the computer algorithms correct could take a long time. He felt
this process of tuning could last up to three months. Claimant had another follow-up on June 10
to the 2021 and was complaifiiig of some achiness with walking and weakness in the right leg.
She did not report any other pain. At that time, they considered a functional capacity evaluation.
Claimant had a telemedicine appointment on July 22, 2021 and reported having some back pain
radiating to the right leg at 7 out of 10 which would wake her from sleep. She had benefit from
the stimulator on the left but not the right. She was meeting with the manufacturer rep to make
some adjustments. They took x-rays to ensure that the implant was in the proper position which
it was. Dr. Eskander also noted that at this point Claimant was seen Dr. De los for right hip
symptoms. He felt that some of the pathology from the hip was overlapping with her back pain.
Dr. Eskander also reviewed Dr. Schwartz’ DME. He disagreed with Dr. Schwartz’
opinion that because there was still right leg pain the spinal cord stimulator implantation was not
reasonable or necessary. Dr. Eskander pointed out that the rationale for the trial and ultimately
the permanent placement was checked in a few ways and appropriately followed all the steps
outlined in the HCPG. They got a great result from the trial and only after that moved ahead with
the permanent implant. This is not even considering how the permanent implant is performing.
The decision to go forward with it was well-founded and documented. Dr. Eskander also did not

like to use the term failed back syndrome. There can be many different problems resulting in an



unsatisfactory spinal surgery. One has to follow up and determine what is causing the pain and
dysfunction. He did admit that the failed back surgery diagnosis is a pre-qualifier for a spinal
cord stimulator. In the end Dr. Eskander felt that the spinal cord simulator was reasonable and
necessary. As to whether Claimant could work they would wait for the FCE results. Claimant did
follow up with additional programming of the stimulator in August. This was in conjunction with
the manufacturers rep who was able to program the device. This process has been ongoing since
the implantation. This may not necessarily be an in person visit but could be over the telephone
to troubleshoot the system. :

On cross examination Dr. Eskander agreed that in December 2020 Claimant had bilateral
leg pain as well as back pain. The note specifically indicated radiating pain on the right side. He
agreed as to the listing of the risks and side effects of a spinal cord stimulator implant. Dr.
Eskander testified that he does not do the trial just the permanent implants. He did indicate the
following the trial placement there is a week of programming and optimization that follows. He
agreed that Claimant reported her experiences for the previous six days while on the trial. He
agreed that the follow-up note indicated right lower back and right leg pain with an eight out of
10 severity. At that time, Claimant was taking gabapentin 600 mg. He agreed also that there were
no changes to her medication at that point. Dr. Eskander explained the discrepancy between the 8
out of 10 pain on the visual analog scale and 85% relief by stating that percentage represents a
global response to the procedure as opposed to specific daily pain. He agreed that Claimant did
not keep a pain diary for the trial procedure. Dr. Eskander agreed that after the trial he wrote to
the carrier requesting for the procedure to be approved. This request in turn triggered the

Utilization Review.



Dr. Eskander discussed his scheduling procedures in the office and the timing between
his request for approval and the actual procedure. He also discussed some of the risks during the
procedure which are the same or similar as risks during any back surgery. On May 14, 2021 Dr.
Eskander’s physician’s assistant saw Claimant for the first post op follow-up. At that point she
was having overall 90% relief in the left leg. Dr. Eskander noted that the disability scores were
quite low during that visit as well. The stimulator helps with all types of pain. He agreed that the
physical examination on May 14 was positive for a straight leg raise on the right as well as
tenderness on the right side. He agreed that Claimant was still experiencing clinical symptoms on
the right side, however Dr. Eskander noted this could be coming from the hip. He described how
the multilevel fusion procedure might affect other areas of the body. The August 4, 2021
telehealth visit occurred of course without a physical examination. Claimant noted that het
condition was unchanged and continued to rate pain at 7 out of 10 while complaining that it was
waking her from sleep. The benefits were on the left side.

Dr. Eskander described his physical examination on August 4. She had back pain
radiating to the right leg. The disability score was similar, and her pain was 7 out of 10. Claimant
had some give way weakness in the right lower extremity but that was improved. Straight leg
raising was positive on the right. There was hip irritability on the right as well. Dr. Eskander
testified that Dr. Rowland was following up on the medical management after the surgery. Dr.
Eskander testified that Claimant has still been out of work during this time. Dr. Eskander
emphasized that these stimulators are not meant to give a hundred percent pain relief because
that would be an elimination of all sensation. There has to be some feedback. Something like a
hip arthritis or straight leg raise can break through but they are more tolerable, and a patient can

function with a better quality of life which is the purpose of the stimulator.



Claimant testified on her own behalf. Claimant is from Newcastle Delaware. In the four
years since the injury, she has had multiple and varied types of treatment. Leading up to the
spinal cord stimulator trial Claimant had back pain and bilateral lower extremity pain. Claimant
testified that after the surgery she was using a walker but they told her that was not good for her
a so she weaned off the walker and is now using a cane. She was also taking gabapentin. After
undergoing the SCS trial she felt 85% relief of her pain symptoms. Claimant testified that she
felt if she went ahead with the permanent implant, they might be able to get all her pain to go
away. Claimant testified they told her the pain relief would not happen overnight and it could be
a long process to get it working correctly. There was also a risk that she still might have pain.
After she had the SCS implant her left leg pain resolved however it did not take away her right
leg pain. Ultimately, Claimant felt she had 90% relief of her pain symptoms.

Claimant testified that she met with the device representative, Sarah, who adjusted and
programmed the device until even her right sided pain was gone. Claimant testified that she still
has an issue with right~sided buttocks pain. She feels there is something swollen in that area and
bruised. She feels discomfort when she sits on that side. She met with Sarah several times to
adjust the device. Ultimately the pain in her legs resolved enough so that she no longer has to
take gabapentin. She takes tramadol for pain. Claimant is trying to walk more but still gets tired
quickly. The stimulator has helped relieve Claimant’s pain and as a result she is more functional
in her activities of daily living.

On cross examination Claimant confirmed that in the office notes a week after the
beginning of the SCS trial in March indicated that her pain level was the same as it was prior to
her surgery. At the same time, Claimant told the doctor that she had 85% pain relief. When asked

to describe or explain this discrepancy Claimant noted that the 85% number was an average



number based on her experiences during the week of the trial. She was tolerating her daily
routine more and she was able to relax without feeling the pain. After she had the SCS implanted
she was having severe pain that would wake up her up from sleep. The records indicated a week
after the implant that she had pain shooting down her legs. Claimant agreed that the SCS was not
working in July. When Claimant saw Dr. Schwartz for the defense medical exam, she told him
that she still had pain. That is when they called in the manufacturer rep to help adjust the
stimulator. They tried different settings and programs to get the pain to resolve. Claimant
confirmed that currently she does not have any pain going down her legs. She also testified that
she was mistaken about the tramadol and is only taking tizanidine for the pain in her buttocks.
She has not scheduled any follow up visits with Dr. Eskander and is feeling much better. She
confirmed that when she saw Dr. Schwartz the stimulator was not working properly.

Dr. Eric Schwartz, a physician board certified in orthopedic surgery, testified by
deposition on behalf of Employer.! Dr. Schwartz examined Claimant on several occasions, in
2018, September 2020 and July 29, 2021. In conjunction with his examinations Dr. Schwartz
was also able to review medical records including the utilization review decision. During his first
deposition Dr. Schwartz testified that he did not believe the proposed spinal cord stimulator
provided Claimant any benefit. Dr. Schwartz reviewed Dr. Rowlands note of March 31, 2021.
That record noted Claimant presented for a low back pain follow up with symptoms of back pain
in the right lower back and right leg with pain at a severity of 8 out of 10. She was prescribed
300 mg of gabapentin and Dr. Schwartz testified that there was no change in medication dosage
from his prior deposition. He read that the trial of the spinal cord stimulator provided 85% relief,

however the note also stated that Claimant rated her pain at an 8 out of 10. The specific details of

' Dr. Schwartz previously testified in this case on February 4, 2021. That transcript was attached as an exhibit to this
deposition.



the lumbar spine examination noted lumbar spine spasms, tenderness, pain on palpation of left
and right bilateral lumbar paraspinals. Dr. Schwartz further noted there was pain on rotation and
during a Kemp test.

Dr. Schwartz testified that it was correct that the practice guidelines require a minimum
of 50% decrease in pain confirmed by the visual analog pain scale. He felt that the pain noted on
Dr. Rowlands note after the test, 8 out of 10 represents the same pain that Claimant had prior to
the test. It is also at odds with Claimant’s statement that she had 85% relief. In his mind that
would mean her pain level dropped down to a 2 to 3 out of 10. Dr. Schwartz testified that he
disagrees with the physician reviewer because there was no second opinion and no
documentation of relief required by the guidelines. There was also no evidence that medication
usage was reduced. He agreed that the UR decision did not even discuss the second opinion. Dr.
Schwartz testified that the implantation of the permanent device is a serious surgery with all the
attendant risks that go along with that. There’s a risk of infection and other complications even
though it is not the same thing as fusion surgery, you still have a decent sized incision.

Dr. Schwartz testified that the goal of the Practice Guidelines for surgery was that the
benefits of that procedure outweigh the risks. The benefit would be to restore functionality and
alleviate discomfort. Dr. Schwartz also reviewed the postoperative notes from Dr. Eskander’s
office. The initial physician’s assistant note provides no visual analog scale just the statement
that there was 90% pain relief overall on the left side. Although he noted you could not tell
whether that 90% was just to the left side or overall. The physical examination on that date
reported decreased sensation on the right side in multiple distributions. There was also positive
straight leg raise and tenderness on the right side. All this is inconsistent with an overall 90%

improvement. She was continuing to walk with a cane on that date as well.
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The next visit was six weeks postoperative and Claimant reported no pain. She has some
weakness in the right leg and aching when she walks too long. However, Dr. Schwartz noted that
the subjective statement is inconsistent with her disability index which was a 40 and indicative of
pain. The Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) evidenced pain with difficulty sitting, lifting,
traveling and social life. This was another inconsistency in his opinion. Dr. Schwartz testified
that the ODI scoring would be 0 to 20 for minimum disability, 21 to 40 for moderate disability
and anything over 40, which Claimant was close to here, equates to severe disability. Dr.
Schwartz next reviewed Dr. Eskander’s note from July 22, 2021 which was a telehealth visit. At
that point Claimant was reporting that she was essentially back to where she started with back
pain complaints radiating into the right leg and a pain rating of 7 out of 10. She was having
trouble sleeping because of her pain. There was some benefit noted on the left side but not on the
right. Claimant remained on total disability status 12 weeks from the implant. She was also
continued to take her medication with very little decrease in her gabapentin. She was also taking
oxycodone 5 mg and a muscle relaxer. This represented an increase in medication since the
implantation of the spinal cord stimulator.

On his follow-up examination Dr. Schwartz noted that Claimant had symptoms of back
pain right and lower extremity radicular complaints despite the placement of the stimulator.
Claimant told him that the stimulator helped in the beginning but was not helping at this point
with the right lower extremity. She was ambulating with an antalgic gait as well. Claimant
specifically stated to Dr. Schwartz that the stimulator was no longer helping her. On physical
examination Claimant continued with the lumbar discomfort with restricted range of motion. She
had diffuse weakness in the right lower extremity. Straight leg raising produced back pain on the

right but not true radicular pain. She had diminished ankle reflexes and diminished sensation in a
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non-dermatomal pattern. Following his examination and review of all the records it remained Dr.
Schwartz’s opinion that Claimant had reached maximum benefit from all medical treatment as of
his December 3, 2019 evaluation. He did not feel that further treatment including the spinal cord
stimulator would be reasonable and necessary. She was capable full-time sedentary duty work at
this point.

Dr. Schwartz testified further that his opinions dovetail with his prior testimony before
the Board. He does not feel that the spinal cord stimulator was consistent with the guidelines but
even setting that aside, Claimant has had multiple surgical interventions and treatment with no
benefit. Claimant has undergone a 3-to-4-year period of extensive and life altering treatment and
the medical records do not support any positive patient response or functional gain required by
the guidelines. Noting Dr. Eskander’s testimony that the permanent implant was justified by the
successful trial, it was Dr. Schwartz’s opinion that the medical records do not support that
statement. He noted again that this happened previously with the Board’s decision when Dr.
Rowlands opined Claimant had a 90% improvement with no support from the medical records.
There is no pain diary or proper documentation of the 85% reduction in pain with the stimulator
trial. The 85% reduction in pain is clearly inconsistent with the visual analog scale which
remained at an 8 out of 10. He would have expected to see the decreased pain with the
implantation of the stimulator. Dr. Schwartz testified that by the July evaluation there was no
evidence of any benefit from the implant. He would’ve anticipated immediate relief because it is
blocking the electrical signals which should elicit an immediate response. Pain should be
reduced, and function increased. Instead, Claimant had an increase in medication three months

later. He also discussed her work capability.
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On cross examination Dr. Schwartz admitted that he does not perform spinal cord
stimulator implants. He also admitted that he had not reviewed any records from First State
Orthopedics including the second opinion prepared by Dr. James Zaslavsky. Dr. Schwartz
specifically indicated he did not review the March 16, 2021 note where Dr. Zaslavsky provided a
second opinion on the spinal cord stimulator. While Dr. Schwartz agreed he stated that one of the
requirements that was not obtained, was getting a second opinion for the spinal cord stimulator.
Even the second opinion from Dr. Zaslavsky would not change his opinioﬁ after seeing Claimant
over several years and on numerous occasions. He did not believe that this stimulator provided
the necessary reduction in pain. Dr. Schwartz acknowledged that the May 14, 2021 note does
indicate she had relief in her left leg only but that wouldn’t necessarily transmit to a benefit
because Claimant has had mainly complaints of right lower extremity issues for a number of
years. He agreed that Claimant was reporting 90% overall pain benefit at that time, however as
he said previously in his testimony that in and of itself is not a functional benefit over time. The
90% relief being reported only three weeks postoperative. He agreed that Claimant’s ODI was 68
in December 2020 and 20 on May 14, 2021. He noted that the later date in June showed an ODI
a 40 which is going back up again. He agreed that was still less than December 2020, but it was
going back up again. The pain scale was still an 8 out of 10 and there was a slow incremental
increase back to the where it was prior to the stimulator placement.

Dr. Schwartz agreed that in January 2018 lumbar surgery was an option. He noted that
they all agreed she had a significant disability from the work accident and recalled that her
impairment rating was 35%. He wasn’t questioning that, but he was questioning the continued
multiple procedures. He agreed that he diagnosed her with failed low back syndrome. He did not

believe that she should have been taking the high amount of gabapentin or receive any additional
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injections or nerve blocks. He would manage the symptoms with activity modification, cognitive
therapy and return to work which can reduce stress and anxiety. You don’t want to repetitively
perform injections even after they don’t work. She’s at the endpoint of her treatment was
significant disability.

Dr. Schwartz agreed that Claimant was 69 at the time of his original evaluation in 2018.
He noted that she had issues consistent with her impairment rating of 35% like restricted lumbar
range of motion and she’s had significant long-term complications from the work injury and the
surgeries. She continues to have weakness in her right lower extremity and decreased sensation.
He felt that she was in endpoint with her treatment exercise and returning to work is always
helpful. What we know is that Claimant has had a multiyear, extensive life altering treatment and
has not improved. The medical records note that the range of motion is has not improved, her
endurance is not improved, her strength is not improved none of the functional things you would
want to see a positive patient response from have improved. Dr. Schwartz again agreed that one
should see pain relief immediately after the implantation of the stimulator. He noted that even the
guidelines note that you want to see significant relief within a day or two. He believes that the
stimulator is turned on within 24 hours after the surgery. He agreed that the utilization review did
not reference the second opinion from Dr. Zaslavsky at any time. He did not believe that the note
from Dr. Rowlands immediately after the trial is sufficient to support the permanent implant.
Regardless of when the actual stimulator was turned on whether was 24 hours or 48 hours
afterwards the records do not support the need for the stimulator. It doesn’t matter when you turn
it on, however after it is on you should start to feel immediate relief. He agreed that the

utilization review determination did not list the records the reviewer reviewed at the time of the
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review. He did not believe that the reviewer was looking at all the medical records. The main

point from the UR is the resulting 85% relief during the trial as justification.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Medical Expenses

When an employee has suffered a compensable injury, the employer is required to pay
for reasonable and necessary medical “services, medicine and supplies” causally connected with
that injury. DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2322. However, to assist in assessing what is reasonable
or necessary medical treatment for a workers’ compensation injury, Delaware adopted Health
Care Practice Guidelines.> These “guidelines shall apply to all treatments provided after the
effective date of the regulation . . . regardless of the date of injury.” DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, §
2322C(1). To determine compliance with the guidelines in a compensable claim, an employer
must refer the treatment to Utilization Review (UR). In this case, the UR determination certified
that the spinal cord stimulator implant was compliant with the Healthcare Practice Guidelines.
19 Code Del.Regs. 1000 1342 Part B. It is from this determination that Claimant took the current
appeal, which is an appeal de novo. DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2322F(j). As the petitioner,
Employer bears the burden to prove that the non-certified treatment is reasonable and necessary.

The focus of a UR determination is on whether identified treatment is within the Health
Care Practice Guidelines. Unlike the UR determination, the primary issue before the Board is
not whether treatment is within the applicable guidelines, but whether the treatment is reasonable

and necessary. Meier v. Tunnell Companies LP, Del. IAB, Hearing No. 1326876, at 3-4

2 The Health Care Practice Guidelines currently consist of separate “treatment guidelines” addressing carpal tunnel
syndrome, chronic pain, cumulative trauma disorder, low back, shoulder, lower extremity and cervical spine. The
adopted practice guidelines can be found at http://dowc.ingenix.com/DWC.asp.
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(November 24, 2009)(ORDER).?> The Board finds that the spinal cord stimulator and related
treatment is reasonable and necessary and consequently affirms the UR determination. The
Board relies on the opinion of Dr. Eskander that the treatment subject to the UR determination
was reasonable and necessary. When medical testimony is in conflict, the Board, acting as fact
finder must resolve that conflict. General Motors Corp. v. McNemar, 202 A.2d 803 (Del. 1964).
As long as substantial evidence is found, the Board may accept the testimony of one expert over
another. Standard Distributing Company v. Nally, 630 A.2d 640, 646 (Del. 1993).

The Board does agree with Dr. Schwartz that the issue is whether the treatment is likely
to or has brought about, functional gain for Claimant. Initially it appeared there was conflicting
evidence of benefit to the point where Claimant told Dr. Schwartz in July it was not working for
all her pain. There also appeared to be a serious contradiction in the records during the stimulator
trial. Claimant stated she had 85% relief of her symptoms during the trial, but at the same time
she was still stating an 8 out of 10 pain level. Aside from that there is more evidence that
Claimant has seen functional gains and pain relief once the device was adjusted. .The hip
condition overlapping some of her symptoms is problematic and muddies the waters. In the
Board’s view this unrelated condition is contributing to her current pain levels and is thus
responsible for some of the heightened pain level. Claimant is providing an overall pain level and

was not asked to provide a pain level just for her back pain. The disability index is not

3 This comment needs a little clarification. By statute, treatment by a certified health care provider that conforms to
the guidelines is “presumed, in the absence of contrary evidence, to be reasonable and necessary.” DEL. CODE ANN.
tit. 19, § 2322C(6). Thus, when treatment is outside of the guidelines, a UR determination might refer to it as not
being “reasonable and necessary,” but that conclusion is based on whether the treatment is within the guidelines. On
appeal, however, treatment that a UR determination finds to be outside the guidelines may still be found by the
Board, during de novo review, to be reasonable and necessary if convincing evidence is submitted. Likewise,
treatment that a UR determination might declare as within the guidelines (and, thus, presumptively reasonable and
necessary) might still be found by the Board, during de novo review, not to be reasonable or necessary treatment if
convincing evidence is submitted. See Meier, at 5. The burden of proof rests with the party challenging the UR
determination.
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inconsistent with the records evidencing a drop in the index number and then an increase around
the time of Dr. Schwartz’ final DME.

Dr. Eskander’s testimony supports the conclusion that the UR determination was correct,
and the stimulator placement followed the guidelines. It appears that Dr. Schwartz missed the
second opinion from Dr. Zaslavsky. Dr. Eskander also testified that higher than 50% relief is a
success for these devices and both in the test and permanent implant Claimant had more than that
amount of relief. Setting aside the numbers Claimant testified that the left sided radicular pain
and back pain was almost completely resolved, with the leg pain being completely resolved. The
right sided pain took longer and currently she testified that what remains in pain in her right
buttock and the aforementioned hip pain. After the initial period of adjustment, at which time the
DME took place, Claimant did not get the sought-after relief. However, Claimant testified that
after working with the manufacturer’s rep the device programing was adjusted and she
eventually did get satisfactory pain relief. This testimony is borne out by the medical records
after July 2021. Even Dr. Schwartz pointed out that Claimant has permanent functional loss from
the injury, resulting in a 35% impairment rating to the lumbar spine. So, to expect 100% relief is
not a viable option. Dr. Eskander’s opinion is supported by the evidence that Claimant had
substantial relief, even if that means there is some residual symptoms.

The records and Claimant’s credible testimony support the reasonableness and necessity
of the spinal cord stimulator implant. The Board finds that this evidence outweighs any evidence
to the contrary. Consequently, Claimant’s Petition for medical expenses is granted. Employer’s

Petition on appeal from the Utilization Review is denied and the determination affirmed.
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Medical Witness and Attorney’s Fees

Having received an award, Claimant is entitled to have her medical witness fees taxed as
a cost against Employer pursuant to title 19, section 2322 of the Delaware Code.

A claimant who is awarded compensation is entitled to payment of a reasonable
attorney’s fee “in an amount not to exceed thirty percent of the award or ten times the average
weekly wage in Delaware as announced by the Secretary of Labor at the time of the award,
whichever is smaller.” DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2320. In determining an award of attorney’s
fees, the trier of fact must consider the factors outlined in General Motors Corp. v. Cox, 304
A.2d 55,57 (Del. 1973), such as the time involved in the presentations, fees customarily charged
in the locality, the nature and length of the professional relationship with Claimant, and the
attorney’s experience/reputation. Claimant’s counsel represents that her fee arrangement with
Claimant is on a contingency basis. There has been no indication that fees or expenses have
been, or will be, received by Claimant from any other source. Claimant’s counsel submitted an
affidavit attesting that she spent approximately fifteen (15) hours preparing for the current
hearing, which lasted approximately ninety minutes (90). Claimant’s counsel indicated that her
work on this case has not precluded her from taking on other cases. Counsel has been admitted
to the practice of law in Delaware since 2006 and is experienced in workers’ compensation, a
specialized area of the law. Her firm’s association with Claimant began on October 2, 2017. The
issues in this case were average in nature. It does not appear that there were any unusual time
limitations imposed by the Claimant or the circumstances surrounding the case. Claimant’s
counsel has also indicated that Employer has the ability to pay an award. Counsel’s affidavit

was entered without comment or objection.
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Claimant has been awarded continuing compensability of medical expenses mainly in the
form of a spinal cord stimulator implant and related treatment. Taking into consideration the fees
customarily charged in this locality for such services as were rendered by Claimant’s counsel and
the factors set forth above, the Board finds that an attorney’s fee award of $6,000.00 is
reasonable, in consideration of the factors discussed above. In the Board’s estimation, this does
not exceed thirty percent of the total value of Claimant’s award pursuant to this Decision.

STATEMENT OF THE DETERMINATION

For the reasons set forth above, Employer’s Petition to Determine Additional
Compensation Due appealing the Utilization Review determination dated April 14, 2021 is
hereby DENIED. Claimant’s Petition to Determine Additional Compensation Due for medical
expenses is hereby GRANTED. Employer will reimburse Claimant for her medical witness
expenses and pay an attorney fee of $6,000,00.

+
IT IS SO ORDERED THIS 2 DAY OF NOVEMBER 2021.

INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD

/S/
ROBERT MITCHELL

/S/
VINCENT D’ANNA

I, Eric D. Boyle, Hearing Officer, hereby certify that g€ foregoing is a

true and correct decision of the Industrial A

Mailed Date:77 / 20 ié/l
v 97, 4 92/ OWC Staff?”
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BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD
OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

PATRICIA ORTIZ-GUZMAN,
Employee,
Hearing No. 1509245

V.

APPLE AMERICAN GROUP LLC.,

Employer.

DECISION ON PETITION TO DETERMINE COMPLENSATION DUE
Pursuant to due notice of time and place of hearing served on all parties in interest, the
above-stated cause came before the Industrial Accident Board on Thursday February 17, 2022, in

the Hearing Room of the Board, in New Castle County, Delaware.

- PRESENT:
MARK MUROWANY

ROBERT MITCHELL

Eric D. Boyle, Workers® Compensation Hearing Officer, for the Board

APPEARANCES;
Cynthia H. Pruitt, Attorney for the Employee

Brandon R. Herling, Attorney for Employer



NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Patricia Ortiz-Guzman (“Claimant”) alleges that on September 1, 2020 she sustained
injuries to her Jow back, hip and left ankle while in the course and scope of her employment with
Apple American Group LLC dba Appleby’s (“Employer”). On March 16, 2021 Claimant filed
this Petition to Determine Compensation Due seeking acknowledgment of her injury as
compensable, payment of ongoing medical expenses and lost wages. Prior to the hearing the parties
stipulated that Claimant’s accident is compensable and some of the mcdicai expenses had been
paid under an implied compensation agreement. Employer disputes the reasonableness, necessity
and causal relationship of treatment related to the implantation of a spinal cord stimulator.
Employer also disputes ongoing total disability benefits based on a job offer made on or about
March 25, 2021. Finally, the parties cannot agree on Claimant’s average weekly wage due to a
furlongh related to Covid19 prior to the work accident. A hearing was held on Claimant’s petition

on February 17, 2022. This is the Board’s decision on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
Claimant testified, through a Spanish interpreter, on her own behalf. Claimant lives in
Newark Delaware and is 51 years old. She is currently single, her husband having passed away in
2018. Claimant currently works for McDonald’s and has worked there for 20 years. She is now a
general manager, and her duties include administrative work such as scheduling, sales and
planning as well as tracking profit and loss for the restaurant, Claimant began working at
Applebee’s in May 2018 and worked both jobs on a full-time basis. Her job duties at Applebee’s

were primarily in the kitchen as a prep cook. This job was a standing position one hundred percent



of the time. She estimated that she worked 70+ hours per week between the two jobs"Claimam
has two adult children.

Prior to the accident Claimant denied having had treatment for back pain. She does not
remember having any leg pain like she had after the accident. Claimant acknowledged that after
the accident she had to use a walker and if she had a problem that bad before the accident, she
would have remembered it. Before she had the spinal cord stimulator implanted Claimant got an
injection in tﬁe back. She got two sets of injections, underwent physical therapy at Concentra and
Dynamic Physical Therapy as well. In August 2021 she had a trial spinal cord stimulator. Before
she got the stimulator she was unable to do most activities of daily living such as cleaning her
house or cooking, She required assistance with her activities at home from her daughter. Her pain
level was up toa 10 out of 10 prior to the implant, After she got the spinal cord stimulator implanted
Claimant estimated that her pain was down to a four out of 10 in her back and her leg. She has not
had to use a walker or a cane since the implant, Claimant confirmed that these assistive devices
were prescribed by her doctor. Her activity level has gotten better, and Claimant testi fied she feels
the stimulator has given her second chance in life. Claimant testified that during this time she
continued to work her job with McDonald’s because it was essentially a sedentary duty position
and they accommodated restrictions such as the use of the walker.

On cross examination Claimant confirmed that she had pain in her lower back, hip, and
leg. Her first medical treatment was on October 11 and she saw her primary care physician, Dr.
Mehta on October 13. Claimant agreed that Dr, Mehta diagnosed bursitis. She (estified that Dr.
Mehta referred her to a specialist. She acknowledged that the Concentra records from October list
a diagnosis of a pelvic contusion, inguinal pain and a sprained ankle. Claimant confirmed that she

worked 70 hours a week since her husband passed away, but she didn’t feel that it was stressful.



Claimant was not aware that her doctors were concerned for her mental health. Claimant
acknowledged that she was worried that due to her severe pain she would be unable to walk
normally again, Claimant does recall seeing Dr. Xing in February 2021 but she did not recall
discussing with Dr. Xing psychological issues such as anxiety and stress. A note from Dr. Mehta
on February 23, 2021 indicated that an antidepressant was prescribcd; Claimant noted that she was
already taking some medication and felt that it was normal to feel depressed because she had to
use a walker to get around, Claimant acknowledged that she went to Westside Healthcare as her
primary care in 2015. There was a visit in April 2015 about her vomiting which Claimant testified
was a stomach problem not anxiety, but the record indicated that she was under stress, Claimant
acknowledged that a record from Dr. Mehta dated May 18, 2021, indicated that she was doing very
well. At that time, she was on Cymbalta but denied she was taking it for depression, rather she was
taking it for pain.

Claimant confirmed that at this time she was continuing to work full time for McDonald’s.
Claimant denied getting a note from Dr. Eskander indicating that she was not to w_ork. Dr. Xing’s
records reflected that she was to be out of work and the note was provided by Dr. Eskander.
Claimant acknowledged that’s what the report indicated but she never had a total disability note.
Tt was Claimant’s understanding that she could do sedentary work, but she was unable to do any
standing jobs. Claimant confirmed that the C ymbalta was prescribed by Dr. Rowlands in April
2021 and she hadn’t taken it before that time. To Claimant not being able to work was more
stressful than being out work. At that time she was responsible for two kids since the death of her
husband. Her daughter was in college and her son was in high school and she had a mortgage to

pay. Claimant testified that she was never sedentary and always an active woman.



Claimant described how the accident occurred. She was in front of the screen and turned
to the frier twisting her ankle which caused her (o fall directly on her butt and she immediately felt
back pain. Claimant testified that she did not immediately have 10 out of 10 pain, however it
gradually increased to that level. She got the permanent spinal cord stimulator implanted in
October 2021 and no longer requires a walker. She confirmed that it is stressful for her 1o lose out
on working hours and the money. She had the trial spinal cord stimulator for one week and seemed
to recall that she had one set of injections for the back and one set of injections in her hip. Her pain
increased from the back injections, and she had no improvement with the hip. Physical therapy
consisted of medication, physical therapy, water therapy, massage, and ice treatments but none of
these treatments improved her pain. She confirmed that she had a lengthy course of physical
therapy over several months and agreed that Dr. Rowlands gave her lumbar spine injections in
May 2021. They did not provide any lasting relief. Claimant disputed that the Concentra records
reflected that she was an immediate pain or that the pain started a week later. Claimant testified
that is when the pain started to increase, and she denied telling Dr. Mehta that she was not in any
pain. Claimant wants to be able to return to work and put in more hours.

Dr. Mark Eskander, a board certified orthopedic spine surgeon, testified by deposition on
behalf of Claimant. Dr. Eskander reviewed a package of records including diagnostic studies and
Neil Taylor’s functional capacity evaluation (FCE) in preparation for his testimony. Dr. Eskander
summarized the treatment that Claimant had prior to being seen in his office. She was seen at
Concentra on October 15, 2020 after being seen in the emergency room on the il"‘. At Concentra
she was evaluated and started a course of physical therapy. Subsequently she saw Dr. Xing who
ordered an EMG and an MRI scan. The EMG done on November 19, 2020 was normal. Dr.

Eskander testified that is not unusual as sometimes the test does not pick up an abnormality when
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the timing is off. He agreed that the physical therapy did not alleviate Claimant symptoms. The
jumbar spine MRI findings included a disc herniation and annular fissure at L5-S1 as well as a
mild disc bulge at L3-4. There was some facet joint edema on the left at the L.3-4 level as well. Dr.
Eskander indicated this could be an arthritic or inflammatory condition. For her next treatment
Claimant had a lumbar epidural injection performed by Dr. Xing. This was done on February 1,
2021 end did not provide her with significant relief.

Claimant initially _treated with Dr. Eskander in March 2021, At that time her symptoms
included back pain radiating bilaterally to the thighs and knees. She had numbness and tingling in
that distri'bﬁtion as well as to the right heel. The symptoms started on September 1, 2020 from the
fall at work. The mechanism of injury was a fall when she slipped, twisted her ankle and fell on
her back. Claimant denied any significant back or leg symptoms prior to that incident. Claimant
cited her pain as 10 out of 10. Claimant had decreased sensation in all distributions on the Jeft side
but dlherwise her neurologic exam was normal. As a plan of treatment Dr. Eskander wanted to
order additional testing including a bone scan ;xnd a discogram. He also thought there may have
been some hip pathology.

Claimant followed up on June 3, 2021 after the discogram. Claimant was being treated by
Dr. Valtz for the right hip and had an injection in that area. She also had nerve blocks done to the
lower back. There was not much improvement from either of these injections. The discogram
showed atypical patterns of pain coming from multiple levels in the lumbar spine. Dr. Eskander
testified that this meant that they could not pinpoint which motion segment was painful in order to
do a fusion surgery. This might lead them to do a multilevel fusion surgery which would not be
desirable to the patient. Dr. Eskander felt a different strategy that would be less impactful on a

patient’s function was required. The other option was that of a spinal cord stimulator. Claimant



agreed that was the better option than doing surgery that would either be too extensive or perhaps
not enough. Dr. Xing inserted a tria] spinal cord stimulator according to the protocol. Dr. Eskander
testified that Claimant was a good candidate and through the trial she got 50 to 60% relief as well
as 60% velief of the pain in her leg. She was able to ambulate without a walker and so it was a
tremendous improvement and a difference maker for quality of life. Claimant oblained the
necessary follow-ups including a second opinion from another spine surgeon and a psychiatric
evaluation. The option of a spinal cord stimulator seemed much better than moving forward with
a partial lumbar fusion that may not work.

The permanent implant of the spinal cord stimulator occurred on October 6, 2021. Dr.
Eskander explained some of the follow-up steps once a permanent stimulator is implanted. This
includes neuro-monitoring by a company representative or technician from the stimulator company
to program it according to a patient’s pain pattern. Dr. Eskander also testified that you cannot turn
the stimulator on right away because you want the surgical incisions to heal first. And it takes a
few weeks or months with back and forth between the technicians and the patient to optimize the
programming. Dr. Eskander indicated that his office does not handle the technical aspect just the
surgical aspect. He saw Claimant at the beginning of the process when the stimulator was turned
on and she was doing very well. He saw her again on November 18 and her pain was down to a §
out of 10. The Oswestry score was down to a 30 from 78 which to Dr. Eskander is a striking
difference six wecks after the implant. Three months out from the implant those results were being
maintained. He felt there was successful pain control and functional improvement. Dr. Eskander
went on to describe in some detail the componentry of a spinal cord stimulator. Dr. Eskander felt

that Claimant got a tremendous result from the stimulator.



Dr. Eskander agreed that a functional capacity evaluation (FCE) was performed on
December 7, 2021. He noted that one of the major goals in workers compensation is to return a
patient to work ina safe fashion. He relies on an FCE to give guidance as to what tasks the patient
can safely perform. In this case the FCE concluded that Claimant was capable full-time work in a
sedentary capacity. Dr. Eskander agreed that since the accident Claimant has been able to work
with sedentary restrictions at her other job as a manager with McDonald’s. Dr. Eskander agreed
{hat even his notes have indicated that Claimant has been able to work eight hours daily in a
sedentary position. He felt Claimant should be restricted to 40 hours a week though. Anything
beyond that would expose Claimant to additional risks and potentially a poor outcome. Dr.
Eskander reiterated his opinion that Claimant is limited to 40 houts a week sedentary duty. Dr.
Zskander agreed that Claimant has chronic intractable pain. She did not have significant relief
from oral medication, therapy or nerve blocks. Her pain had persisted for greater than six months.
Dr. Eskander diagnosed Jumbar pain and radiculopathy stemming from the disc pathology at the
L3-4 and L5-S1 levels. Dr. Eskander reviewed a packet of medical hills for Claimant’s treatment
and testified that it was reasonable, necessary and causally related to the work accident. He felt
that all the treatment has been consistent with the practice guidelines.

On cross examination Dr. Eskander reviewed records from Westside Family Healthcare
dated July 16, 2018. He listed several diagnoses including multiple joint pain, numbness and
tingling in both hands, hypertension, dietary counseling and surveillance, and leg pain bilaterally.
He agreed: this was prior to the at accident. There was also a notation indicating that the patient
was complaining of numbness and pain in both arms, hands, right leg, and right foot. Dr. Eskander
noted that predatéd the accident by few years. Looking back at Dr. Eskander’s records on the initial

evaluation there was an indication that Claimant denied a prior history of low back or leg pain



prior to the work accident. He did note there was no definitive description of what it was she was
complaining of in 2018 and noted that you can have numbness, tingling and pain in the extremities
for a variety of reasons. Dr. Eskander admitted that there was a flat denial of leg and back pain
prior to the accident but he was adding context to it. Dr. Eskander agreed that pain is subjective as
there is no objective way to quantify it unlike a neurological or sensory disturbance. He noted that
a report of pain is subjective and as a practitioner he will validate symptomatology in other ways
prior to going forward with an invasive treatment. Dr. Eskander agreed that an EMG could be used
to quantify subjective complaints but also that an EMG may give a false negative for a variety of
reasons. It is very sensitive for determining if there is a peripheral nerve issue, however the test
often falls short when applied to spinal pathology. Dr. Eskander testified that he has seen many
show up as normal when there is actual radiculopathy in the cervical or lumbar region. It was a
test that was not designed to pick up that type of nerve conduction well. It is a useful data point.
Dr. Eskander agreed that a discogram can return a false positive as could every test. Again he noted
that you don’t make a decision based on Just one variable or data point. The actual EMG done on
November 19 did say there was a normal electrodiagnostic study but a sensory radiculopathy could
not be ruled out with the test.

Dr. Eskander then testified about deconditioning from not working and that it is ultimately
therapeutic for people to return to work. Lack of work can wej gh on someone psychologically. In
Claimant’s case not being able to work is a burden and she is physically deconditioned. She wag
in pain and functionally unable to perform her duties. Dr. Eskander testified that he would not
change his working recommendation with the knowled ge that she was actually working at
McDonald’s. Dr. Eskander stated at great length that that he was concerned in this case that there

was an infection in her back and wanted to be comfortable before returning her returning to work.



On June 3, 2021 she was at sedentary work eight hours. He agreed that a bone scan is one tool to
detect an infection along with blood work and imaging. The actual bone scan indicated that there
was no acute processes or abnormal uptake or seplic arthritis, although there was a radio tracer
uptake suggesting mild degenerative changes. He agreed that meant that there was no indication
of an infection on the bone scan. Dr. Eskander also wanted to wait for bloodwork to be sure there
was no infectiqn which ultimately was confirmed.

Dr. Eskander did not recall receiving an employer’s job description form on or about April
21, 2021. There was a response with Dr. Eskander’s signature dated April 29, 2021 indicating his
disapproval. Dr. Eskander was provided with the form for review since he could not located in his
records. Dr. Eskander teviewed a summary of the physical capabilities required and felt that it
sounded like it was in excess of sedentary duty. Eventually Dr. Eskander reviewed the form and
noted on the top of the form it said light duty/transitional so he felt right there that was in excess
of sedentary duty. He felt that they didn’t release her to light duty and the FCE only indicated said
sedentary duty. Dr. Eskander reviewed the essential job duties indicating that she would be
prepping food for storage and meal preparation. Dr. Eskander noted if the stool was provided that’s
fine standing for a short period of time is fine sitting is {ine but it was the demands of the body and
what she was doing which was quite a bit of physical work. He thinks of sedentary work is more
paperwork computer work answering phones a thinking type of job nota physical type of job. The
way he reads it it’s more than sedentary duty. He did admit that the description indicating up to set
10 pounds is the sedentary duty weight level. Still the frequency with which the physical tasks
must be done leads them to believe it is not sedentary.

Dr. Eskander testified that certain tests cannot determine chronicity of a particular injury.

Certain things that show up might be deemed acute like a fracture on an x-ray but other times you
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can’t determine the date that a finding occurred. A lot of times you can’t distinguish from a chronic
injury or whether there’s an acute exacerbation but some findings can coincide with trauma such
as inflammation. Dr, Eskander admitted that there was nothing in the diagnostic testing that could
conclusively establish a traumatic injury. Dr. Eskander disagreed that he was basing his opinions
solely on the subjective history given by the Claimant. He testified that he used a number of
different data points, He indicated that they use medical training combined with the history given
by the patient to come up with a reasonable diagnosis. Then you go into some other measures like
physical examination and objective findings as well as imaging. Dr. Eskander reviewed a note
authored by his physician’s assistant indicating on March 25 that Claimant can work sedentary
duty for eight hours the form seems to have originally said zero then it was crossed out and eight
put in that place. Dr. Eskander agreed that all the notes from his firm and Dr. Rowlands indicated

the same thing; eight hours sedentary duty.

John DeLuca testified on behalf of Employer. He is a regional manager for Applebee’s and

overseas f{ive stores. This includes the Newark location where Claimant worked. He testified that
all employees in the Newark location were furloughed during the Covid19 shut down in 2020, He
reviewed a payroll screenshot revealing the furlough dates for Claimant. Mr. DeLuca also
reviewed a job description. He did describe this job as a modified duty position which was set up
for Claimant is a job offer. The job description was dated April 21, 2021. It is essentially a prep
cook position where you cut items to bring to the line. This position is meant to be modified to
sitting and standing as necessary with a stool and that is noted on the form. He noted that all the
cooks and employees in the kitchen work as a team so she would be able to gel assistance moving,
heavy items. The position is considered a sedentary position as modified, On cross examination

Mr. Del.uca admitted that Claimant may have to move a more heavy item. He noted that prepped
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items are moved to the line or to the walk-in refrigerator which was a distance of approximately
10 feet from the prep station. He admitted that having use a walker would be tough in the kitchen.
While he could not say if it was sedentary or light duty, Mr. DeLuca did note that there was not a
box on the form for sedentary duty.

Dr. Scott Rushton, a board certified orthopedic spine surgeon, testified by deposition on
behalf of Employer. Dr. Rushton examined Claimant on October 15%, 2021. In conjunction with
his examination Dr. Rushtonteviewed Claimant’s medical records. He received additional records
for review after the examination. Dr. Rushton indicated that the initial record of treatment he
reviewed was from Concentra on November 5, 2020 several months after the September 1, 2020
injury. He was corrected and agreed that there was a presentation to a different provider with a
complaint of hip pain on October 13, 2021. The assessment at Concentra included pelvic
contusion, lumbar strain, left inguinal pain and sprain of the left ankle. There was an MRI of the
Jumbar spine that was done on November 22, 2020 and another one done on February 7, 2021. Dr.
Rushton reviewed the reports and the radi_olog';st indicated that there were a number of findings
including marrow edema and soft tissue edema at different levels as well as facet arthritis and
comments on multilevel degenerative changes. Dr. Rushton indicated that the most relevant point
was there was na findings of compression on the nerve roots. The main finding was facet joint
arthritis and L3-L4. Dr. Rushton agreed that he did review diagnostic studjes from prior to the
accident but those were primarily for the cervical spine. These indicated mild cervical spine disease
at multiple levels.

Dr. Rushton testified that an EMG can be an additive tool to assist in the diagnosis of
neurologic disorders. There waé an EMG performed on November (9, 2020 on the left lower

extremity which was interpreted as normal. In Dr. Rushton's opinion there was no objective



evidence of a traumatic structural injury or that Claimant suffered a traumatic structural injury.
The findings on the studies were age-appropriate lumbar spine changes. Claimant also underwent
a bone scan which would be able to identify bone trauma or bone injury. There were no traumatic
findings on the bone scan. All the diagnostic studies were indicative of pre-existing spine arthritis.
Dr. Rushton performed a physical examination of Claimant. Claimant was using a cane for support
during the examination and Dr. Rushton noted she was using it in her right hand. She performed a
number of tests including heal and toe walking without any limitations. She was also able to stand
on a single leg and forward flexed to 60 degrees with no pain in the low back. Neurologic testing
was normal. Straight leg raising test was unremarkable. There were no objective findings to
support the subjective complaints. The only findings objectively were pre-existing lumbar spine
arthritis.

In terms of the diagnosis Dr. Rushton took the history at face valuc as well as the
mechanism of injury that Claimant provided of the fall she sustained. After all that Dr. Rushton
described and diagnosed a soft tissue injury to the lumbar spine. A lumbar spine sprain and strain.
Based on his evaluation on October 15, 2021 he felt that Claimant was capable of returning to
work with no limitations. He went on to state that she absolutely would have been capable of doing
sedentary duty work. That would have been his recommendation if he was the treating physici.an.
Dr. Rushton would recommend that someone return (o an active lifestyle as soon as possible. He
agreed that Claimant would have been able to return to work as of March 25, 2021. The fact that
she had continued to work in a sedentary capacity at McDonald’s would be consistent with his
understanding of the incident and review of the records as well as his evaluation, Dr. Rushton also

agreed that Claimant would be able to perform a Job where she would be able to sit or stand as



desired and only occasionally lift 20 pounds. Although he did not think that there was any reason
to limit her ability to return to work to those restrictions.

Dr. Rushton rendered opinions regarding Claimant’s treatments including the spinal cord
stimulator that had been placed eight days prior to his evaluation. Based on his review of the
mechanism of injury, the studies and examination as well as a complete absence of any nerve root
or spinal canal compression there was no support for the invasive treatments including the spinal
cord stimulator. Any improvement from an injection would have been placebo based. Dr. Rushton
also testified that when there is a disconnect or inconsistency between subjective complaints and
objectivé findings significant improvement with invasive procedures is extraordinarily poor. In his
opinion Claimant did not need any additional treatment after his examination. In Dr. Rushton’s
opinion Claimant had reached maximum medical improvenent.

Dr. Rushton also testified regérding the discogram noting that it is an extraordinarily
controversial test. The results of discography have not been shown to predict procedure outcome
with surgical intervention. There is a significant subjective component to it. The objectivity really
comes in with the post discogram CT scan. Dr. Rushton also noted that discography in high-level
spine practices has fallen out of favor because it does not predict or allow a decision on surgery,
or which sutgical approach is best. A finding of minimal degenerative disc changes does not
support a lumbar discography procedure. Discography in this case would likely result in erroneous
decisions pertaining to treaiment. Dr. Rushton believes in sclecting patients appropriately for
surgery and noted that he sees 3 to 4000 patients per year and his surgical patients number 300.
An individual tolerating work capacity with no correlation on objective testing to the subjective
complaints leads to poor autcome and increased risk to the patient. Dr. Rushton considers a spinal

cord stimulator to be in invasive treatment with significant risks. He noted that the stimulator
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involves placing electrodes on the lining of the spinal cord and implanting leads and a battery for
permanent intervention. In his opinion the implantation of the spinal cord simulator was not
reasonable, necessary or related to the September 1, 2020 incident.

On cross examination Dr. Rushton did not recall seeing the FCE or a June 3, 2021 report
from Dr. Eskander but he did a comprehensive review of the records. He further testified that there
was nothing in the records following his evaluation that would change his opinion. Dr. Rushton
did not to his knowledge revi;:w a third lumbar MRI from June 9, 2021. Dr. Rushton agreed that
on the two MRI scans he reviewed the radiologist’s interpretation was that there was no nerve
compression. He went on to testify that subjective complaints of radiating pain in the legs is a
differential diagnosis and needs to be evaluated. There is a symptom complex that may or may not
be related to a nerve root. He agreed that Claimant has a history of diabetes. Dr. Rushton agreed
that the records from Claimant’s family doctor indicated she had gestational diabetes and there
wete no records indicating she was currently diagnosed with it. Dr. Rushton confirmed that the
third MRI completed on June 9 was done at Dr. Eskander’s office, Dr. Rushton agreed that a
finding of a protrusion contacting the left S1 nerve root was a different interpretation than the
radiologist who did the prior MRI of February 7, 2021. At the L3-4 level this MRI which was
performed at Delaware Orthopedic Specialists showed a disc bulge with facet arthrosis abutting
the right L3 nerve root. Dr. Rushton agreed that this was significantly different finding from the
prior MRI scans but noted that the disc bulge at L3-4 would not impact the L3 nerve root. Dr.
Rushton noted that there was a significant amount of subjectivity in terms of the interpretation,
who is interpreting it and their level of expertise, and the nomenclature used beyond that it is an
objective test. Dr. Rushton did admit that if a nerve root is compressed it would be competent to

correlate with Claimant’s or an individual patient’s clinical symptoms and be a validation of



lumbar radiculopathy. However he also noted that the prior MRI he reviewed found a complete
absence of any spinal stenosis or nerve root compression or other pathology that would corrclate
with those complaints. He did not believe at that point a third MRI was necessary.

Dr. Rushton admitted that he did not mention the May 25, 2021 discography in his report.
He did not have an opinion as to what the discogram may have shown other than it had no relevance
to his opinion regatding a lumbar spine sprain and surgery. Dr. Rushton could not give a specific
percentage of trauma related cases he treats with structural spinal change. He did note that any
adult spine practice would have the vast amount of patients presenting with age-related spinal
pathology. He admitted he was nol provided with any records showing that Claimant had any
lumbar spine injurics prior to the accident. Dr. Rushton also conceded that an injury could cause
previously asymptomatic lumbar degenerativg disc disease to become symptomatic but that was
hypothetical since it is not his opinion in this case that is what occurred. Dr. Rushton was asked
‘about a 2005 lumbar spine MRI and noted he was unaware of that study. He went on to indicate
that that would invalidate Claimant’s history denying prior diagnostic studies bscause now we
have one that predates the 2020 accident which is inconsistent with her history. He did agree that
the report from November 2, 2020 which indicates mild disc bulge at a L3-4 is new compared with
March 18, 2005 scan. Dr. Rushton added that 15 years later that would be a completely expected
finding but conceded that it does demonstrate a structural change.

Dr. Rushton agreed that he did not reference the emetrgency room visits by Claimant related
to her back in October 2020 and February 2021 in his report. Dr. Rushton did not have in his notes
the reduction in the disability index range following the implant of this stimulator. He did not think
it had relevance to his opinion and whether it showed an increase in functionality would depend

on the time frames. Dr. Rushton agreed that Claimant felt better a week after her implant however
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it was too early to make a proper evaluation. What Claimant’s leve] of pain was after the implant
did not factor into his opinion as to the reasonableness, necessity and relatedness of the procedure.
He did not have Dr. Eskander’s Janvary 27, 2022 note which indicated continuing relief for
Claimant. He was also unaware that Claimant was working two jobs when she was injured. On the
date of his deposition he was made aware that she was working and continued to work for
McDonald’s in a sedentary capacity. Dr. Rushton commented on the MRI scans noting that they
were pictures in time and so we have three snapshots and any changes noted, if they were accurate,
on the third scan would not then be related to the September 1, 2021 incident as they developed
subsequent to the February 2021 MRI. In Dr. Rushton’s experience people reporting 10 out of 10
pain are not working in a 40 hour week job position nor does that level of pain correlate with the
MRI reports that he reviewed. It is an inconsistent subjective complaint with regard to the objective

findings. He also agreed that the Oswestry index was based on subjective measurements.

FINDINGS QF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Board has been presented with three primary issues. First, whether the spinal cord
stimulator treatment was reasonable, necessary, and causally related to the work accident. Second,
what is the proper method to calculate Claimant’s average weekly wage considering her furlough
during the Covid-19 pandemic, Third, is Claimant entitled to total disability either for a closed
period or ongoing. The Board will address these issues sequentially.
Medical Expenses

The Delaware Workers® Compensation Act states that employees are entitled to
compensation “for personal injury or death by accident arising out of and in the course of

employment.” DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2304. When there has been a distinct, identifiable work”
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accident, the “but for” standard is used “in fixing the relationship bétween an acknowledged
industrial accident and its aftermath.” Reese v. Home Budget Center, 619 A.2d 907, 910 (Del.
1992). When an employee has suffered a compensable injury, the employer is required to pay for
reasonable and necessary medical services connected with that injury. DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, §
2322. What constitutes “reasonable medical services™ for purposes of Section 2322 i1s undefined
by statute and left to be determined by the Board on a case-by-case basis. See Willey v. State, Del.
Super., C.A. No. 85A-AP-16, Bifferato, J., 1985 WL 189319 at *2 (November 26, 1985).
“Whether medical services are necessary and reasonable or whether the expenses are incurred to
treat a condition causally related to an industrial accident are purely factual issues within the
purview of the Board.” Bullock v. K-Mart Corporation, Del. Super., C.A. No. 94A-02-002, 1995
WL 339025 at *3 (May 5, 1995). Claimant has filed a Petition for a determination that a spinal
cord stimulator is compensable treatment. Employer is challenging the reasonableness, necessity
and causal relationship of the stimulator to the work accident. The parties also have been unable
to agree on the method to calculate Claimant’s average weekly wage. Employer provided Claimant
with a job offer and asserts that any total disability should end in conjunction with said offer.
Because Claimant has filed the current petition, she has the burden of proof. DEL. CODE ANN. tit.
29, § 10125(c).

After reviewing all the evidence, the Board finds that the spinal cord stimulator and related
treatment to be reasonable, necessary, and causally related to the work accident. The Board accepts
the testimony of Dr. Eskander over that of Dr. Rushton and finds his testimony to be more credible
and reliable in this case. DiSabatino v. Wortman, Del., 453 A2d 102,106 (1988) (as long as
substantial evidence is found the Board may rely one expert over another). To his credit Dr.

Eskander did not recommend a complicated and life altering fusion surgery. In the Board’s view
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this enhances the reliability of his opinion. Dr. Rushton’s objections to discography are well known
and not without merit.! However in this case rather than factor into a decision to perform surgery,
it served to deter a surgery. Claimant underwent a variety of conservative treatments including
spinal injections with no relief or improvement. The stimulator was at that point a viable alternative
to address Claimant’s radiculopathy. Dr, Eskander acknowledged that many patients do not have
success or relief with these devices. In Claimant’s case the trial implant had very promising results
so they proceeded with the permanent implant. Claimant also testified that she has seen significant
improvcnﬁent in symptoms and function. She has been able to ambulate without assistive devices.
The Board finds Claimant to be a credible witness. She has continued to work her primary job and
only had to take the second job with Employer due to the death of her husband. Claimant credibly
testified that not being able to work was more stressful than working two jobs. She is supporting .
2 college age children, one in school and one just graduated from high school. Thus she has stress
because she is she is concerned about supporting her children. The Board believes her subjective
complaints are genuine and now this one modality has given her some relief, The Board finds that
Claimant hasl met her burden to show the reasonableness, necessity and causal relationshi p of the
spinal cord stimulator.?

Wage Rate

The wage issue centers around the 26 week look back period used to set the average weekly
wage. During a portion of the 26 weeks prior to the work accident Claimant was furloughed due
to a shut down because of the pandemic. Employer argues that the work weeks during which

Claimant was furloughed should be included in the wage caleulation. The basis for this position is

' The Healthcare Practice Guidelines were written by an advocate of the use of discography and as a consequence
they are accepted in Delaware as a diagnostic tool despite what some medical societies may think of them.
? The Board aotes that Employers objection to it was more on the reasonableness and necessity than causal

relationship grounds.
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that Claimant had access to special unemployment benefits through the CARES act and could have
replaced her wages in that way but chose not to, so Employer should not be penalized for this
failure to collect these benefits. Claimant simply cites to the controlling case law to argue that
Claimant counts only the weeks she actually worked. Taylor v. Diamond State Port, Del Supr. 14
A.3d 536 (2011). The Board finds that Claimant is correcl. Taylor is the controlling law for the
calculation of average weekly wage in this circumstance. The Board fails to see how it matters
what the reason for the furlough is, as the situation is no different than in 7 aylor where work was
only available intermittently. There is no distinction to a furlough in a pandemic when work was
shut down for a period, Claimant remained an employee during that time and then returned when
work was again permitted. The rule set forth in Taylor is right on point. Therefore, the Board
accepts Claimant’s calculation of $397.83 which result in a compensation rate of $265.22.
Total Disability

The parties agree that Claimant is owed total disability benefits, the iséue is whether the
Claimant should be on a continuing agreement as of January 14, 2021 or whether the benefits
should end with the job offer provided by Employer. Dr. Eskander never totally disabled Claimant
and she continued to work at her sedentary duty job with McDonalds ona full time basis. However,
her regular job at Applebee’s was clearly not within those physical restrictions. A claimant would
not normally be considered totally disabled when he or she was in fact working, however the
instant case recalls a scenario where it is possible. A claimant working two jobs may be disabled
from only one job and still collect benefits because there is a loss of earning capacity. Stanley
Warner Corp. v. Slattery, 235 A.2d 633 (Del.Super. 1967). Because the McDonald’s job is ignored
for the purposes of computing the wage rate is it only fair that it is also ignored when determining

the period of disability. Dr. Eskander did send her for an FCE on December 7, 2021 and that test
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confirmed the full time sedentary duty work capability. Dr. Eskander continues to limit Claimant
to a 40-hour work week. effectively precluding any second job, even a sedentary duty position.
However, in this instance the issue is whether Employer has made an offer of a position that is
reasonably within her physical restrictions, irrespective of the hours worked at her second job. The
Board finds that Employer has made a job offer within Claimant’s physical restrictions and
therefore total disability benefits will end on April 21, 2021, the effective date of the job offer
according to the testimony of Mr. DeLuca. It should be noted that Gilliard-Belfast does not apply
in this situation as Claimant has never been told not to work by Dr. Eskander and the claim was
not previously accepted for total disability benefits. See, Gilliard-Belfast v. Wendy's, Inc., 754
A.2d 251, 254 (Del. 2000). The same evidence Claimant used to show that the stimulator was a
reasonable treatment now serves to provide Employer with evidence that Claimant can return to
work at a higher capacity or put another way, she now has more ability to function in a work
environment. There are Claimant’s general subjective statements indicating a marked
improvement in her condition to the point where she no longer relies on assistive devices to
ambulate. Dr. Eskander pointed out the significant drop in the Oswestry Disability Index score.
Essentially it was cut in half. The Board will rely on Dr. Rushton’s opinion that as of March 2021
she could physically perform the functions of the modified duty position offered by Employer.
Consequently, Claimant has met her burden to prove the reasonableness and necessity of the spinal
cord stimulator, along with a closed period of total disability. For the aforcmentioned reasons
Claimant’s Petition to Determine Compensation Due is hereby GRANTED,
Medical Witness and Attorney’s Fees

Having received an award, Claimant is entitled to have her medical witness fees taxed as a

cost against Employer pursuant to title 19, section 2322 of the Delaware Code.



" A claimant who is awarded compensation is entitled to payment of a reasonable attorney’s
fee “in an amount not to exceed thirty percent of the award or ten times the average weekly wage
in Delaware as announced by the Secretary of Labor at the time of the award, whichever is
smaller.” DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 19, § 2320.  In determining an award of attorney’s fees, the trier
of fact must consider the factors outlined in General Motors Corp. v. Cox, 304 A.2d 55, 57 (Del.
1973), such as the time involved in the presentations, fees customarily charged in the locality, the
nature and length of the professional relationship with Claimant, and the attorney’s
experience/reputation. Claimant’s counsel represents that her fee arrangement with Claimant is on
a contingency basis. There has been no indication that fees or expenses have been, or will be,
received by Claimant from any other source. Claimant’s counsel submitted an affidavit attesting
that she spent approximately nineteen (19) hours preparing for the current hearing, which lasted
approximately 3 and a half (3.6) hours. Claimant’s counsel indicated that her work on this case
has not precluded her from taking on other cases. Counsel has been admitted to the practice of
law in Delaware since 2003 and is very experienced in workers’ compensation, a specialized area
of the law. Her firm’s association with Claimant began on or about October 10, 2020. The issues
in this case were average in nature. It does not appear that there were any unusual time limitations
imposed by the Claimant or the circunistances surrounding the case. Claimant’s counsel has also
indicated that Employer has the ability to pay an award. Counsel’s affidavit was entered without
objection

There were three issues litigated at the hearing, whether the medical expenses sought were
reasonable, necessary and causally related to the accident, the duration of total disability benefits
if any, and a legal issue over how Claimant’s average weekly wage should be calculated Taking

into consideration the fees customarily charged in this locality for such services as were rendered
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STATEMENT OF THE DETERMINATION e

For the reasons set forth above, the Board finds the spinal cord stimulator reasonable,
necessary, and causally related. Employer will pay medical expenses associated with Claimant’s
treatment in accordance with the fee schedule set forth in title 19 section 2322B of the Delaware
Code. Employer will pay Claimant total disability benefits from January 14, 2021, through April
21, 2021, at a compensation rate of $265.22 based on an average weekly wage of $397.83.
Employer shall reimburse Claimant’s medical witness costs and pay a reasonable attorney fee of
$7000. Accordingly, Claimant’s Petition is GRANTED.
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ITIS SO ORDERED THIS ‘QL,' DAY OF MARCH 2022.
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BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT BOARD
OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

DAVID WILKES,
Employee,
V.

Hearing No. 1474362

RECOVERY INNOVATIONS, INC.,

Employer.

DECISION ON PETITION TO DETERMINE ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION DUE
Pursuant to due notice of time and place of hearing served on all parties in interest, the
above-stated cause came before the Industrial Accident Board on February 8, 2022, in the Hearing

Room of the Board, in New Castle County, Delaware.

PRESENT:
PETER HARTRANFT

VINCENT D’ANNA

Susan D. Mack, Workers’ Compensation Hearing Officer, for the Board

APPEARANCES:
Jessica L. Welch, Esquire, Attorney for the Employee

Gregory P. Skolnik, Esquire, Attorney for the Employer



NATURE AND STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

David Wilkes (“Claimant”) filed a Petition to Determine Additional Compensation Due
(“DACD”) on May 12, 2021 secking a finding that a permanent spinal cord stimulator is
reasonable, necessary, and causally related to an acknowledged, work-related accident that
occurred on March 23, 2018. The Employer, Recovery Innovations, Inc., has agreed that Claimant
injured his lumbar spine in a work-related accident and that lumbar spine surgery on February 3,
2020 was compensable. The Employer opposes the current claim for a permanent spinal cord
stimulator (“SCS”s).

A hearing was held on Claimant’s petition on February 8, 2022. This is the Board’s
decision on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The parties stipulated to the following facts: Claimant sustained a compensable work

injury to his lumbar spine on March 23, 2018. Claimant underwent compensable lumbar spine
surgery, a fusion at L.4-5 with Dr. Eskander, on February 3, 2020. Claimant also underwent a trial
spinal cord stimulator procedure on March 31, 2021. The permanent spinal cord stimulator was
installed on May 24, 2021. Claimant’s average weekly wage is $759.70 with a corresponding
compensation rate of $506.47 per week. After a hearing on July 7, 2021, the Board issued a
decision dated July 27, 2021 finding that Claimant could return to work and terminating total
disability as of the date of decision. Claimant currently receives partial disability at the rate of
$47.32 per week. The sole issue before the Board at this hearing is whether the permanent implant
of the SCS on May 24, 2021 was reasonable, necessary, and related to the work injury of March

23,2018.



Mark Eskander, M.D., an orthopedic spine surgeon, testified by deposition on behalf of

Claimant David Wilkes. (Claimant’s Exhibit 1) Dr. Eskander began treating Claimant in June
2018 and last saw Claimant on December 23, 2021. Dr. Eskander previously testified about
Claimant’s work capacity in May 2021 prior to the implantation of the permanent SCS on May 24,
2021. Dr. Eskander opined at the time that Claimant was totally disabled, in part because of the
pending SCS procedure. He had planned to order a functional capacity evaluation (FCE) after
Claimant recovered from the procedure. The FCE was done in August 2021 and Claimant was
released to medium duty work, four hours per day. Dr. Eskander has found Claimant to be a
credible and very straightforward patient. He does not know of any doctor who has noted
malingering or symptom magnification by Claimant.

When Claimant first came to Dr. Eskander in June 2018, Claimant reported that his low
back pain began on March 23, 2018 when he was restraining a patient while working as a
constable. At the June 2018 exam, Claimant’s Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) was 68 percent,
which indicates a very high degree of disability. Claimant was having symptoms in his low back
and into his lower extremities. The lower extremity symptoms were due to a neurologic component
to the injury. Claimant had numbness and pain throughout the extremities. The symptoms were
predominantly on the left side. Dr. Eskander stated that this indicated nerve compression on the
left. He confirmed that Claimant’s activities of daily living increased his pain. Dr. Eskander
testified that the goal of treatment would be to decrease the ODI score by 15 points. Patients would
typically be satisfied with this amount of improvement in disability score as a result of treatment.
Claimant’s ODI score is now 40 percent, which reflects a huge improvement in his quality of life,
even if the disability score is still relatively high. Dr. Eskander opined that it was not realistic to

think any particular procedure such as surgery or a spinal cord stimulator would improve a patient



one hundred percent. He testified that Claimant’s activities of daily living were better and his
quality of life and functionality had improved.

Dr. Eskander testified that Claimant underwent the gamut of conservative care after his
injury, including therapy, aqua therapy, numerous injections and blocks, chiropractic care, and
medication. The conservative treatment was not sufficient to resolve Claimant’s symptoms and
functional limitations. An injection in July 2018 only provided four to five hours of relief. Dr.
Rowlands performed another injection and an ablation. Steroid epidural injections would be
directed toward inflammation around a nerve and leg pain, whereas medial branch blocks and
ablations are intended to address low back pain from the facet joints. In Claimant’s case,
conservative care was done as long as possible.

Dr. Eskander confirmed that he ordered MRIs on the neck and the back. Discograms were
also done; their results correlated with the MRI findings. Claimant’s neck pain eventually resolved.
The January 2019 discogram of the lumbar spine indicated an annular tear close to the L4 nerve
root. Attempts were made to address Claimant’s symptoms with additional injections at L4-5 and
L5-S1. Ultimately, Dr. Eskander performed an L4-5 fusion procedure on February 3, 2020 to
address the compressed nerve. After the lumbar fusion surgery, Dr. Eskander kept Claimant out of
work on total disability. Dr. Eskander testified that Claimant did well after surgery and reported
some early improvement in his back pain as of February 21, 2020. However, on June 18, 2020,
Claimant reported an increase in his pain level to nine out of ten with pain through his back, his
buttock, and left leg to the foot. His ODI score was the highest it had been at 72. He was not doing
well at that time. Dr. Eskander saw him again in August 2020. Claimant reported that all activities
of daily living were causing significant pain. The surgeon evaluated Claimant to see if the hardware

could be causing the pain. An X-ray showed the hardware looked good, so Dr. Eskander prescribed



a Medrol Dosepak and instructed Claimant to return at the normal six-month visit. At that next
visit, Claimant’s ODI score was 68 and he reported significant pain. Dr. Eskander discussed a
spinal cord stimulator with Claimant and ordered an MRI to plan for the implantation procedure.
Dr. Eskander agreed that injections are sometimes done post-operatively when the patient
continues to have pain from the hardware. Dr. Eskander opined, however, that when patients
continue to have a neurological pattern to their pain, the easier way to solve the problem is to
install a spinal cord stimulator. The SCS can provide more immediate and beneficial results. He
believes that an SCS is reasonable to consider six months post-operatively. He insisted that the
medical literature and the Delaware treatment guidelines support trying an SCS six months after a
fusion surgery. He proceeded forward with that treatment for Claimant as the more likely solution
to his continued pain.

Claimant initially had a trial SCS installed by Dr. Rowlands. Claimant had a good result
from the trial. The trial allowed Dr. Rowlands to independently evaluate and discuss the utility of
the SCS with Claimant. Dr. Eskander testified that the purpose of a trial is to get the programming
correct and make sure the patient’s pain pattern is controlled by the stimulator. The trial is
performed for about a week. A fifty percent decrease in symptoms is the usual threshold for
pursuing a permanent implant after the trial, but this can vary with the individual. He explained
that for some patients, an improvement in pain is worthwhile even if their functionality does not
improve. Dr. Eskander confirmed that the guidelines require a second opinion and a psychiatric
exam as part of the process for getting a trial SCS, and this was handled by Dr. Rowlands. Dr.
Zaslavsky provided the second opinion and confirmed that the trial SCS was reasonable and
necessary treatment for Claimant. Dr. Eskander confirmed that Claimant had a pain level of 7 out

of 10 and an ODI score of 62 on November 5, 2020. This ODI continued to be quite high. Claimant



described his pain as sharp, constant, and burning, and it increased with standing and squatting,
bending, lifting, and stairs. Claimant was taking gabapentin. His pain went up for several days
after any type of increased activity. On February 4, 2021, Claimant described back pain radiating
to his left leg and a pain level of 8 out of 10. The pain was constant and woke him from sleep. He
noted tingling, stiffness, and numbness. Symptoms became aggravated with standing, squatting,
lying in bed, bending, sitting, walking, kneeling, and twisting. Rest, ice, and heat provided relief.
The defense medical evaluator, Dr. Nancy Kim, concurred that the trial stimulator was reasonable.

The trial SCS was installed on March 31, 2020. In a note dated April 7, 2021, Dr. Rowlands
indicated that Claimant was reporting his pain level decreased from a nine out of ten to a five and
his back and leg pain had improved. He noted 50 percent relief during the trial. Dr. Kim saw
Claimant on May 12, 2021 and felt that Claimant had not been very clear on how the trial helped
his ability to function. Dr. Eskander had seen and talked to Claimant after the trial SCS and he did
not know what gave Dr. Kim pause about recommending the permanent SCS implant. Dr.
Eskander testified that he had seen improvement with the trial and felt it was a standard next step
to do the permanent implant after a good trial. He did not believe getting an EMG as Dr. Kim
recommended would add much to the decision to go forward with the permanent SCS. Even if the
EMG showed irritation at L5, an SCS would still be indicated. Dr. Eskander discussed moving
forward with the stimulator several times with Claimant. He opined that the permanent SCS was
the most likely way to accomplish Claimant’s goal of regaining some normalcy in his life.

The permanent SCS was installed by Dr. Eskander on May 24, 2020. By July 15, 2021,
Claimant’s pain level had decreased to between a five and seven and his ODI was 40 percent.
Claimant also reported sleeping through the night, which Dr. Eskander felt was significant.

Claimant no longer had to use a cane. Dr. Eskander ordered an FCE at the July 15, 2021 visit due



to the improvement. An FCE is a good way to assess work and functionality. As of September 8§,
2021, Claimant had back pain but no radiating pain. His pain level was a three. His symptoms
were aggravated by bending and twisting but overall he was doing well. The neurologic exam was
normal, whereas before the SCS the examinations had shown neurological weakness. As of
December 23, 2021, the most recent visit to Dr. Eskander, Claimant reported a pain level of six
out of ten and an ODI score of 40 percent. Claimant still had some low back pain with numbness
and tingling in the left leg, but he reported that the symptoms were not as bad as before the SCS.
Claimant was engaged in a home exercise program. Dr. Eskander insisted Claimant had improved
significantly. He commented that at some visits Claimant’s left leg symptoms were almost gone
and overall they had improved markedly. Dr. Eskander testified that Claimant has reached
maximum medical improvement and is to follow up with him as needed.

Dr. Eskander opined that the permanent SCS had provided a good outcome for Claimant.
Claimant was very happy with the results. Dr. Eskander does not believe it would be in Claimant’s
best interests to return to work as a constable at this point, because of the risk involved with the
need to restrain people. Claimant’s previous job was not consistent with the results of the FCE,
either. Claimant told the FCE examiner in August 2021 that he was getting 75 percent relief from
the permanent SCS and at times his pain was down to zero. His left lower extremity pain had
completely resolved and he had normal neurological function and strength. Dr. Eskander had no
doubt that the SCS was part of the reason Claimant was able to perform medium duty work now,
as the FCE had found. He called the SCS a “game changer” for Claimant. Dr. Eskander reviewed
the section of the chronic pain treatment guidelines that covers spinal cord stimulators. The patient
must have failed conservative treatment, have a chronic pain condition after surgery, undergo a

psychiatric evaluation, and get a second opinion. Dr. Eskander confirmed that he had complied



with every item in the guidelines prior to proceeding with the permanent SCS. He emphasized that
the trial provided good coverage for the pain and reduced the pain by fifty percent by Claimant’s
reporting and on the visual analog scale. He opined that the SCS provided Claimant with the most
likely chance of a permanent reduction in his symptoms going forward and a return to being a
productive member of society.

On cross-examination, Dr. Eskander confirmed that Claimant was out of work after the
fusion surgery. He was asked to review Dr. Crain’s DME report from October 7, 2020. Claimant
told Dr. Crain that he was recovering and getting better. He still experienced soreness in the low
back at times during the day but was better post-surgery. His ability to perform ADLs had
improved. The severe pain into the left leg had nearly resolved but he still had pain radiating into
the hip. Dr. Rubano did not believe Claimant had major hip problems. The hip symptoms had
resolved. Claimant was not taking any medication. He used a heating pad and an ice pack from
time to time. He was not working and had not been released to work in any capacity by Dr.
Eskander. After completing formal physical therapy, Claimant was doing home exercises.
Claimant thought he could do more but expressed fear that if he did too much he could be caught
on videotape. Claimant told Dr. Crain that he had discussed a possible SCS with Dr. Eskander for
his residual pain symptoms. At that time he was not interested in getting the SCS if he was able to
avoid it. Dr. Crain concluded in his report that Claimant was capable of at least medium duty work.
Dr. Crain had testified on the issue of work capability for a previous hearing. Dr. Eskander also
testified by deposition on the subject. Dr. Eskander had seen Claimant on November 5, 2020 and
instructed him to remain out of work. Dr. Eskander acknowledged that the Board accepted Dr.

Crain’s opinion about Claimant’s work capabilities at that time.



Dr. Eskander was asked to review Dr. Rowlands’ note dated April 7, 2021. This was the
visit after the trial was completed. Claimant reported a pain level of five out of ten. The ODI noted
in the report was referring to the ODI of 62 on February 4, 2021. An ODI of 60 was also noted
without a date. Dr. Eskander believes these were referring to past scores and were not the current
ODI. Dr. Rowlands noted that Claimant uses marijuana. Dr. Eskander does not know if Claimant
has a marijuana card. When Claimant saw Dr. Eskander on May 13, 2021, he did not have any
leads in his back anymore. The ODI on that date was 56 percent. An earlier ODI of 68 was carried
over from June 2018 in the note. Claimant did not have any positive neurologic findings on May
13, 2021. Dr. Eskander confirmed that the neurological exams by Dr. Rowlands on February 22,
2021 and April 7, 2021 were also normal. Dr. Eskander did not make any positive neurological
findings on February 4, 2021 either. Neurologic exams by Dr. Crain on October 7, 2020 and by
Dr. Eskander on November 5, 2020 were normal.

Dr. Eskander was aware that Dr. Kim had recommended EMGs and transforaminal
epidural injections instead of the permanent SCS. He felt that Dr. Kim’s treatment plan would
cause unnecessary cost and frustration if the SCS would solve the problem. He acknowledged that
a permanent SCS was more expensive than an EMG and a transforaminal injection, but he pointed
out that the SCS would solve the problem more permanently.

On re-direct, Dr. Eskander confirmed his opinion that Claimant was totally disabled until
he recovered from the SCS installation. He ordered an FCE at the July 15, 2021 visit and it was
done at the end of August 2021. When he had the objective evidence from the FCE about what
Claimant could and could not do, Dr. Eskander released Claimant to parttime, medium duty work.
Dr. Eskander explained that he relies on FCEs to assess a patient’s functionality because they

provide more in-depth information. Dr. Eskander saw Claimant on November 5, 2020 and at the



time Claimant was still having significant symptoms. Claimant’s ODI score was 62 and his pain
level was a seven out of ten. He was having significant issues with his ADLs and function. Dr.
Eskander further explained that a neurological finding on physical examination was different than
a patient experiencing neurological trouble. Claimant had had consistent left leg pain since his
injury. Early on, Claimant’s neurological issues were so significant that they could be tested and
identified during physical examination. After the fusion, Claimant’s condition stabilized
somewhat. Claimant still had radicular complaints and the sensation that the nerve was not
functioning well, but evidence of the nerve problem was no longer found on physical examination.

Dr. Eskander reviewed Dr. Kim’s initial report dated May 12, 2021. On exam, Dr. Kim
performed a straight leg raise test and this increased Claimant’s pain radiating down his low back
and left leg in both the seated and supine positions. Dr. Eskander noted that this was a positive
exam finding for nerve irritation. Dr. Kim performed a physical exam again on August 9, 2021
after the installation of the permanent SCS. The straight leg raise test was negative at that visit.
Dr. Eskander testified that this showed the stimulator had improved some of the radicular pain.
Dr. Eskander also reviewed the results of two epidural injections performed by Dr. Rowlands in
November 2019. Claimant only received about two months of relief from the injections. Dr.
Eskander commented that it was not reasonable to think that more injections would solve
Claimant’s problem or improve his quality of life.

Claimant David L. Wilkes testified that he is 60 years old and is married with adult

children. He attended college for a year and served in the military for three years. He worked for
Recovery Innovations as a constable. His job was physical in nature because he needed to restrain
patients. He was able to work fulltime, full duty prior to the work accident. After his injury, Dr.

Ginsberg provided him with injections to his back but they provided only short term relief.
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Claimant described the installation of the spinal cord stimulator as changing everything about his
life. Before the SCS, he had constant pain that fluctuated in level. Activities such as walking the
dog or walking up and down stairs increased his pain. After the SCS, he is now able to increase
his activity level without also increasing his pain level. As an example of his improvement, he
cited a trip to Atlantic City in November 2021 where he could walk on the boardwalk for a couple
of hours without worsening symptoms. He did not need to use a cane. The drive to Atlantic City
caused a pain increase, but Claimant was able to turn up the SCS to relieve the pain. He described
the SCS as providing relief similar to a TENS machine that is inside his body. He gets relief after
about 15 to 20 minutes. Claimant was able to cook dinner for his wife on the vacation to Atlantic
City, which was a change from before the stimulator. Claimant further testified that he was able to
tolerate increased symptoms during the FCE in August 2021. The test lasted four hours. Dr.
Eskander told him that he could work parttime. Claimant is looking for a parttime job and thinking
about taking training classes in cyber-security. He is receiving social security but can work
parttime.

Claimant testified that, eight months after getting the permanent SCS, his pain levels in the
low back vary from no pain at all to as high as a five. He does not have leg pain. He does not
experience increased symptoms to the same degree as he got before the SCS. Claimant tries not to
take medication but has taken Tramadol, a muscle relaxer, and anti-inflammatories in the past. The
medications only helped shortterm. He uses CBD oil sometimes, but not medical marijuana. He
no longer uses a cane. He needed to use a cane constantly before the fusion surgery, and he
occasionally used the cane after the fusion. Since the permanent SCS was installed, he has not
needed the cane. Claimant has been pushing himself to do more physically. He is thinking about

trying to bowl again, an activity he did three to four times a week before his injury. His goal is to
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join the senior pro tour. He also played golf once or twice a week before he was injured. He has
not played since the injury. He doubts he could play golf again because of the twisting required.
Claimant has lost 70 pounds since August 2021 because he is able to exercise more. Since the SCS
was installed, he has been able to sleep through the night, whereas before the SCS he could not.
The SCS has also resulted in improved relationships with his wife and family because he is feeling
much better. He uses the treadmill every day now.

Claimant confirmed that he got some relief after the fusion surgery. His pain level was six
or higher in the fall of 2020. He thought about the SCS for a while before agreeing to try it. He
understood the risks, and he underwent a psychiatric evaluation and got a second opinion before
proceeding with the trial. The trial SCS lasted for a week. Representatives from the SCS company
worked with him and adjusted the SCS to give him the best relief. The permanent SCS was
installed on May 24, 2021. The company representatives were present. Claimant still can follow
up with the representatives any time if he needs adjustments in the stimulator. He first noticed pain
relief during the second week after the permanent SCS was implanted. Claimant recalled telling
Dr. Kim in August 2021 that the SCS had given him 50 percent relief. He now estimates 90 percent
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